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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS, INVESTORS AND PARTNE
BRR REERGEBHN—HE

Dear Shareholders, investors and partners,

Time flies swiftly. Since our listing in 2011, we have weathered together
through trials and triumphs on the 13 years’ journey. Along this path, we
have celebrated milestones and endured rigorous tests. Market fluctuations,
strategic adjustments, industry competition...... Each challenge has enhanced
our vigilance, and every lesson learned has become a stepping stone for
progress. We hereby express our deepest gratitude for your unwavering trust
and support.

In 2024, we witnessed complex and volatile global economic environment,
intensified stratification in consumer markets and elevated supply chain
costs. Despite significant external pressures, the Group stabilized its core
business operations through the extraordinary efforts of all our employees
and the generous support of our Shareholders, investors and partners. We
expanded our business into new direction of development, and developed new
methodologies that suit our characteristic development.

Deeply ploughing for 13 years and adhering to initial objectives

Rooted in Tibet for twenty years, we are acutely aware that true value lies
not only in our world-class water sources, but more fundamentally in our
unwavering commitment to quality and reverence for the ecosystem. In recent
years, we have paid our dues and missed opportunities. Nonetheless, these
experiences have ultimately helped us to sharpen our vision, summarize and
elevate our capabilities.

The year 2025: breaking through adversity and restoring confidence
In the coming year, we will drive transformation through three core strategies:

1. Focusing on core consumer segments: leveraging the foundation
of premium water sources in Tibet, adhering to our high-end brand
positioning and enhancing brand penetration through accurate
marketing and innovative channels, with the aim to bring more
consumers firsthand experience of exceptional quality of “5100";
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2. Rigorous cost control and innovation: optimizing the entire production
process, rigorously controlling cost; introducing new products such as
portable and family-size packaging to meet diverse needs, and making
"excellent price per quality ratio” core competitiveness;

3. Responsibility-driven growth: integrating ESG with the core of strategy,
and implementing measures such as water-conservation technologies
and low-carbon packaging to realize win-win of ecological preservation
and commercial value.

We are acutely aware that the Company’s current share price has not fully
reflected its intrinsic value. However, we assure you that the management
team stands united, with every employee driving transformation with great
determination. In 2025, we will deliver tangible results to reward your trust and
rebuild market confidence.

Finally, we salute again to everyone who walks this path with us. There may
still be challenges on the road ahead, but we firmly believe in our conviction:

adhere to our initial objectives, and dawn will break.

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-BLFE

2024 2023 Change
ZECINE —E-=F &
(RMB’000) (RMB'000) %
(AR¥TRx) (ARETRT)
Revenue LN 225,811 314,428 | 28.2%
Operating loss rREEE (89,020) (83,387) 1 6.8%
Loss for the year attributable to ERREBEAEBIEFEBE (573,947) (352,867) 162.7%
owners of the Company
Loss per share BRESE
— Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —ERANEE(ARED) (12.92) (8.97) I 44.0%
Gross profit margin EREX 27.1% 24.7% [ 2.4% point
B
As at 31 December
R+=ZA=+-—-A8
2024 2023
—EomE —T_=F
(RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(AR¥TR) (ARBFT)
Total assets BERR 3,507,498 3,985,556
Equity attributable to owners of the ARRIHE AEGER
Company 2,379,960 2,855,761
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f%f“/c/FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND FIVE-YEAR FINANCAL SUMMARY

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t-HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“E-E —E-=f —ZT-Z —E-—-F —ET-FTEF
PROFITABILITY DATA (RMB million)  ZFEE(AREEET)
Revenue WA 226 314 312 456 493
Gross profit EM 61 78 91 191 215
Operating (loss)/profit me(BRr) /FE (89) (83) (84) 37 81
(Loss)/profit for the year £E (B18) /FE (574) (353) (102) 47 17
PROFITABILITY DATA (%) BHEIE (%)
Gross profit margin = 27.1% 24.7% 29.1% 41.9% 43.6%
Operating profit margin RENER NAFRER NATER NATER 8.2% 16.4%
Net profit margin FREE NATER NATER NATER 10.3% 3.4%
Return on total shareholders’ equity ~ AR BEBEH{E NAFRER NATER NATER 1.7% 0.6%
ASSET AND LIABILITY DATA BEERAGEHE
(RMB million) (AREFHETT)
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,826 2,329 2,605 2,631 2,115
Current assets MBEE 1,682 1,657 1,535 1,518 2,037
Current liabilities mBEE 1,083 1,061 954 929 1,280
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 45 69 327 389 150
Equity attributable to owners of the ~ AR AR AEL#ER
Company 2,380 2,856 2,859 2,831 2,722
ASSET AND WORKING FEREEERHE
CAPITAL DATA
Current assets ratios MBEEL X 48.0% 41.6% 37.1% 36.6% 49.1%
Gearing ratios BREELER 21.59% 20.9% 21.1% 21.3% 25.1%
Note: B3E

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the Group continued to be committed to the development of the
water resources industry and the beer industry in Tibet, striving to enhance
the user experience and optimize channel expansion, so as to enable Tibet's
distinctive and premium products to reach more consumers and potential
consumers.

In 2024, China’s economy continued to operate in a stable mode, and the
overall performance of consumption was relatively weak. The foundation
for the recovery of the consumer market still needs to be consolidated and
consumer confidence needs to be further boosted, with consumers’ attitude
towards consumption becoming more prudent and rational. The domestic
packaged drinking water market was in keen competition, but the Group's
packaged drinking water products are still focusing on the expansion of special
channels, including sales growth in auto services, airlines and railway channels
while sales in the cinema chain and Hong Kong market decreased. The overall
sales volume of the water business increased by 6.8% year-on-year, while its
revenue increased by 1% year-on-year. Against the backdrop of the overall
decline in sales volume in the beer industry and shrinking market demand, the
Group's beer business was affected by the interplay of the increasing market
competition in Tibet and slow market expansion outside Tibet, resulting in a
year-on-year decrease in sales volume of 35.4% and revenue of 38.5%.

In 2024, the scale of the Group’s bank financing in Tibet slightly decreased. The
Group also actively utilized and leveraged on the advantages of the offshore
financing platform of a listed company and successfully completed an equity
financing in early 2024, and successfully completed two convertible bond issues
in January and March 2025, which provided strong support for stabilizing
the Group's business operations. The investors of the Company have fully
demonstrated their recognition of and confidence in the future development
of the Group through their active participation in financing activities and
actual investment. The management of the Group has always firmly believed
in focusing on the return to the products as the cornerstone, the enhancement
of customer experience as the goal, the deep ploughing of brand value as the
guide, and the maximization of shareholders’ returns as the core, so as to focus
on the strengths of the Group and strive for the future.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE ANALYSIS

In 2024, due to the reasons mentioned in the “Business Review"” section above,
the total revenue of the Group amounted to RMB226 million, representing a
decrease of 28.2% in comparison with 2023.

The revenue generated from our water business segment was RMB88 million,
representing an increase of 1% in comparison with 2023.

For the beer business segment, the year over year change is as follow:

& — g

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSI\S\"”\

MEEJE nTnH‘l& *ﬁ'

B E R
LN

E-Z-NF mR Ll [EBOE]Z5
REMNEZ AEEMNRBRRKRAEAEARE
226 HHEZEZ=FTKT282% -

IKEBD WA A ARESL0E T 18
B =FEHT 1%

EREBEERSE - B mT

2024 2023 % change
—E-mE —T-o=F o
Volume (hectoliter) HE(EM) 192,546 298,196 1 35.4%
Revenue (RMB’000) WA (ARETFIT) 137,331 223,169 1 38.5%
Adjusted EBITDA* (RMB'000) TR bR BT E KB A A
(AR®ETF ) 44,950 58,523 123.19%

* Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure under IFRS which should be read in * REERBTITE RS I;F@Bﬁﬁj

conjunction with Note 6(b). BRELENE IO REIE - FHEME

In 2024, the overall gross profit margin of the Group was 27.1%, which
increased by 2.4 percentage points when compared to 2023. The gross profit
margin of the water business segment was 17.4%, which increased by 7.1
percentage points when compared to 2023, mainly due to the decrease in
raw material costs. The gross profit margin of the beer business segment was
32.8% in 2024, which increased by 3.9 percentage points when compared
to 2023. The increase in gross profit was mainly due to the decrease in
depreciation expenses of production equipment.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In 2024, the selling and distribution costs increased by 25.4% to RMB63 million
from RMB50 million in 2023, mainly due to the increase in marketing and
promotion expenses due to market competition and the market expansion of
the water business. The administrative expenses decreased by 13.7% to RMB77
million from RMB89 million in 2023. This is mainly due to the reduction in staff
cost and special service fees.

6(b) —AERIFE °

EZT-_mNE A5EENEBEBENXRA
271% BT =FHL EAT24EH
DB KEBDBHENER17.4% - &
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ALLOWANCE FOR ECL ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

Allowance for ECL on financial assets mainly included the allowance for ECL on
trade receivables, the allowance for ECL on other financial assets at amortised
cost and the reversal of allowance for ECL of loan receivables. The allowance
for ECL on financial assets was RMB48 million in 2024 (2023: RMB37 million).
The allowance for ECL on trade receivables was RMB43 million in 2024 (2023:
RMB24 million). The allowance for ECL on other financial assets at amortised
cost was approximately RMB6 million in 2024 (2023: RMB12 million). The
reversal of allowance for ECL on loan receivables was RMB1 million in 2024
(2023: allowance of RMB1 million). The increase in allowance is due to a higher
proportion of allowances being made for trade receivables with a longer aging
period and no subsequent business.

OTHER GAINS, NET

In 2024, other gains, net was RMB37 million (2023: RMB15 million), which
mainly included the government grants of RMB18 million (2023: RMB13
million) and the gain on disposal of a subsidiary was RMB17 million (2023:
nil). The disposal was made due to a strategic consideration of the Group's
development. Please refer to Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements of
this report for details.

FINANCE COSTS, NET

In 2024, the Group incurred finance costs of RMB44 million and gained finance
income of RMB31 million. The increase in finance costs of RMB3 million was
mainly due to the increase in foreign exchange losses. Compared with 2023,
finance income decreased by RMB6 million, mainly due to decrease in interest
received from loan to third parties in 2024.
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SHARE OF LOSS ON INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY
METHOD

In 2024, the share of loss on investments accounted for using the equity
method was RMBS8 million (2023: the share of loss on investments accounted
for using the equity method was RMB260,000). The increase in share of loss
was mainly due to the fact that the consolidated share of losses of associated
companies increased.

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

The impairment loss on investment accounted for using the equity method
related to the Group’s investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu and Highland
Natural Water. The impairment loss is made based on the results of the
impairment test in accordance with IAS 36. The management of the Group
has reviewed the key parameters relevant to the impairment test of the
investment and made amendments to those parameters, if necessary, so as to
reflect the market best estimate for the development of Shannan Yalaxiangbu
and Highland Natural Water in the future. Recently, the management has
noticed that the general economic growth of the PRC slowed down and the
competition in the overall fast consumer goods industry was intensifying,
which had significant adverse impact on the production and sales of Shannan
Yalaxiangbu and Highland Natural Water in 2024. As a result, compared with
the operation forecast made as at the time of acquisition by the Group, the
expected growth trend of Shannan Yalaxiangbu and Highland Natural Water
showed fluctuations in varying degrees. Given the unclear development trend
in the future and the existence of various uncertainties, the management
made amendments to the key parameters in the impairment analysis of
the investment in a prudent manner in accordance with IAS 36, hence an
impairment loss on the investment of RMB295 million and RMB168 million
were recognised accordingly. It is a one-off non-cash item and has no impact
on the Group's daily operation and cash flow.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

In 2024, the income tax expense was RMB1.5 million which decreased by
RMB4.5 million when compared to RMB6 million in 2023. The decrease was
primarily due to the decrease in profit before tax in the beer business segment
and effect of changes in deferred tax.
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LOSS FOR THE YEAR

For the reasons mentioned above, in 2024, the loss for the year was RMB574
million compared to the loss of RMB353 million in 2023.

OTHER FINANCIAL POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2024, investments accounted for using the equity method
of the Group amounted to RMB742 million compared to RMB1,216 million as
at 31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly because in 2024, the Group
recognised the impairment loss on investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu and
Highland Natural Water of RMB295 million and RMB168 million, respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, inventories of the Group amounted to RMB72 million
compared to RMB119 million as at 31 December 2023. The decrease was
mainly attributable to a decrease in raw material inventories.

As at 31 December 2024, net trade receivables of the Group amounted to
RMB134 million, representing a decrease compared to RMB182 million as at
31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the increase in allowance
of ECL on trade receivables. The Group maintained regular contact with our
major debtors through meetings and telephone conversations and paid regular
attention to public information about our major debtors to understand the
status of their operations, their continuing business needs, and the ways in
which the Group can improve its services.

As at 31 December 2024, the loan receivables of the Group were RMB2 million
compared to RMB75 million as at 31 December 2023. The balance as at 31
December 2023 included loan to third parties with relevant license in Hong
Kong. The balance of loan receivables of 2023 was fully settled in March 2024.
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As at 31 December 2024, prepayments (current portion) of the Group
amounted to RMB188 million, representing a decrease compared to RMB252
million as at 31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease
in prepayment for purchasing raw materials.

As at 31 December 2024, other financial assets at amortised cost, net of
allowance for ECL of the Group amounted to RMB1,164 million compared to
RMB1,007 million as at 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2024, other
financial assets at amortised cost mainly included the amounts due from third
parties amounting to RMB1,006 million. As at 31 December 2024, allowance
for ECL on other financial assets at amortised cost amounted to RMB47 million.

As at 31 December 2024, contract liabilities of the Group amounted to
RMB123 million compared to RMB17 million as at 31 December 2023. The
increase was mainly due to the increase in advances received from customers
of the sales of water and beer products.

As at 31 December 2024, accruals and other payables of the Group amounted
to RMB217 million compared to RMB161 million as at 31 December 2023.
As at 31 December 2024, accruals and other payables mainly included salary
payables and welfare payables amounting to RMB26 million, amounts received
from a third party and borrowings from third parties amounting to RMB69
million, advance payments received for 2025 Convertible Bonds | of RMB86
million and other payables amounting to RMB36 million.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank and other borrowings included
bank borrowings of RMB394 million and other borrowings of RMB216 million.
Compared with 31 December 2023, bank borrowings decreased by RMB33
million, which was mainly because of the net repayment of principal of bank
borrowings in 2024. Other borrowings represent the principal amount of
borrowings of balances of two issues of convertible bonds due in 2024 rolled
over as a short-term borrowing arrangement.

As at 31 December 2024, the liability component of the convertible bonds
issued by the Company was nil, compared to RMB321 million as at 31
December 2023. In June 2024, the Company issued the New Convertible Bonds
with principal amount of approximately HKD90 million (equivalent to RMB82
million) bearing interest at the rate of 10% per annum. After the maturity date,
the balance of the New Convertible Bonds was rolled over into a short-term
borrowing arrangement. Further details of the convertible bonds are set out in
Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements of this report.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of employees of the Group was 342
compared to 368 as at 31 December 2023. Relevant staff cost of the Group
was RMB73 million in 2024 (2023: RMB77 million).

The Group's remuneration policies are formulated according to the duty,
experience, ability and performance of individual employees and are reviewed
annually. In addition to basic salary, employees are entitled to other benefits
including social insurance contribution, employee provident fund schemes and
discretionary incentive. Other fringe benefits, training, and share options, if
applicable, are also considered by the Group to solicit/retain loyal employees
with the aim of forming a professional and united staff and management team
that can bring the Group to higher levels of achievements.

The Company adopted a share award scheme in 2017. Up to 31 December

2024, no share has been granted by the Group to any parties under the share
award scheme.
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The Company adopted a new share option scheme in 2023. Up to 31
December 2024, no share option has been granted by the Company under the
share option scheme.

Subsequent to the year end, on 14 April 2025, the Company granted share
options to directors, employees and distributors of the Group to subscribe for
up to a total of 407,918,800 ordinary shares of the Company under the share
option scheme, subject to acceptances by the grantees. For details, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 14 April 2025 and 15 April 2025.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is calculated as borrowings (including bank borrowings,
liability component of convertible bonds and borrowings from third parties)
divided by total capital. The total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown
in the consolidated statement of financial position plus borrowings (including
bank borrowings, liability component of convertible bonds and borrowings
from third parties). As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the
gearing ratios of the Group were 21.59% and 20.94%, respectively.

MERGER AND ACQUISITION

There was no merger and acquisition transaction in 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

In 2024, the Group acquired PP&E of RMB12 million (2023: RMB14 million).
Regarding the future development and outlook of the Group, please refer to
the section headed “Outlook” in this “Management Discussion and Analysis”
section.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had committed to purchasing PP&E and
related projects of approximately RMB10 million (31 December 2023: RMB14
million). The funding sources related to these commitments are expected to be
disbursed from the Group's own capital.
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CHARGES (OR PLEDGES)

As at 31 December 2024, (i) a bank loan with a remaining balance of RMB150
million of the Group was secured by the pledge of 35% of equity interest in
Tibet Tiandi Green Beverage Development Co., Ltd., 7% of equity interest
in Highland Natural Water, and mineral water mining rights of the Group in
Dangxiong; (ii) a bank loan with a remaining balance of RMB95 million of
the Group was secured by the pledge of 25% of equity interest in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu; (i) a bank loan with a remaining balance of RMB73 million of
the Group was secured by the Group's factory plant with net book value of
RMB44 million and land use rights with net book value of RMB24 million; and
(iv) a bank loan with a remaining balance of RMB36 million of the Group was
secured by three production lines of the Group’s factory plant with net book
value of RMB35 million.

As at 31 December 2024, the bank acceptance notes amounting to RMB103
million were guaranteed by bank deposits of RMB10 million.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided financial guarantee net amounting to RMB230 million (31
December 2023: RMB245 million) to an associate as at 31 December 2024.
As at 31 December 2024, the guarantee was provided for bank borrowings
obtained by the associate in the net amount of RMB230 million, in which
a loan of RMB10 million was secured by a pledge of 10% equity interest in
Highland Natural Water held by Tibet Glacier Mineral Water Co., Ltd.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group adopts a conservative approach to cash management and risk
control. The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of its business
transactions denominated in RMB. However, the Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from its cash exchange transactions, which are primarily
denominated in HKD. To mitigate the impact of exchange rate fluctuations, the
Group continually assesses and monitors its exposure to foreign exchange risk.
During 2024, the management of the Group did not consider it necessary to
enter into any hedging transactions to reduce the exposure to foreign exchange
risk because the exposure, after netting off the assets and liabilities subject to
foreign exchange risk, was not significant.

PRODUCTION CAPACITY

In 2024, the annual water production capacity and annual beer production
capacity are approximately 300,000 tonnes and 2,000,000 hectoliters
respectively, same as in 2023. The Group will assess its production capacity
periodically and consider increasing production capacity to meet the demands
of future development.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted internal control measures to monitor the continuous
compliance with relevant laws and regulations such as the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), the SFO, the Listing Rules and other rules and regulations
implemented in relevant jurisdictions. Also, as the Group’s major subsidiaries
are located in the PRC, relevant regulatory requirements on the Group include
PRC government policies and regulations towards the mineral water industry,
PRC laws and regulations on environmental protection, PRC laws on regulation
of manufacture and sales of general food products, PRC taxes, regulation of
foreign currency exchange and dividend distribution, and other relevant PRC
laws and regulations. During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, as
far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in all material respects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Group. The Group continues its commitment to comply
with the relevant laws and regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

In order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have established
a "water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers around our water source.
No human activities are allowed in the most restricted zone and the spring
source has been secured in a fully enclosed facility to prevent any potential
contamination.

Our production facility generates and/or discharges wastes including waste
water, plastics, papers or air pollutants during the production activities. We
consider the protection of the environment to be of utmost importance and
have implemented procedures for waste storage, handling and/or disposal. The
Group aims to minimise the impact of our activities on the environment and
requires our staff to follow the same principle. We adhere to the principles of
low carbon emission, waste and emission reduction, energy and cost saving
and an overall environmentally friendly approach in the way we operate.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Board believes in being people-oriented. The employees of the Group are
one of the most important assets of the Group and their contribution and
support are highly valued. The Group ensures staff are reasonably remunerated
with regular reviews on compensations and benefits policies in accordance with
the industry benchmark as well as the individual performance of the employees.
Other fringe benefits, training, employee provident fund and share options, if
applicable, are provided by the Group to solicit/retain loyal employees with the
aim of forming a professional and united staff and management team that can
bring the Group to higher levels of achievements.

The Group seeks to maintain good relationship with its customers. The Group
maintains an after-sales call center to serve the end customers of our products,
and the sales personnel make regular visits and/or phone calls to the regular
distributors and sales outlets in the market. If there is any complaint from
customers, it will be reported to the management and immediate remedial
action will be taken. Thereafter, the cause of such complaint will be studied,
analysed and evaluated, and recommendations will be made for future
improvement.

The Group also seeks to maintain good relationship with its suppliers. During
the year, there was no dispute in debts or unsettled debts. In addition,
whenever the Group places orders, our suppliers are willing to accept our
orders.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board is aware that the Group is exposed to various risks, including some
which are specific to the Group or the industry in which the Group operates as
well as others that are common to most businesses. The Board has established
a procedure to ensure that significant risks which may adversely affect the
Group's performance and ability to deliver on its strategies, or those which
may present positive opportunities, are identified, reported, monitored and
managed on a continuous basis.

1. Risks relating to our industry

The Group could be affected by change in consumer preferences,
perception and spending patterns relating to bottled water and beer,
particularly premium bottled water and premium beer. The growth in
demand for bottled water products and beer products in the PRC has
been driven in part by the overall growth in the PRC economy and
disposable income of consumers. Any macroeconomic changes in the
PRC that adversely affect consumer consumption for the beverage
products could have a material adverse effect on our business and result
in a decline in the market share of our products.

The Group faces increasing competition from domestic and foreign
companies, which may affect our market share and profit margin. The
bottled water and beer industry in China is highly competitive, and we
expect competition to intensify. Our ability to compete is, to a significant
extent, dependent on our ability to distinguish our product from those
of our competitors by providing higher quality products and services
at reasonable prices that appeal to consumers’ tastes and preferences.
Some of our competitors may have longer operating histories, may have
substantially greater financial and other resources and may be better
established in certain markets.

2. Risks relating to our business

Our reliance on limited water source represents a risk to our business
if the mineral content and quality of the spring water from that source
are adversely affected due to changes in the surrounding geological
environment or contamination of the water source. In order to maintain
the quality and safety of our products, we have established a “water
protection zone” of 60 square kilometers around our water source and
also adhere to a strict quality control system over all our operations.
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As a premium product provider, we rely heavily on the product’s brand
names and our reputation to boost sales. Any event that generates
negative publicity for us could have an adverse effect on the product's
brand names and our reputation, which in turn would affect our ability
to market and sell our products.

Our water products are bottled at water sources in Tibet, and our beer
products are also manufactured in Tibet. Our business may be interrupted
or otherwise affected if relevant transportation is affected, thus resulting
in negative impact on our ability to transport adequate raw materials
to our production facilities and the transportation of our products from
Tibet.

3. Financial risks
The Group's activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.
Details are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM PLACING OF NEW SHARES

On 21 February 2024, the Company completed the placing of new shares under
general mandate. A total of 500,000,000 placing shares have been successfully
placed to not less than six placees at the placing price of HK$0.218 per placing
share. The use of net proceeds for this placing is for partial redemption of the
2021 Convertible Bonds and for general working capital of the Group. Further
details were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 21 February
2024. As at 31 December 2024, the net proceeds of approximately HKD106
million had been fully utilized according to the intended use.

FINAL DIVIDEND

No dividend has been declared by the Company in respect of 2024 (2023: nil).
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OUTLOOK

Deeply ploughing in Tibet and laying out in national market

The Group’s quality natural mineral water and natural water resources
in Tibet that are available for exploitation and use on a large scale are a
solid cornerstone for our future development. The Group will develop the
Tibet-based market, while developing distributor network in 33 provinces,
autonomous regions and municipalities throughout the country and
continuously enhancing product exposure and brand awareness, with the aim
to attract more consumers to pay attention to and purchase our products.

Product innovation and cost control

The Group will continue to adhere to the strategic position which takes the
“5100" brand as the core, through enriching the product range, optimizing the
production process, improving the quality of service and controlling production
costs, in order to provide a wider range of consumers with choices of high-
quality mineral water and other products which are better value for money.

Optimizing channel layout

The Group will strive to increase its market share by deepening the coverage
of omni-channel network, facilitating the integrated synergies among online
and offline businesses, seeking breakthroughs in high-end and niche markets,
and strengthening the empowerment and synergic coordination of strategic
resources.

Corporate social responsibility

The Group will continue to improve its social responsibility management system,
promote the deep integration between ESG philosophy and business, strive to
gain shareholders’ trust, employee recognition and achieve development goals
that are recognized by society. The Group will make greater contribution to
economic prosperity, ecological harmony and livelihood improvement.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Please refer to Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements of this report
for the events after the reporting period.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. CHOW Wai Kit, aged 57, is an executive Director, the company secretary
and authorised representative of the Company and was appointed to the Board
with effect from 1 January 2022. Mr. Chow is a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He joined the Group in February
2011. Mr. Chow also serves as a director and company secretary of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Before joining the Group, Mr. Chow accumulated extensive experience
in corporate management, corporate finance, financial management and
accounting. Mr. Chow began his career in the auditing profession and worked
at an international accounting firm and was a key financial officer of various
listed companies.

Mr. Chow is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He is also a fellow of
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute. Mr. Chow obtained a master degree in finance from the Royal
Melbourne Institute of Technology University.

Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing (former name: CHENG Henry Ming Chun), aged 48,
is an executive Director and was appointed to the Board on 25 May 2022.
Mr. Cheng is the chairman of the Risk Management Committee.
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He is responsible for overseeing the business development and merger and
acquisition affairs, and legal and compliance matters of the Group. Mr. Cheng
has extensive experience in the areas of e-commerce, real estate, consumer
goods, investments, corporate finance and merger and acquisition transactions
and legal and compliance matters. Mr. Cheng was a senior legal counsel in
Alibaba Inc. responsible for the legal and compliance aspects of AliExpress, the
international e-commerce platform of Alibaba. He was also a corporate finance
partner of Kirkland & Ellis and DLA Piper. He accumulated extensive experience
in advising various parties on initial public offerings, corporate restructuring
and mergers and acquisitions during his time as a corporate finance partner in
these international law firms since 2013. Mr. Cheng holds a bachelor’s degree
in Mechanical Engineering and a bachelor’s degree in Commerce from The
University of Western Australia. He holds a Postgraduate Diploma in Law from
The College of Law of England and Wales and a Postgraduate Certificate in
Laws from The University of Hong Kong. He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong.

Mr. YUE Zhigiang, aged 60, was an executive Director from 1 March 2011 to
30 June 2021 and has been re-appointed as an executive Director with effect
from 21 July 2023. Mr. Yue has over 30 years of experience in mechanical
engineering and manufacturing plant operation, and was the chairman of Tibet
Glacier Mineral Water Co., Ltd., a major subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Yue
studied machinery production at Shandong University of Technology (1L & T
¥ KX 2) (now combined into Shandong University (1L 3 X £)) and obtained
a bachelor’s degree. Mr. Yue also serves as a director of a subsidiary and an
associated company of the Company.

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong, aged 67, is a non-executive Director and was appointed
to the Board on 1 March 2011. Ms. Jiang is also the legal representative of
Tibet Glacier Mineral Water Co., Ltd., a major subsidiary of the Company, and
is responsible for the operation, quality control, equipment and production site
management. She has over 31 years of experience in operational management.
She graduated from Xinjiang Vocational University (788 T KX £) with a
diploma in Economic Management, then from Jiangnan University (;T & AZ2)
(formerly known as Wuxi University of Light Industry (£ 5 & T X £)) with a
diploma of Brewery Engineering, and from Xinjiang University (¥758 X 2) with
a diploma of Analytical Chemistry.
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Mr. XIE Kun, aged 46, is a non-executive Director and was appointed to the
Board with effect from 1 January 2022. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in
economics from Chongqing College of Commerce* (& & & 2 §7) (currently
known as Chongging Technology and Business University) in 2000, and a
master’s degree in law from East China College of Political Science and Law* (ZE
RBUEEBR) (currently known as East China University of Political Science and
Law) in 2003.

Mr. Xie has served as the secretary of the party committee and the chairman
of Hongyuan Futures Co., Ltd.* (ZJR#I & B R 2 7)) since April 2024 and
June 2024, respectively. He has served as a director of Xinjiang Tianshan
Industrial Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (B RILEZRERE S
E BB A]) (which has an interest in the shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance), since June 2020. Prior to this, Mr. Xie worked in the
legal affairs department of the Shanghai management headquarter of Hengtai
Securities Limited* (18 % & % & R & {£ 2 &) from January 2004 to May
2007. He had served at different positions ranging from senior manager of
the risk management department, senior manager of the legal and compliance
department, assistant to general manager of legal and compliance headquarter
to deputy general manager of the legal and compliance department of
Hongyuan Securities Co., Ltd.* (7 JR & 7 i {9 B & 2 &) from May 2007 to
May 2015. Mr. Xie had also served as an employee representative supervisor
of Shenwan Hongyuan Group Co., Ltd. from May 2015 to May 2021, and the
general manager of the legal and risk control department of that company from
May 2015 to February 2017. He had served as the deputy director (headquarter
general manager level) of the compliance and risk management center cum
general manager of the legal and compliance headquarter, and the general
manager of the internal review and appraisal headquarter cum manager of the
review and appraisal department of Shenwan Hongyuan Securities Co., Ltd.*
(HBERFEHBRAR) from February 2017 to March 2020. Mr. Xie served
as the general manager of the legal and risk control department of Shenwan
Hongyuan Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 6806) from March 2020 to December
2023, and the general manager of the investment management department of
that company from May 2020 to April 2024.
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Mr. WEI Zheming, aged 42, is a non-executive Director and was appointed
to the Board on 25 May 2022. He was a non-executive Director from 31
December 2019 to 30 June 2020. He graduated with a bachelor’'s degree in
law at Xinjiang University (3758 X £) in 2005 and obtained a master degree
in business administration at Xinjiang University of Finance & Economics (¥
SEBF4E K E) in 2013. He passed the National Judicial Examination in 2009 in
the PRC and was qualified as a secretary of board of directors in May 2009, an
independent director in October 2017 and a fund practitioner in October 2018
in the PRC. Mr. Wei was the deputy general manager and the secretary of the
board of directors of Xinjiang Tianshan Wool Textile Co., Ltd.* (¥T#& X LU F
R B R A R]) (now known as Dezhan Healthcare Company Limited (2
B AR E R AR A A (stock code: 000813.52)) and a director of Xinjiang
Zhilian Qushi Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (1B EMBAEE8REE
fE 72 R]). Currently, Mr. Wei is the party branch secretary and the chairman
of Dezhan Healthcare Company Limited (12 & A & B J% 15 & BR 2 &) (stock
code: 000813.5Z), the deputy secretary of the party committee, a director and
general manager of Xinjiang Financial Investment (Group) Co., Ltd.* (¥18 &
MILE(EE) BRE T QA the deputy general manager and investment
director of Xinjiang Kaidi Investment Co., Ltd.* (¥Ti@sl R EARET R A),
a director of Xinjiang Kaidi Mining Investment Co., Ltd.* (3152l g £ 18 & %
7 BBRAA]), a director of Huarong International Trust Co., Ltd* (& X 2
BB EMAAF]) and the chairman of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment
Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (TEXILEZREESEEHR A A]) (which
has an interest in the shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance).

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. ZHANG Chunlong, aged 61, is an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee and was
appointed to the Board with effect from 8 July 2022.
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He obtained a bachelor’'s degree in mechanical engineering from Dalian
University in 1986, a master’'s degree in business administration from
Hong Kong Baptist University in 2002 and a doctoral degree in enterprise
management from Dalian University of Technology in 2017. Dr. Zhang
successively worked in the Dalian representative office of Standard Chartered
Bank, China Railway Construction Investment Company* (5 B & 2% i & #%
& /X @) and CITIC Shenzhen (Group) Company* (=3I (£@) A 7)) and
held various senior management positions, with more than 35 years of working
experience in financial institutions and state-owned enterprises. Dr. Zhang is
also a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers and a Certified Credit
Risk Management Professional (Credit Portfolio Management) (CCRP(CPM))
registered with The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers.

Mr. LO Wai Hung, aged 65, joined the Group and was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 28 September 2021. He is the chairman
of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Risk Management Committee. He obtained
a bachelor’s degree in Commerce from James Cook University of North
Queensland, Australia in 1985. Mr. Lo is a member of Chartered Accountants
in Australia and New Zealand and a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lo has over 25 years of experience in
auditing, finance and management.

Mr. Lo is currently an independent non-executive director of Talent Property
Group Limited (stock code: 760) and China New Town Development Company
Limited (stock code: 1278), a non-executive director of SY Holdings Group
Limited (formerly known as Sheng Ye Capital Limited) (stock code: 6069),
and was also an independent non-executive director of Shandong Weigao
Group Medical Polymer Company Limited (stock code: 1066) and C Cheng
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1486) from 10 August 2009 to 6 June 2022 and
from 5 December 2013 to 3 April 2023, respectively. All the aforementioned
companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.
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Ms. LIN Ting, aged 55, is an independent non-executive Director and
a member of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Risk Management Committee and was
appointed to the Board with effect from 8 July 2022.

She obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial enterprise management from
Shanghai University of Engineering Science in 1992 and a master’s degree
in technology management in information technology from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in 2004. Ms. Lin was qualified as a project
management professional by the Project Management Institute in 2014 and
was awarded the qualification certificate of board secretary by the Shanghai
Stock Exchange in 2017,

From March 2009 to April 2013, Ms. Lin successively served as the deputy
general manager of the business development department and the general
manager of the information department of China Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd., and
the general manager of the information department of Eastern Air Logistics
Co., Ltd. (a company now listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
601156.SH)). From April 2013 to January 2015, she was the general manager
of logistics product department of the information solutions department of
China Eastern Airlines Co., Ltd. (whose H shares (stock code: 670), A shares
(stock code: 600115.SH) and American depositary shares (stock code: CEA) are
listed on the Stock Exchange, the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the New York
Stock Exchange, respectively).
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Ms. Lin was an independent non-executive director of Hang Tai Yue Group
Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Mobile Games and Cultural
Investment Limited and Interactive Entertainment China Cultural Technology
Investments Limited) (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8081)) from December 2015 to June 2016 and a director of Shanghai
Changxin Technology Corp., Ltd. (a company whose shares are quoted on the
National Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock code: 430611)) from March
to August 2017. She was an executive director of Finsoft Financial Investment
Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8018)) from June 2016 to March 2025 and an independent non-executive
director of UJU Holding Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1948)) from October 2021 to October 2024. Ms.
Lin was a director of Shanghai Yuefu Investment Management Consulting
Co., Ltd.* (L/BHEHIREERANBMRAE]), a company incorporated in the
People’s Republic of China which was engaged in the provision of investment
management consultancy services, prior to its deregistration on 7 February
2021.

Co-Chief Executive Officers

Mr. WANG Dong, aged 59, was appointed as an executive Director on 29
May 2017 and appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company on 18
August 2017. He retired as an executive Director on 30 June 2020 and became
one of the co-chief executive officers of the Company on 13 September 2024.
Mr. Wang graduated with a bachelor’s degree in laws at Xinjiang University. He
obtained a master’s degree in engineering at Wuhan University and an EMBA
degree at the South China University of Technology.

Mr. Wang is qualified as a lawyer of the PRC since 1989, a senior economist
of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China since 2001 and a practitioner
of the Asset Management Association of China since 2016. He also received
the “Qualification as an independent director of listed companies” from the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2016.
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From 1987 to 2012, Mr. Wang worked in the provincial branch office as
well as the case management department of the headquarters and the
regional front-line banks of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited.
During the aforesaid period, he served as the department head of the case
management department of the headquarters, general manager of the legal
affairs department of the provincial branch office, general manager of the risk
management department of the provincial branch office, general manager
of the regional branch office, as well as the president of the regional urban
finance society and regional banking industry association. In August 2012,
Mr. Wang served as the head of the legal compliance department at the
headquarters of Guangdong Nanyue Bank Co., Ltd. and a member of the law
committee of The Banking Association of Guangdong. From September 2016
to August 2018, Mr. Wang was a director and the general manager of Xinjiang
Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd..

Mr. DU Hui, aged 53, was appointed as a co-chief executive officer of the
Company on 13 September 2024. He has participated in the sales operation of
the Group, including planning and organising new sales teams and developing
new sales channels, since June 2023. From February 2007 to May 2023, he
worked at the Beijing Branch of Carlsberg (China) Breweries and Trading Co.,
Ltd* (ZTA(FEDE BT ZAFR R GRS A F), where his last position
was the general manager of the Xinjiang and Ningxia beer business units. Mr.
Du has over 20 years of knowledge and experience in China’s fast-moving
consumer goods market. Mr. Du graduated from the industrial enterprise
management junior college programme at Inner Mongolia University of
Technology in 1994,

So far as the Company is aware, none of the members of the Board and the
co-chief executive officers of the Company has any relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with each
other.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board now presents the Corporate Governance Report as set out in the
Group's annual report for the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is firmly committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices to sustain Shareholders’ value and safeguard
shareholders’ interests. Accordingly, the Board has considered carefully the
CG Code and has taken the measures as described below to further enhance
corporate transparency and accountability.

The Board believes good corporate governance is also one of the critical
factors for achieving sustainable long-term success. The corporate governance
principles of the Company emphasize a quality Board and its accountability to
the Shareholders. The Board reviews the corporate governance practices from
time to time to ensure compliance with the principles and code provisions as
set out in the CG Code from time to time and maintain the long-term healthy
development of the Company. For the year 2024, the Company has complied
with the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board leads and is primarily responsible for supervising the overall
development and direction of the Company’s business, with the objective of
enhancing Shareholders’ value including making the Company’s strategies and
approving their implementation, considering substantial investments, reviewing
the Group's financial performance and developing and reviewing the Group's
policies and practices on corporate governance. The Directors are responsible
for, and have also authorized the chief executive officers to be primarily
responsible for overseeing the day-to-day management and business operation
of the Group. In addition, the Board has established four Board committees
and has delegated to these Board committees various responsibilities as set out
in their respective terms of references.
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Board Composition and Diversity

The Board currently comprises nine members, comprising three executive

Directors, three non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the successful

development of the Company by directing and supervising the Group's affairs.
The Board has a balance of appropriate skill, experience and diversity of

perspectives to meet the requirements of the Group's business.
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Non-executive Independent
Executive Directors #{TEE Directors FHTES Non-executive Directors UFHTES
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit — FEE#EE Ms. JJANG Xiaohong ~ ZEEEU &+ Dr. ZHANG Chunlong  R&EEE L (ZF)
(Chairman)
Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing Z5$57% 5 4 Mr. XIE Kun Bl e Mr. LO Wai Hung ERELE
Mr. YUE Zhigiang EEBTE Mr. WEI Zheming BERLE Ms. LIN Ting MEZ L
There are four Board committees in the Company. The table below provides AAGZEEZTECRVNELZEE - T&RIER
the current constituents of each of the committees. FEEENERREELZEgPMER
BB o
Risk
Audit Nomination Remuneration Management
Committee Committee Committee Committee
ENZEE REZEE FMzEe BEREEZEE
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit (executive Director) [&&£E% & = Member & 8 Member & & -
(BTEF)
Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing BRI E - - - Chairman £ /&
(executive Director) (HTEE)
Dr. ZHANG Chunlong (independent ~ REEEF L Member € 8 Member € & Chairman £ f& -
non-executive Director) (BUFHTES)
Mr. LO Wai Hung (independent ERERLE Chairman £ /& Chairman £ f& Member € 8 Member € &
non-executive Director) (BUFHNTES)
Ms. LIN Ting (independent MELT Member & 8 Member & & Member & & Member & &
non-executive Director) (BAUERTES)

The list of Directors and their roles and functions is available at the Company’s

and the Stock Exchange’s websites. Their profiles are set out in the section

headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” which is on pages 24 to

32 of this Annual Report.
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The Company currently has nine Directors, of which three are independent
non-executive Directors, in compliance with the requirements under Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules.

The Company has in place effective mechanisms that underpin an independent
Board and independent views. Independent non-executive Directors currently
represent one third of the Board. The Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee are chaired by independent non-
executive Directors. The remuneration of independent non-executive Directors
is subject to a regular review to maintain competitiveness and commensurate
with, including but not limited to, their expertise, experience, responsibilities
and workload. The independence of each independent non-executive Director
is assessed upon his/her appointment and annually.

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which covers the approach
to achieve board diversity. Under the said policy, the Nomination Committee
reviews and assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board and
recommends the appointment of a new Director when necessary. In suggesting
the Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee considers a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Nomination Committee will also assess the optimum composition
of the Board from time to time based on the Group's business scope and
specific needs.

The profile of our Board members is as follows:

Designation
B
Executive Directors o o
arzs 1110
Non-executive Directors n
FHITES 'ﬁ' 'I' T
Independent Non-executive Directors CIo

BIFITES

ARABAINES  HPF3RRBUIFH
TES A LMARE310AKHER -

ARFCRUEMES XHBULEFE
FEUBH EZSENMNEAKBRE=D
ZHBUFNTEZ ERZEE
LREENFMEEEUMBUNRTE
SECER -BUFRTESNHFMEAT
METRS  UWREBRFH LEH(BEE
ARR)EEE K BEMTEEHERE -
BUBIFATESNBUMEARTE
BB EEITRHE

ESeCAM(ESTEZLLERR)  BF
REEREZG LIRS ~RIBZBEK
REAZEGRAREFEEENIHESTE
WK THEEFEREZNESNRE-
ERHEEQENIE RRZEEERE
ZHEREZ BHEEFTRRER - Fik -
XEBEES Bk FELR K-
MBMBRBEDR REZEENEREAR
SEAGNRBHBEMEESR K PR
BESENREAS -

RANEZGHE[N :

Gender

5
vl fRRRR A
Femaz @ﬂ
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Age
Fir

<50
>50-<60

>60-<70
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The Board currently has an appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity
that are relevant to the Company’s strategy, governance and business.
The Board targets to maintain roughly at least the current level of female
representation, with the ultimate goal of increasing gender parity.

As at 31 December 2024, according to the information about the production
plants and facilities of the Group’s packaged drinking water and beer in Tibet
of the PRC, the Group's headquarters, the marketing and sales offices and
Hong Kong office, we had 342 full-time employees, of which 201 were male
and 141 were female. The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior
management) was approximately 1 male to 0.70 female. The total gender
diversity of the Group is acceptable and the Group will continue to maintain
roughly such gender diversity in the workforce. For further details of gender
ratio and initiatives taken to improve gender diversity together with the
relevant data, please refer to the disclosure in the Environmental, Social and
Governance report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer should be completely separated and should not
be performed by the same individual. The roles of chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer of the Company are assumed by Dr. ZHANG Chunlong
(as chairman) and Mr. WANG Dong and Mr. DU Hui (as co-chief executive
officers), respectively. The chairman’s primary responsibilities include deciding
on the meeting schedule and agenda, formulating Board policies, ensuring
Board effectiveness, promoting the Company and upholding the Company’s
corporate governance approaches. The co-chief executives officers have the
delegated authority from the Board to be responsible for managing the Group's
business, including the implementation of the strategies and initiatives adopted
by the Board.
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Operation of the Board

All the executive Directors are responsible for dealing with the business of the
Group in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations, including but not
limited to, the Listing Rules. All Directors (including non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) have consulted on major and material
matters of the Group.

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the
Group, including convening Shareholders’ meetings, reporting their work at
the Shareholders’ meeting, implementing the resolutions of the Shareholders’
meeting, determining the Group's business plans and strategies, formulating
the Group's annual budget and final accounts, formulating proposals for
dividend and bonus distribution, and determining duties as conferred by the
articles of association of the Company. In discharging its responsibilities, the
Board meets regularly and acts in good faith, with due diligence and care.

The Board meets regularly to review financial information, material investments
in new projects, dividend policy, major financings, treasury policies and changes
in accounting policies, where applicable. All Directors have access to Board
papers and related materials which are provided in a timely manner. Directors
have access to the advice and services provided by the legal consultants of the
Company and/or the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that the Board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Draft and final
versions of the minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings,
drafted in sufficient detail by the secretary of the meetings, would be circulated
to the Directors for their review and record. Originals of such minutes, being
kept by the Company Secretary, are open for inspection at any time upon a
reasonable notice given by any Director.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board determines to be material, the relevant Director will abstain
from voting on the relevant Board resolution in which he/she or any of his/
her associates have a material interest and he/she shall not be counted in the
quorum present at the Board meeting.
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Under the respective appointment letters, the current non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a period of three
years unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the appointment
letters. Their appointment may be terminated either by the Company or by
the Director by giving three months’ written notice to the other party. All the
current non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the coming annual general
meetings in accordance with the articles of association of the Company. The
Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an
annual confirmation of his/her independence. The Company considers all of its
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) will retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least
once every three years.

The Board believes that the proportion of executive Directors and non-executive
Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide sufficient checks and balances
that safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the Group. The non-
executive Directors provide the Group with diversified knowledge, expertise
and experience. Their views and participation in the Board meetings bring
independent judgement and advice on issues relating to the Group's strategies,
performance, conflicts of interest and management process, and ensure that
the interests of all Shareholders are taken into account. One of the independent
non-executive Directors possesses the appropriate professional accounting
qualifications or related financial management expertise, which meets the
requirements under the Listing Rules. The opinions raised by the independent
non-executive Directors at Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good
corporate governance practices.
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Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development

On appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director will receive a
comprehensive induction package and training provided by the Company's
external legal advisor, covering business operations, policy and procedures
of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations
of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Company provides Directors with an overview of the latest development
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from
time to time, to ensure their compliance with and enhance their awareness of
good corporate governance practices. The Directors are regularly briefed on
the amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In
addition, the Company and the Company Secretary have been encouraging
the Directors and other management to enroll in a wide range of professional
development courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules, Companies
Ordinance/laws and corporate governance practices organized by professional
bodies, independent auditor and/or chambers in Hong Kong so that they can
continuously update and further improve their relevant knowledge and skills.

From time to time, Directors are provided with written materials to develop
and refresh their professional skills. The Company Secretary also coordinates,
organizes and arranges materials/seminars on the latest development of
applicable laws, rules and regulations for the Directors to assist them in
discharging their duties. During the year, seminar reading materials, articles
and updates relating to the latest development of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements have been provided to Directors.

In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Group's

performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties.
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According to the information provided by Directors and records maintained
by the Company, the Directors have received training with an emphasis on
the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in compliance
with the requirement of the CG Code on continuous professional development
during the year:
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Types of training

530158 Bl
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit FRGEEE A, B
Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing R % & A B
Mr. YUE Zhigiang EEEEE A B
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong EEMZ T A B
Mr. XIE Kun AT A A, B
Mr. WEI Zheming REALEE A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BYHTES
Dr. ZHANG Chunlong REEBL A B
Mr. LO Wai Hung ERELE A B
Ms. LIN Ting MELZL A, B

A attending training and/or seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading seminar handouts, newspapers, journals, the Group's news, industry news and
updates relating to the ongoing compliance obligations, corporate governance and
other related topics, etc.

C: receiving a comprehensive induction package and training provided by the Company'’s
external legal advisor
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Delegation by the Board

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to the management
of the Company. The Board and the management have their clearly defined
authorities and responsibilities under various internal control and check and
balance mechanisms. The Board delegates matters to the Board committee(s),
executive Directors or management to the extent that the ability of the Board
as a whole to perform its functions would not be significantly hindered or
reduced.

There is a formal schedule of matters which sets out matters specifically
reserved to the Board for its decision and authorized by the Board. The Board
has given clear directions to management as to matters that must be approved
by the Board before decisions can be made on behalf of the Company.

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and to facilitate effective
management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated by the Board
to the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee
which were established with written terms of references in compliance with
the Listing Rules. The adopted terms of references also comply with the code
provisions as set out from time to time in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.
Furthermore, the Board has also set up a Risk Management Committee for the
main purpose of formulating policies and making recommendations to improve
internal control and risk management systems.

Each Board committee is required to report to the Board on its decisions and
recommendations, where appropriate. Each Board committee is also provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense according to the Company's
policy, if necessary.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee meets at least twice per annum, according to its terms of

reference. Its key responsibilities include:

a)

to make a recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor, the approval of the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and
where applicable, questions relating to the resignation or dismissal of the
external auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standard;

to monitor the integrity of financial statements of the Company and the
Company's annual report, interim report and related financial results (if
prepared for publication), and to review significant financial reporting

judgments contained in them; and

to review the Company’s financial control, internal control and risk
management system.

All three Audit Committee members (including the chairman) are independent

non-executive Directors. The chairman of the Audit Committee possesses
the relevant financial management expertise and experience. The committee

members, together with our external auditor, met three times during 2024 and
discharged their principal responsibilities by:

a)

reviewing the interim results and final results of the Group and the
relevant financial statements and reports and significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them prior to the approval by the
Board and reviewing the external auditor’s report and findings relating to
the work that has been performed,

making a recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditor, approving the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditor, and where applicable, handling any questions
relating to the retirement of the external auditor;
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c)  reviewing the external auditor's audit plan and terms of engagement for
the work performed;

d)  reviewing the independence and objectivity of the external auditor, and
the service fee payable to the external auditor; and

e)  reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group
including financial control, operational control, compliance control and
risk management.

Nomination Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a)  to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board on a
regular basis and make recommendations to the Board on any proposed
changes;

b) to recommend to the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors;

¢)  to ensure sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates are
provided for the Board and Shareholders (when necessary) for them to
make decisions regarding the selection of Board members; and

d)  to assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of the
diversity of the Board. The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Accordingly, selection
of candidates to the Board will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience and qualifications, skills, knowledge and length of
service, having due regard to the Company’s own business model and specific
needs from time to time. Taking into account the Company's corporate strategy
and the mix of personnel skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in
the future, the Nomination Committee is satisfied with the existing structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will ask proposed candidates to submit the
necessary personal information in a prescribed form. The Nomination
Committee may request candidates to provide additional information and
documents, if considered necessary. The appointment of any proposed
candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing members of the
Board shall be made in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company and other applicable rules and regulations.

One meeting was held by the Nomination Committee during 2024 and the
work carried out and achieving satisfactory results includes:

a)  reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board,;

b)  assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

¢ providing sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates
for the Board for them to make decisions regarding the selection or re-
appointment of Board members; and

d) recommending the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

Remuneration Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a)  to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s overall policy
and structure on the remuneration of Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing such remuneration policy;

b)  to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment
to ensure that such compensation is consistent with the contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and reasonable and not excessive; and

¢)  to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference to
the corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to
time.
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During 2024, the Remuneration Committee has met once and considered,
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of all Directors and senior management (including the nominated
candidates).

Risk Management Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a)  toreview and assess the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management
systems, and propose changes thereto, to identify, measure, manage
and/or control risks;

b)  to discuss the risk management system with management to ensure that
management maintains an effective risk management system;

C)  to review major investigation findings on risk management matters
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management'’s
response to these findings; and

d) to formulate policies and make recommendations to improve the
Company's internal control and risk management systems.

During 2024, the Risk Management Committee has met once to consider and
review the existing internal control system. Management's recommendations
on financial management function were discussed, considered and adopted to
improve the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems.
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The composition of the Board and the Board members’ respective attendance  EE_-Z-_WE+-_A=+—HItFE -
in Board meetings, general meetings, the Audit Committee meetings, the EZEMHAXLESSANEFTESH
Nomination Committee meetings, the Remuneration Committee meetings WEAE® ERXZES€e€=% RLZEQ
and the Risk Management Committee meetings during the year ended 31 g% FWZEeeakAREREZEY
December 2024 were as follows: GHRALEFEEMNT

No. of meetings attended/held

BARE/ETEEHA
Risk
General Audit ~ Nomination Remuneration ~Management
Board Meeting ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee
AREE

E2¢  RRAE® EHZEEE REZEE  FHZEEE Z8¢

Executive Directors gz

Mr. CHOW Wai it BRELE 8/8 " - " " -
Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing PaRrs 88 10 - - - 1
Mr. YUE Zhigiang Fl ke 18 i - - - -
Non-executive Directors FHTES

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong ZBILT 5/8 1 - - - -
Mr. XIE Kun HERE 8/8 ”n - - - -
Mr. WEI Zheming it 58 i - - - -
Independent Non-executive Directors  BU%H{TEZ

Dr. ZHANG Churlong FEEET 88 10 33 10 10 -
Mr. LO Wai Hung RS 88 i ElE! i i 1
Ms. LIN Ting HEZT 8/8 "n 33 ”n 1"n 1"n
Average attendance rate TR 81.9% 88.9% 100% 100% 100% 100%

During the year under review, the chairman of the Company held a meeting ~ REIEFE - AQ B EF G EE T IFHIT
with independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other EERT— N RAEHMEETHENEH -
Directors. Mr. Yue had a relatively low meeting attendance for the year 2024 ELXAEAERERAR T _NFHSZ
due to health reasons and he has almost recovered recently. HEEBHEEREK  SEDEEREE -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken the responsibility of performing the corporate
governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is committed to ensuring that
an effective governance structure is in place to continuously review, monitor
and improve the corporate governance practices within the Group with regard
to the prevailing legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the policies and practices on the
Group's corporate governance, improved the code of conduct applicable to
the Directors and employees, monitored the Company's legal and regulatory
compliance, organized training and continuing professional development for
Directors and management and reviewed the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and the disclosures in this Annual Report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in discharge
of its corporate governance function.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound, adequate and
effective internal control system of the Group. The Group's internal control
system includes a well-defined management structure with limits of authority
which is designed for the achievement of business objectives, safequarding
assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensuring proper maintenance of
books and records for the provision of reliable and timely financial information
for internal use or publication, and ensuring compliance with relevant laws
and regulations. In addition, the Group has established risk management
procedures to identify and distinguish business risks that need to be brought to
the attention of management.

The systems of internal control are designed to manage, rather than eliminate,
business risk, so as to help safeguard the Group's assets against fraud and
other irregularities and to give reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material financial misstatement or loss. In addition, it should provide a basis
for the maintenance of proper accounting records and assist in the compliance
with relevant rules and regulations.
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During the year, no incident of serious fraud or misconduct was reported from
employees that had a material effect on the Company’s financial position and
overall operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has supervised and
engaged an independent professional to carry out an annual review of the
effectiveness of the internal control system and has received a confirmation
from management on the effectiveness and adequacy of the system during the
Reporting Period.

The Company has no internal audit function because the Company has
maintained an internal control system. The Audit Committee, Risk Management
Committee and the Board understood and reviewed the implementation
of the system from multiple aspects and considered that it is effective. The
Audit Committee has communicated with external auditor of the Company to
understand if there is any material internal control deficiency noted during the
audit process. Nevertheless, the Company will review the need for an internal
audit function on an annual basis.

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information: (i) the Company handles relevant affairs
with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission; (ii) the Board and senior
management are responsible for identifying and assessing inside information;
(iii) the Board, senior management and any relevant persons who might have
access to inside information must take reasonable due care for safeguarding
the confidentiality of unpublished inside information; and (iv) the Board is
responsible for ensuring timely, fair and comprehensive dissemination of
inside information and may seek independent professional advice if and when
appropriate to ensure that the Company can timely comply with the disclosure
requirements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

Eh BRBEERBRENFARBEY
T AR T 2 SRR R B E
N FE TR

HE-_T-_NME+-_A=+—-HLEFE-
EEgCEBREFEVEREATENSE
EABEZFERGNMARY LB WEE
BEHZAZASERSHEABMMENZ MM
H TR o

ARFUYEABEZREE  BALXAAR
ERNRERZRR -ERZBg ARER
ZEEREFEERZITE T BNEHER
RBREZERT AN BERZEGDENR
NASNEZHBEAR  ATRERTBE
PERHRENEANDEERE -BE
mit - ARRNEEFRFNEEFERMKL

REETA

REBREREMAREENREF LA
EREREms  WARANEERRER
BRTESZLHEEHERZEGRMAD
(ABHEEEEID) (NEFERSRE
EREARMMMMEARHEE  (NEFE -
RREEEREMAIEERBEABEEN
HMEABVLARRAENEERER ¥R
AHANAREEETRE  R(VEFEER
ERR AFREEMEMAABES I
AIREERRSKBLERER - UHERE
ARAEARBETHRERE -

BERAKERERAT | 52024 49



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
fh\% B /l:l ﬁﬂ:

MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The management team of the Company meets regularly to review and discuss
with the executive Directors day-to-day operational matters, financial and
operating performance as well as to monitor and ensure that the management
is properly carrying out the directions and strategies pre-determined by the
Board.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the requirements set out in the Model
Code for the year ended 31 December 2024. Specific employees who are likely
to be in possession of inside information of the Group have been requested to
comply with the provisions of the Model Code. No incident of non-compliance
has been noted by the Company.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for keeping proper accounting
books and records and overseeing the preparation of accounts for each
financial year/period which give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial year/period and
the profit or loss for the year/period. The Directors have adopted applicable
International Financial Reporting Standards in all material respects, selected
appropriate accounting policies and then applied them consistently, and have
made judgments and estimates that they believe to be fair and reasonable. The
Directors use a going concern basis in preparing the accounts unless it is not
applicable.

The Board acknowledges that a clear, balanced and timely presentation of
financial information is crucial in maintaining the confidence of Shareholders in
the Company. Reasonable disclosure of the Company’s financial position and
prospects are provided in the reports. Annual and interim results are published
within three and two months after the end of the relevant financial year/period,
respectively.
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The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 76 to 84 of this Annual
Report.

DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY
PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance for its Directors and officers covering the costs, losses, expenses and
liabilities arising from the performance of their duties. The insurance policy is
reviewed on an annual basis ensuring adequate coverage on potential legal
action against its Directors and officers arising from the performance of their
duties and to comply with the requirement of the CG Code. During the year,
no claim was made against the Directors and officers of the Company.

Article 164(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that the
Directors or other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may
incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty provided that the indemnity shall not be extended
to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may be attached to
the relevant Director or officer of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The general meetings of the Company provide Shareholders with a forum
for effective communication. The chairman of the Board and the Board
committees, or in his absence, fellow Directors and other management
members will be made available to answer questions at the general meetings.

Extensive information about the Group’s activities is provided in this Annual
Report, the interim report and circulars which are sent to Shareholders
in a timely manner and are made available on the Company’s website
(www.twr1115.net). The Company’s website serves as a communication
platform where company information including corporate profile, corporate
governance materials, announcements, circulars, business news and financial
reports are made available to the public. The Group encourages all Shareholders
to attend the annual general meeting of the Company to understand the
business of the Group from the Directors and senior management at the
general meeting.
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The forthcoming annual general meeting is expected to be held in late June
2025. At the 2025 annual general meeting, the chairman of the meeting will
demand a poll for the resolutions and the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar will be appointed as the scrutineer for the vote-taking.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, any one or more member(s)
of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, on a one vote per share basis, shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business or resolution specified in such
requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
convene a physical meeting at only one location, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting following the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph. As regards the nomination of a person as a Director, please refer to
the procedures available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board

by mail in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Unit D, 23rd Floor, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

To ensure investors have a better understanding of the Group, our
management is proactive in its investor relations initiatives. Directors, the
Company’'s management team and the investor relations officers communicate
with research analysts and institutional investors on an ongoing basis after the
publication of the Company's results announcements and participate in non-
deal roadshows to communicate the Company’s financial performance and
business strategy.

Having considered the multiple channels of communication in place providing
Shareholders and investment community with information about the latest
development of the Group in a timely manner, and that the Company
has established a range of communication channels between itself and its
Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders to allow the Company to receive
feedback effectively, the Board is satisfied that the shareholders communication
policy has been properly implemented and is effective during 2024.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall consider a number
of conditions and factors and maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its
working capital requirements and future business development.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

By a special resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 27 June 2024, the Company adopted amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association to facilitate the electronic
dissemination of corporate communications in accordance with the Listing
Rules and to make other housekeeping amendments. The amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company is available
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chow Wai Kit is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and was appointed on a full-time basis as the Company Secretary.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Chow has taken not less than
15 hours of professional training to update his skills and knowledge as required
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Chow reports to the chairman of the
Group/Board on Board governance matters and is responsible for ensuring that
Board policies and procedures are followed. All Board members have access to
the Company’s legal consultant’s/his advice and services. He also arranges the
comprehensive and tailored induction program for new Directors prior to their
appointment and provides timely updates for the Directors on relevant new
legislation and regulatory requirements. Director training has been organized
on a regular basis by the Company Secretary to assist Directors’ continuous
professional development.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

HLB has been re-appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect from
the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 27 June
2024 to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting
of the Company. The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor
the independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process of the financial statements in accordance with applicable
standards. Members of the Audit Committee were of the view that the
Company’s auditor, HLB, is independent and recommended to the Board to
re-appoint it as the Company's auditor at the 2025 annual general meeting.
For the year, the fees paid/payable to the Company's auditor in respect of audit
and non-audit services provided for the Group are set out below:

DNEWE
FRGERERBTALNAAERAENERS
T URZERERAANE -BE_T
“TWFE+ZA=+—RILFE BARED
SMAPRISPEEMARERNENSE
R YA EMRAIE329RAATE
AALEREESEREERNEELIRE &
EEEHR VYAERRESFSHRNER
BUABT MBEEFEXERHAESAA
AUAEERRRWENE R MR <o -
ARIMEGENESHEMEN AERH
EEEFROABBEEHE  TEKRE
EEMEENTEMEAREERENM
B RAMECRESTHERNEI
IHPEECHEERER -

SRR BT

EHCEBRZERAARAIREM B =
ZMENAZTEEARAKRRAFERX
SEHEREEN FHEEARARATERR
AEAEERRBL -BREZEGRRER
BERBEENREEREMO B
NERETARETHHBRROFTBEERS
Bl -BRZBEKERR  KAREEZH
MEEHBELAL YRAEFSFELER
R-E_IFRRAFASLERRAR
NREZEE - FA - AR B BZEE R A
SERHZERRFERRBHEN
NZEREIMT

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARBFTT

Audit services EZ R 2,099 2,066
Non-audit services EEZ R 183 180
2,282 2,246

Disclaimer

The contents of the section headed “Shareholders’ Rights” are for reference and disclosure
compliance purposes only. The information does not represent and should not be regarded
as legal or other professional advice from the Company to the Shareholders. Shareholders
should seek their own independent legal or other professional advice as to their rights as
Shareholders. The Company disclaims any liability for all liabilities and losses incurred by its
Shareholders in reliance on any contents of the section headed “Shareholders’ Rights”.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 92 of this Annual Report. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the financial
year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set
out in the sections headed "Letter to Shareholders, Investors and Partners”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 6 and pages 9 to
23 of this Annual Report, respectively. Description of the principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group is set out in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements on pages
9 to 23 and pages 154 to 171 of this Annual Report, respectively.

In addition, an account of the Group's environmental policies and performance,
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact
on the Group and of the Group’s relationships with its employees, customers
and suppliers is set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section
on pages 9 to 23 of this Annual Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on pages 85 to 86 of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
2024.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on pages 7 to 8 of this Annual Report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements during the year in the land use rights and PP&E of the
Group are set out in Notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively on pages 188 to 192 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 228 of this Annual Report.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of the Company's bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024 are set out
in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 220 to 224 of this
Annual Report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company previously adopted a share option scheme in 2012 and such
scheme expired in accordance with its terms on 7 September 2022. No share
options granted under the expired share option scheme remained outstanding.

The Company has adopted a new share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 30 June 2023 (the “Adoption Date”). The purpose of the
Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to eligible
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth of
the Group and to provide the Group with a more flexible means to attract,
retain, reward, remunerate, compensate and/or provide benefits to the eligible
participants.

The eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme to whom options may be
granted by the Board include (a) the employee participants (including directors
and employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries); (b) the related entity
participants (including directors and employees of the holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company); and (c) the
service providers (including persons who provide services to the Group on a
continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of business which
are in the interest of the long-term growth of the Group).
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The total number of shares which may be issued in respect of all options
and awards to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the total number of
shares in issue on the Adoption Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) unless
shareholders’ approval has been obtained. Within the Scheme Mandate Limit,
the total number of shares which may be issued in respect of all options
and awards to be granted to the service providers under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share schemes of the Company shall not exceed 5%
of the total number of shares in issue on the Adoption Date (the “Service
Provider Sublimit”) unless shareholders’ approval has been obtained. As at
the Adoption Date, there were 4,079,188,000 shares of the Company in issue.
The Scheme Mandate Limit and the Service Provider Sublimit are therefore
407,918,800 shares and 203,959,400 shares, respectively.

Where any grant of options to an eligible participant would result in the total
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options granted
under the Share Option Scheme and all options and awards granted under any
other share schemes of the Company to such eligible participant (excluding any
lapsed options or awards) in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the total number of shares
in issue as at the date of such grant, such grant must be separately approved
by the shareholders in general meeting with such eligible participant and his/
her close associates (or associates if the eligible participant is a connected
person) abstaining from voting. Any grant of options to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their respective
associates must be approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of such
options). Where options are proposed to be granted to an independent non-
executive Director or a substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, and the proposed grant of options would result in the
total number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options granted
under the Share Option Scheme and all options and awards granted under
any other share schemes of the Company (excluding any lapsed options and
awards) to such person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number of shares
in issue on the offer date, such further grant of options must be approved by
the shareholders taken on a poll at a general meeting.
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An offer of a grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme shall remain
open for acceptance within 14 days from the offer date. The amount payable
by the grantee to the Company on acceptance of the offer is HK$1.00. Save
in certain prescribed circumstances, an option must be held by the grantee
for at least 12 months before the option can be exercised. An option may
be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at
any time during a period to be notified by the Board subject to the terms of
grant (including but not limited to the vesting period), and the expiry date of
such period shall not exceed 10 years from the offer date. Unless otherwise
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and stated in the relevant
offer letter, there is neither any performance target which must be achieved
before an option can be exercised nor any clawback mechanism for the
Company to recover or withhold any remuneration (which may include any
options granted) to any eligible participants in the event of serious misconduct,
a material misstatement in the Company’s financial statements or other
circumstances.

The subscription price in respect of any option shall, subject to any adjustments
made pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, be a price notified
by the Board to each grantee and shall be at least the highest of: (a) the
closing price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet
on the offer date; (b) the average closing price per share as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the 5 business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (c) the nominal value of a share.

Subject to early termination by the Company in a general meeting or by the
Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years from the Adoption Date, after which no further options may be granted.

No options have been granted under the Share Option Scheme since the
Adoption Date and up to the date of this report. Accordingly, as at the
beginning and the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2024 and
as at the date of this report, share options to subscribe for a maximum of
407,918,800 Shares (representing approximately 8.7% of the issued shares
of the Company as at the date of this report) were available for grant under
the Scheme Mandate Limit and share options to subscribe for a maximum
of 203,959,400 Shares were available for grant under the Service Provider
Sublimit.

58

REBREAIARIBERENBOBEN
AR 4B AR HRER ARARSTE
MENARBZKBER/I00BT BRET
RENBRIN ERAEFERBREZD
TZEA  HATERRE  BRETR
E=eRNcHRBREREBRETS 2
AT - BAETRHER(BRETR
NEBEH) - MzBENEB T ERS
EOHBEFTF -BRIFEFTGUERY
WIEEAITRELREBE ORI T RE -
MEATERREMNEZN 2 EMKRE
B TEARANRBELEREXRETR K
NRAIMBREREBRENRER AL ELEE
wEABKERMEETMNSER2EE L
EEHM (T EREMERENERE) W
(AR [ B 1 o

EAREEE REEBARESTSBANE K
RAMER (ZRPRREBOE 2 15R 1
B2 EFHE)  EABERTIERZ&R
BEQRBOBPEMRIMEARER
e B MKHE: DEREHA
MALEZXARBMXMEARERLE
BROFHERTE : ROBRHEE -

BRERRRARBRRAEXEHESTSIRA
B RRAERESIERMEHELTSF
NBEMREN S  RENSBR L BRE -

BERMBBRRERNREAH YERER
BESERLERE - Bt RBE=F
“ME+-A=Z+—BULVREERBR
RRERAREAH  TREAZEER
| AT R & % 407,918,800 B & 17 (&
AHEARRRAREBITRMN 248.7%)
BERE RAUBRBRBREHRESERS
B AT R & % 203,959,400 A A% 19 H9 BE A%
1o



SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Group adopted a share award scheme in 2017 (the “Share Award
Scheme”). Up to 31 December 2024, no share has been granted by the Group
to any parties under the Share Award Scheme.

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to (i) encourage or facilitate the
holding of shares by the selected participants; (ii) encourage and retain certain
individuals to work with the Group; and (iii) provide incentive for the selected
participants to achieve performance goals.

The Board may at its absolute discretion select any eligible participant
(including directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the
Group, employees of the Group and other persons the Board considers have
contributed or will contribute to the Group) to be a selected participant and (a)
grant new shares to be issued and allotted by the Company under its available
general mandate to such selected participant or (b) grant existing shares to be
purchased by the Company from the market to such selected participant.

In any financial year during the scheme period, the maximum number of
shares to be subscribed for and/or purchased by the trustee appointed for
the administration of the Share Award Scheme pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the beginning of such relevant financial year.

On each occasion when the Board instructs the trustee to purchase shares on
the Stock Exchange, it shall specify the maximum amount of funds to be used
and the range of prices at which such shares are to be purchased. The Trustee
may not incur funds more than the maximum amount of funds or purchase any
shares at a price falling outside the range of prices so specified unless with the
prior written consent of the Board. The trustee shall purchase such maximum
board lot of shares at the prevailing market price according to the Board's
instructions.

At the beginning of the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
had 4,079,188,000 shares in issue. No share had been granted under the Share
Award Scheme during such financial year. Therefore, 407,918,800 shares were
available for grant under the Share Award Scheme at the beginning and the
end of the financial year ended 31 December 2024.
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As at 1 January 2025, the Company had 4,579,188,000 shares in issue and no
share has been granted under the Share Award Scheme up to the date of this
report. Therefore, 457,918,800 shares, representing approximately 9.74% of
the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this report, were available
for grant under the Share Award Scheme as at the date of this report.

Where any award of grant to a selected participant would result in the
aggregate of (a) the number of grant shares underlying all grants (whether
vested or not) and (b) the number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding) under any share option
scheme adopted by the Company from time to time, granted to such selected
participant in the 12-month period up to and including the date of award
of such grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of award of such grant, the grant shall be subject to approval
by the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting. Where any grant
is proposed to be made to a selected participant who is a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their respective
associates or any other connected person, such grant must first be approved
by the independent non-executive directors of the Company (excluding any
independent non-executive director to whom the grant is proposed to be
made).

The Board may from time to time while the Share Award Scheme is in force
determine any criteria or periods for the grant shares to be vested or credited,
and such other restrictions or conditions in respect thereof as the Board may in
its discretion determine to be appropriate.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board, the Share
Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing
on the adoption date being 18 August 2017.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's articles of
association or the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s place
of incorporation.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the accumulated losses of the Company amounted
to RMB315 million (31 December 2023: RMB275 million). As at 31 December
2024, the share premium of the Company, amounting to RMB1,843 million (31
December 2023: RMB1,734 million), is distributable to Shareholders subject to
the solvency test and the sanction of an ordinary resolution.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries have purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit
Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing
Mr. YUE Zhigiang

Non-executive Directors
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong

Mr. XIE Kun

Mr. WEI Zheming

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. ZHANG Chunlong (Chairman)

Mr. LO Wai Hung

Ms. LIN Ting

Details of the retiring Directors to be re-elected at the 2025 annual general
meeting will be set out in the circular to the Shareholders before the 2025
annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS' PROFILES

The profiles of the Directors are set out on pages 24 to 32 of this Annual
Report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 2025 annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), which are required to be recorded in the register maintained
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company:

EEZRER
EEREFINANFRE24EIE -

ESNRESYN

BREE_S_IFRRBAFARE LEE
MEEHEITEAEEE-FRATAER
TEECETHEERIN) WERTRIENR
BAEK -

EERFETHAERBROPHESR
RZZEZWNEF+ZRA=+—H EFFEKAK
RAIEFETBABRARE REBEEE
(REHFMBHERMEXVBHTER) HKK
BEROREEEFEEREEFARAE
GRIE32ERTERRARFE 2B
Ak BRBEELETRAIBENERNARR
BRI EERABIT

ARA ) RABRDOER

Approximate
No. of percentage of
ordinary  shareholding

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest shares held (Note 1)
RERL
At B
EEpE 5/ REMtE EBRREE (M=)
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit Beneficial owner 1,000 0.00002
[EIEL S ExBEEA
Notes: B &E

(1) Based on 4,579,188,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.
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DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE SECURITIES

AND FUTURES ORDINANCE

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons had an interest or short

position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
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BREEFRBERAIRRNETIRER
=

RZZEZWNE+=ZRA=+—H"  TIAL
RIREZRH R E P E 336168 TAH
KRB HFEMNELMEEHAAR ARG K

of the SFO: HEROFHEEERIORE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shares/ shareholding
Name Long/short position Capacity underlying shares (Note 1)
REBNE Sk
4,/ 4% #8/ %A 5t B6,/ AERANEE (W)
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited Long position Beneficial owner 462,400,740 10.10%
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited e EREAA
Khorgos Tianshan No. 1 Industrial Investment Long position Interest of controlled
Fund Limited Partnership (Note 2) corporation 462,400,740 10.10%
ERRMRL-FEXREEGBRABLE  #E REEBNER
(M2)
MBRLESFREESERARAR (Notes 2&3) Long position Interest of controlled
corporation 462,400,740 10.10%
NERLESREAECERARLA (HH283) #E REEEMER
HELRREBRLT (Notes2,3&4) Long position Interest of controlled
corporation 462,400,740 10.10%
MBERRERRAA(FE2 384) 8 REEENER
NERERABREARBRBEREEEE Long position Interest of controlled
EEZEE (Notes2,38&4) corporation 462,400,740 10.10%
HERERa AR ARMAAREELRE e R EENER
FEZEE(WE2 384)
RELREXRAEREREAAT Long position Interest of controlled
(Notes 2,3 &5) corporation 462,400,740 10.10%
RELRESRAERAREALT e REZENER
(Fi3E2-385)
HELREERHERAR Long position Interest of controlled
(Notes 2, 3,5 & 6) corporation 462,400,740 10.10%
REZREERNBRAA e REEEMER

(BtsE2-3-58&6)
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Approximate
percentage of
Number of shares/ shareholding
Name Long/short position Capacity underlying shares (Note 1)
REBRNOBEDL
e/ 2R #E/ %R g4 R/ HERGHHE (K1)
HRESREBREMA Long position Interest of controlled
(Notes 2, 3,5 &6) corporation 462,400,740 10.10%
MRESRERREMAAT e R LR ER
(Bi3E23-5&6)
Tibet Water Resources Limited (Note 7) Long position Beneficial owner 437,410,960 9.55%
BEKERBRAR (MW7) e EaERA
Maple Essence Investments Limited (Note 8) Long position Interest of controlled
corporation 437,410,960 9.55%
HEREBRAA (K38) 2 R AN ER
True Asset Holdings Limited (Note 9) Long position Interest of controlled
corporation 437,410,960 9.55%
True Asset Holdings Limited (#39) it REEENER
Mr. WANG Peter Jian (also known as Long position Interest of controlled
Mr. WANG Jian Peter) (Notes 9 & 10) corporation 437,410,960 9.55%
TEEE(MF9&10) e REZENER
Wholeking Holdings Limited (Note 11) Long position Beneficial owner 300,000,000 6.55%
Wholeking Holdings Limited (Pt 11) e EREEA
Hope Empire Limited (Note 12) Long position Interest of controlled
corporation 300,000,000 6.55%
Hope Empire Limited (¥ 12) ife REEENER
HSBC International Trustee Limited (Note 13) Long position Trustee 337,276,000 7.36%
HSBC International Trustee Limited e BEA
(MzE13)
Cai Kui (Note 13) Long position Founder of a discretionary
trust who can influence
how the trustee exercises
its discretion 337,276,000 7.36%
2% (Mi13) 35 T%@ﬁ%AWﬁﬁﬁﬁm
BRENBBEIRIA
Harvest Global Capital Investments Limited Long position Investment manager 450,500,000 9.84%

Harvest Global Capital Investments Limited
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Notes:

Based on 4,579,188,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership holds 100%
equity interest in Tianshan Industry Investment Limited and is therefore deemed to
be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry
Investment Limited.

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership is held as to
0.66% by and is accustomed to act in accordance with the directions of ¥73EX L &= %
REESEHEEMRADA. Therefore, MBRIUEXZREESEEARARA is deemed
to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry
Investment Limited.

HiEL AR EBMRA A holds 46.36% equity interest in Khorgos Tianshan No.1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership. %758 % g8 4% & B R 2 & also holds 30%
equity interest in FTIERIUEXREEGERFR QA Therefore, FEERMIKRESR
fE 2 5] is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

FRATHEARARBNEEEEEEERZEE wholly owns FTiESRIRER
BRAR]. Therefore, IBHEREABEARBNEEEELEBEEEZEE is deemed
to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry
Investment Limited.

OEE
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4,579,188,000 R B 1T (05T & -

ERREHAL-—REXREESCAERSA
% (> # # A Tianshan Industry Investment
Limited 100% f% % - & Bt 4% 15 4 7 Tianshan
Industry Investment Limited 7 # & &) 4K A &)
462,400,740 & M fn B A HE A -

ERRFRU-—REXREESERAED
¥mFERNLEXEREEGERARAA
FH066% RERRENBEBRLELRE
HeBEBRARARMIBIITE Bt - M
ANEXEREEGERARATAHK AR
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited FT 45 &
()2 B] 462,400,740 BR RR 13 R HE B 4E 25 o

TERCRRABRAABEERRGAL—
FEFREESBRAEBLH46.36% RiE -
BRI EERARNBEENBERLESE
REEGEBARAAIZ0%ME - Bt
MES A EARLDAEE AR Tianshan
Industry Investment Limited fff 5 & &) /K 2 &)
462,400,740 RIRID P A o

FRATHRAREARBRNEEEEEE
ERZEGTARANBLRREARD
AeAN FEATHEEARBARKIEE
HEEEEETEZ B EHE AR Tanshan
Industry Investment Limited BT # /& #) X A 7]
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HERREEREETEARE AR holds 30% equity interest in $7i8 K I E £ %
EESEEAMRAA and is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the
Company held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

HERFEEERKMDERRA A holds 33.11% equity interest in Khorgos Tianshan No.1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership. Further, B8 & RR £ E R G R A 7
wholly owns BERREZRAEREREM DR, Therefore, FEZREERNHA
f2 2 7] is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by

Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

hRESIREEREMAT, directly and indirectly through its subsidiaries, holds
51.17% equity interest in BEZREBRMD AR AA]. Therefore, PRELKERR
FAERT] is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held
by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

Tibet Water Resources Limited is held as to 100% by Maple Essence Investments
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings Limited. Tibet Water
Resources Limited holds 437,410,960 shares in the Company. For 200,000,000 shares
out of these 437,410,960 shares in the Company, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 14 November 2019.

Maple Essence Investments Limited holds 100% equity interest in Tibet Water
Resources Limited and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 437,410,960 shares
in the Company held by Tibet Water Resources Limited. Maple Essence Investments
Limited is wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings Limited.

True Asset Holdings Limited holds 100% equity interest in Tibet Water Resources
Limited through Maple Essence Investments Limited. Therefore, True Asset Holdings
Limited is deemed to be interested in 437,410,960 shares in the Company held by
Tibet Water Resources Limited.
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True Asset Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. WANG Peter Jian. Therefore, Mr.
WANG Peter Jian is deemed to be interested in 437,410,960 shares in the Company
held by Tibet Water Resources Limited. For the purpose of the SFO, the spouse of Mr.
WANG Peter Jian has a duty of disclosure in relation to the said 437,410,960 shares in
the Company. The interest disclosed by the spouse of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is owned
by Mr. WANG Peter Jian which is also deemed to be attributed to the spouse of Mr.
WANG Peter Jian pursuant to the SFO for disclosure purposes. Nevertheless, she has no
interest, legal or beneficial, in those shares in the Company.

Wholeking Holdings Limited is interested in 300,000,000 underlying shares in the
Company through holding convertible bonds issued by the Company which are
convertible into 300,000,000 shares in the Company upon full conversion at the initial
conversion price with maturity date on 30 September 2024. The conversion right
attached to the convertible bonds has expired without being exercised.

Hope Empire Limited wholly owns Wholeking Holdings Limited and is therefore
deemed to be interested in the 300,000,000 underlying shares in the Company in
which Wholeking Holdings Limited is interested.

HSBC International Trustee Limited as trustee of a discretionary trust set up by Cai
Kui wholly owns Silverland Assets Limited, which in turn wholly owns (a) Hope Empire
Limited, which is deemed to be interested in 300,000,000 underlying shares in the
Company and (b) Junson Development International Limited, which is interested in
37,276,000 shares in the Company. Therefore, both HSBC International Trustee Limited
and Cai Kui are deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 237,276,000 shares/
underlying shares in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company were not aware of any other person (other than

the Directors or the chief executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed

to have, interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the

Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock

Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under

Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange.
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TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an
entity connected with such Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year or at the end of the financial year has the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
been a party to any arrangement whose object is, or one of whose objects
is, to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, except
for the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme. No share options
or share awards were granted to any Director under the Share Option Scheme
and the Share Award Scheme, respectively.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Other than operating a Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
participating in the state managed retirement benefit scheme in the PRC, the
Group has not operated any other retirement benefit schemes for the Group'’s
employees.

Details of the pension scheme are set out in Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 185 to 186 of this Annual Report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the Board
on the basis of their contribution, qualification and competence.
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The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the financial year and up to the date of this report, no Director is
considered to have interests in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, as
defined in the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the financial year, sales to the Group's five largest customers and
purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 81.4%
and 76.0% of the total sales and total purchases for the year, respectively. The
Group's largest customer and supplier accounted for approximately 12.8% and
49.6% of the total sales and total purchases for the financial year, respectively.
Starting from 2021, the Group has centralized procurement through its
associate Fudi Packaging, so as to enhance the procurement efficiency and
reduce costs.

During the financial year, none of (i) the Directors or any of their close associates,
or (i) the Shareholders (who, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owned
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital), had any interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders are in any doubt about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights
in relation to, the shares of the Company, they are advised to consult their
professional advisors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent of the
Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL MANDATE

On 26 January 2024, the Company entered into a placing agreement with
Gransing Securities Co., Limited, the placing agent, pursuant to which the
placing agent conditionally agreed to place up to 500,000,000 placing
shares at the placing price of HK$0.218 per placing share to not less than
six institutional, corporate or independent individual investors on a best
effort basis. The placing price of HK$0.218 per placing share represents: (i)
a discount of approximately 11.38% to the closing price of HK$0.246 per
share of the Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of the
placing agreement; and (ii) a discount of approximately 7.23% to the average
closing price of HK$0.235 per share of the Company as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the last five consecutive trading days immediately prior to the
date of the placing agreement. Completion took place on 21 February 2024. A
total of 500,000,000 placing shares were successfully placed to not less than
six placees at the placing price of HK$0.218 per placing share. The placing
shares were issued under the general mandate granted to the Directors by a
resolution of the Shareholders passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 30 June 2023. The placing shares will have an aggregate
nominal value of HK$5,000,000 and represent (i) approximately 12.26% of
the issued share capital of the Company immediately before completion;
and (i) approximately 10.92% of the issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the allotment and issue of the placing shares immediately upon
completion. The gross proceeds from the placing were HK$109,000,000 and
the net proceeds, after deduction of the placing commission and other related
expenses of the placing, were approximately HK$105,800,000. The net placing
price is approximately HK$0.2116 per placing share. The net proceeds were
used as to (i) 50% (approximately HK$52,900,000) for partial repayment of the
Convertible Bonds; and (ii) the remaining 50% (approximately HK$52,900,000)
for general working capital of the Group according to the intentions disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 21 February 2024. For details, please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated 26 January 2024 and 21
February 2024.

The Board considered equity fundraising to be a suitable financing option
as compared with other means of financing as it enabled the Group to raise
capital in an efficient manner without increasing the interest burden on the
Group, strengthen its financial position and reduce the liquidity risk. It also
represented a good opportunity to broaden the capital base of the Company.
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10% CONVERTIBLE BONDS IN PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF HK$90,000,000
DUE 2024

On 22 May 2024, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with
Wholeking Holdings Limited (i.e. the subscriber), whereby the subscriber
agreed to subscribe for and the Company agreed to issue 10% convertible
bonds in the principal amount of HK$90,000,000 due 2024. Assuming full
conversion of the convertible bonds at the initial conversion price of HK$0.3,
the convertible bonds will be convertible into 300,000,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 6.55% of the then issued share capital
of the Company and approximately 6.15% of the then issued share capital
of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the conversion shares. The initial
conversion price of HK$0.3 per conversion share represents a premium of
approximately 9.09% over the closing price of the shares of the Company of
HK$0.275 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 22 May 2024, being
the date of the subscription agreement. The convertible bonds were issued by
the Company on 19 June 2024. Since the subscription price of HK$90,000,000
was fully set off against an equivalent amount of a loan owed by the Company
to the subscriber on a dollar-to-dollar basis, no cash proceeds were received
by the Company from the issue of the convertible bonds. For further details,
please refer to the Company's announcements dated 22 May 2024 and 19
June 2024.

The issue of the convertible bonds is a strategic move of the Company to
attract strong investors who can bring business collaboration, such as the
subscriber. The Board has given due regard to the background of the subscriber
and considers that by introducing the subscriber as a potential Shareholder (as
and when it exercises its conversion rights attached to the convertible bonds),
the Company will be able to further enhance the Group’s profile and diversify
the Company's shareholding base.

The principal and interest of such convertible bonds have been extended into
short-term borrowing arrangements.
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8% CONVERTIBLE BONDS IN PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF HK$ 165,000,000
DUE 2025

On 12 December 2024, the Company entered into subscription agreements
(as amended by the supplemental agreements dated 20 December 2024) with
eight corporate and individual investors, whereby the investors agreed to
subscribe for and the Company agreed to issue the 8% convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$165,000,000 due 2025 at a total cash consideration
of HK$165,000,000. Assuming full conversion of the convertible bonds at the
initial conversion price of HK$0.33, the convertible bonds will be convertible
into a maximum of 500,000,000 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 10.92% of the then issued share capital of the Company and
approximately 9.85% of the then issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the issue of the conversion shares. The initial conversion price of
HK$0.33 per conversion share represents a premium of approximately 1.54%
over the closing price of the shares of the Company of HK$0.325 per share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on 12 December 2024, being the date of the
subscription agreements. The convertible bonds were issued by the Company
on 21 January 2025. The gross and net proceeds (after deducting expenses)
from the issue of the convertible bonds were approximately HK$165,000,000
and HK$164,400,000, respectively. 50% of the net proceeds was utilized for
the general working capital of the Group and the remaining 50% was utilized
for repayment of the borrowings of the Group as intended. For further details,
please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 12 December 2024, 20
December 2024 and 21 January 2025.

The Company sought to capitalize on the then market environment for
convertible bond issues to raise capital for the repayment of the Group's
borrowings and for the Group’s general working capital.

As at 31 December 2024, such convertible bonds in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$165,000,000 were outstanding and convertible into
500,000,000 shares of the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.33 per
conversion share.
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Subsequent to the year end, such convertible bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$39,850,000 had been converted into a total of
120,757,575 shares of the Company and the remaining principal amount of
HK$125,150,000 was outstanding and convertible into 379,242,424 shares of
the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.33 per conversion share.

8% CONVERTIBLE BONDS IN PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF HK$138,000,000
DUE 2025

Subsequent to the year end, on 13 February 2025, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with Wholeking Holdings Limited (i.e. the subscriber),
whereby the subscriber agreed to subscribe for and the Company agreed
to issue the 8% convertible bonds in principal amount of HK$138,000,000
due 2025. Assuming full conversion of the convertible bonds at the initial
conversion price of HK$0.345, the convertible bonds will be convertible into
400,000,000 shares of the Company, representing approximately 8.74% of the
then issued share capital of the Company and approximately 8.03% of the then
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the conversion
shares. The initial conversion price of HK$0.345 per conversion share represents
a premium of approximately 1.47% over the closing price of the shares of
the Company of HK$0.34 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 13
February 2025, being the date of the subscription agreement. The convertible
bonds were issued by the Company on 18 March 2025. Since the subscription
price of HK$138,000,000 was offset in the manner described in the Company's
announcement dated 13 February 2025, no cash proceeds were received by the
Company from the issue of the convertible bonds. For further details, please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated 13 February 2025 and 18 March
2025.

The issue of the convertible bonds in effect allows the Company to refinance its
existing debt and extend its debt maturity profile. It also allows the Company to
retain working capital for its business development and operations and provides
more flexibility for the Company in its future cash management. Moreover, the
convertible bonds bear lower interest rate than the loan owed by the Company
to the subscriber and allow the Company to save interest expense.

As at the date of this report, such convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$138,000,000 was outstanding and convertible into 400,000,000 shares of
the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.345 per conversion share.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
reasonable knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Shares in accordance with the Listing
Rules as at the Latest Practicable Date.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the charitable donation made by the Group was RMB104,000
(2023: nil).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and provided advice and comments thereon.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

HLB has been re-appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect from
the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 27 June
2024 to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting
of the Company. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 were audited by HLB, who will retire at the conclusion of the
forthcoming 2025 annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer itself
for re-appointment as external auditor of the Company. The Company did not
change its auditor in any of the preceding three years.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions as set out in Note 43(c) to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 did not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules except for the key management compensation
referred to in Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements (which was fully
exempt pursuant to either Rule 14A.95 of the Listing Rules or the de minimis
exemption under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules).
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2025 annual general meeting is expected to be held in around late June
2025. Details will be notified in due course.

By order of the Board

Dr. ZHANG Chunlong
Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director

28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
B A RS

31/F, Gloucester Tower BB
HLB - lﬁr 3t fn Ak TR R ) The Landmark iR
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED = 1 s
11 Pedder Street ITEH15%
Central BES
Hong Kong ERTITRENE
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BAREKERBRLAGDRR

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tibet Water
Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “"Group”) set out on pages 85 to 247, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS") Accounting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BUKBERE

RRETER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were BB EF EEZ BB R MO T L HE - 2
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of ~ AU ABGAVERENBIRAEEN
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of ~ EB - EULEEEERFIEABLEHRAY
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion BHRENEEEAEETEEN - BMHAT
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. SHELEHERHEBNER

Impairment assessment of goodwill and investments accounted for using the ~ BB REAREREEARNBRERETE

equity method

Refer to Notes 18 and 19 in the consolidated financial statements FBLRGRAUBRERKT I8 K19

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
arising on acquisition of businesses through acquisition of
subsidiaries and investments accounted for using the equity
method as a key audit matter due to the significance of
the balance to the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, combined with the significant degree of judgments
made by the management of the Group associated with the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated and investments accounted for
using the equity method.

As at 31 December 2024, the investment in an associate
arose from the acquisition of Tibet Shannan Yalaxiangbu
Industrial Ltd. (“Shannan Yalaxiangbu”) amounted to
approximately RMB386,534,000 before any impairment
loss. An impairment loss of approximately RMB294,597,000
was recognised for the above investment in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu based on management’s impairment analysis.

As at 31 December 2024, the investment in an associate
arose from the acquisition of Tibet Highland Natural
Water Limited (“Highland Natural Water"”) amounted to
approximately RMB418,644,000 before any impairment
loss. An impairment loss of approximately RMB168,132,000
was recognised for the above investment in Highland
Natural Water based on management’s impairment analysis.

This conclusion was based on a value-in-use model that
required significant management judgement with respect
to the discount rate and the underlying cash flows, in
particular future revenue growth. An independent external
valuation was obtained in respect of the impairment
assessment on goodwill and investments accounted for
using the equity method in order to support management'’s
estimates.

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of goodwill and investments accounted for using
the equity method included:

o Evaluating the independent external valuers’ competence,
capabilities and objectivity;

o Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology, key assumptions and estimates used base
on our knowledge of the relevant industry and using our
valuation experts;

o Assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions based
on our knowledge of business and industry; and

. Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverable amount of cash-generating
units and investments accounted for using the equity method
and determine the impairment provision were supportable by
available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BUKBERE

Allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables and other financial EWRESZFRRUBGBRANENEMLERE

assets at amortised cost EENEESREE
Refer to Notes 21 and 24 in the consolidated financial statements BLHGAUBRRMT21 24

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded the trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost of
approximately RMB221,819,000 and RMB1,211,284,000
respectively before the loss allowance amounting to
approximately RMB87,475,000 and RMB47,086,000 has
been made on trade receivables and other financial assets at
amortised cost respectively.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and other financial
assets at amortised cost are based on management’s
estimate of the lifetime or 12-month expected credit
losses to be incurred, which is estimated by taking into
account the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade
receivables, customers’ and debtors’ repayment history,
collaterals and financial position and the assessment of both
the current and forecast general economic conditions, all of
which involve significant degree of management judgement
and estimation.

We focused on this area due to the use of significant
management judgements and estimates included in the
allowance for expected credit losses assessment of trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost
under the expected credit losses model involved.

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment on
provision for allowance for expected credit losses of trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost
included:

e Assessing whether items in the trade receivables ageing
report were classified within the appropriate ageing
bracket by comparing, on a sample basis, individual items
in the report with the relevant sales invoices and credit
terms;

J Assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates on trade receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost by examining the
information used by management to form such
judgements, including on a sample basis, testing the
accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current conditions and forward-
looking information and examining the actual losses
recorded during the current financial year; and

e Assessing the reasonableness of recoverability of trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost
with reference to historical utilisation pattern and credit
history of trade debtors including settlement records,
subsequent settlements and ageing analysis.

We found that the management judgment and estimates used
to assess the recoverability of the trade receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost and determine the allowance
for expected credit losses provision were supportable by
available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

Hitf5 8

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The SR GZEEBHEMESEE - HMES
other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but ~ B FEFHANE L EFBERA UK R
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report &R R MMZEMBKS ([HMER]) -

thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other ~ HFIHG AR KBENER LT TREH M
Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. EE BATTHZEFEMESEREM

FAMET SR o

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our ~ XK BT G M BREE > BHANET
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider ~ RHEEEMEL HEUHBIEF EEHM
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated ~ EERBEGAMBHRERKKMHESETB
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 2R FTEMNIBERFEE KB HEU
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,  FHEEZERERRANBR - ERHME
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, — HI{THIT{E - HHMAALEMEHAS

we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. RIFRBRE - BMEARSZEE B HK
PR B ERRE -
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BUKBERE

EENERER RS UBBERAEREN

B

ENREFARERBEKR G ERES
SRMNBIRMBEREERSHERRE
BARBRID R BERTRBEEEM+ A
MEAMBRE YHEZTRARARES
HBERENOBE N FEANMFERERD
BHNEANERRATFHAEHNAE -

EREEAVERRE EFRAN
ft EEEFELENRE N YEBERE
ATREESELLERENEE  URE
ARBREREFTER RIEFAER
EEEBRIFULLE FAEHLER
MBERTER-

=, = Bk
EREREEE

EEBUMBERERE -

REMBET RS MBERAENER

RMMBEE RHERBGAMBERRES
NEERRRFRERMETNEMNERX
HRLRGAIERE LER BTH
ABRAMBEROREAMBRSE Kbz
AFEREEMBLN HATERAKE
HARMEMEMALE ESAREMEE -

AERERRKTHRE EBTRRER
BREBMEAETHETER —ERNER
BRI FE RS AR RE B3R - SRR AT DA I IR
AESEERR Sl - MRS TR T I ME Bl X
ERERAGETEFAMBRREAEK
BERAMBRRAELNEERE  BIF
RRSA AR PR Al AR EE A

BERAERERAT | 82024 81



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BURBERE

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

82

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.
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. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safequards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BURBERE

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ AN BB REN B BEESEAE
report is Shek Lui.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited BEETMEERERAR
Certified Public Accountants HE A

Shek Lui azE

Practising Certificate Number: P05895 HEFEGRN : P05895

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025 BE —T-AF=A=-+tN\A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

M AL S22
:ﬁn""/'_l? SE= %:Z
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-WE+-A=+—-HIEFE

Notes 2024 2023
B 5E —E-MEF —E-=F
RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETTT
Revenue WA 7 225,811 314,428
Cost of sales SHER AR (164,630) (236,814)
Gross profit EA 61,181 77,614
Selling and distribution costs HERDIHER (63,000) (50,254)
Administrative expenses THEAR (76,806) (88,972)
Allowance for expected credit loss (“ECL") CREEEHEESE
on financial assets ([AHEERE] &k (47,726) (36,942)
Other gains, net Hih iz - 58 8 37,331 15,167
Operating loss REEE (89,020) (83,387)
Finance cost, net MISEBRH T8 9 (12,401) (2,118)
Share of result on investments accounted EIEF AR EARNIREXEE 19
for using the equity method (8,312) (263)
Impairment loss on investments accounted FREREARNRERERSS 19
for using the equity method (462,729) (261,145)
Loss before income tax BREESHRATER (572,462) (346,913)
Income tax expense FEHRER 10 (1,485) (5,954)
Loss for the year FEFE 1 (573,947) (352,867)
Loss for the year attributable to owners ~ AATREEABEEEEE
of the Company (573,947) (352,867)
Loss per share attributable to owners of ~ AARAEEAELEEBRER
the Company
- basic and diluted (RMB cents) - EXR#E(ARED) 13 (12.92) (8.97)
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in  Ft4RA 1B 25K & ELREPH B 7 — GHRIAE ©

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEeHtEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-ME+-A=+—-HIERE

Notes 2024 2023
B 5E “EMF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARETTT

Loss for the year FEER 11 (573,947) (352,867)
Other comprehensive income: Hip 2 E Uz
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently — #5717 & REJE # E 3 7 # 2

to profit or loss: BamiyEE -
Exchange differences on translation from HEEERE A2 EERN

functional currency to presentation currency [ R ZE%R 1,678 13,802
Other comprehensive income FEHMEEKES  MEBRHE

for the year, net of tax 1,678 13,802
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXEBBRAR (572,269) (339,065)

Total comprehensive loss attributable FRRABEEARELZEBELAR
to owners of the Company (572,269) (339,065)

The above consolidated statement of other comprehensive income should be il 43 & H b % 8 4e 25 5% & E2 BA BT T 55 —
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. FRIE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ma AR R

As at 31 December 2024

RZEZME+=A=+—H

Notes 2024 2023
P % “E-MF T
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETFT
Non-current assets (RBEE
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 25,838 27,779
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE
("PP&E") (% BERRE]) 16 313,496 332,894
Intangible assets BEEE 17 21,483 24,679
Goodwill GRS 18 721,139 721,139
Investments accounted for using FERAEREARNKE
the equity method 19 741,527 1,215,508
Deferred tax assets BEXERBEE 20 2,080 2,143
Prepayments R HIE 23 - 4,756
Total non-current assets FRBDEERASE 1,825,563 2,328,898
Current assets REBEE
Inventories (3 25 72,142 118,730
Trade receivables JEWE 5K 21 134,344 181,898
Loan receivables JEWE R 22 1,838 75,369
Prepayments Taft#Ia 23 187,646 251,938
Other financial assets at amortised cost N#B AT ENEtbeRmEE 24 1,164,198 1,006,965
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBeEED 26 121,767 21,758
Total current assets REEEARE 1,681,935 1,656,658
Current liabilities nEEE
Trade and notes payables ENEZRNENEE 27 130,676 153,940
Deferred revenue EEWA 28 1,267 2,374
Contract liabilities aR8E 29 123,002 17,061
Tax payable e 31,218 31,526
Accruals and other payables BIREAREAMEMR 30 217,440 160,862
Bank and other borrowings BITRE M E 31 578,057 372,500
Convertible bonds - liability component BRER-BEHSD 32 - 321,354
Lease liabilities HERE 15 890 1,110
Total current liabilities RBEEARE 1,082,550 1,060,727
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RERBRRE

As at 31 December 2024

RZEZME+-_A=+—H

Notes 2024 2023

i3 —E-NE —E-=F

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET R ARETTT

Net current assets REBEERHE 599,385 595,931

Total assets less current liabilities MEERARBER 2,424,948 2,924,829
Non-current liabilities kRBEE

Bank and other borrowings RIT M EMER 31 32,000 54,000

Deferred revenue EEWA 28 7,752 9,019

Deferred tax liabilities REHIAGE 20 5,176 4,977

Lease liabilities HEAE 15 60 1,072

Total non-current liabilities FREBEBEAE 44,988 69,068

Net assets FEE 2,379,960 2,855,761
Capital and reserves EXREE

Share capital [N 33 38,929 34,388

Reserves i 2,341,031 2,821,373

Total equity attributable to owners ERARBEEARLEERERE
of the Company 2,379,960 2,855,761

The consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 247 are approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and are

signed on its behalf by:

CHOW Wai Kit B &£
Director E&

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

N
mEEREER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-_NE+-AZ+-ALEE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

KREEEAEL
Shares held
for share Other
Share Share award reserves Retained
capital premium scheme (Note 35) eanings Total equity
RRAKE R fte
R& RiEE ERENRG (H&E35) REEF BRER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARET R ARET R ARET R ARBTR ARBT R
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-g-zE-A-RRkE 25,580 1,407,029 (173,03) 152,111 1,447,777 2,859,460
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (352,867) (352,867)
Other comprehensive income: A REME -
Exchange differences on translation & & MAE B2 HIEHH
from functional currency to EREE
presentation currency - - - 13,802 - 13,802
Total comprehensive ERZEFELE
loss for the year - - - 13,802 (352,867) (339,065)
Share issued upon completion TR ERERTHRE (HE33)
of right issue (Note 33) 8,808 330,300 - - - 339,108
Transaction costs attributable upon  TACEREEEZ HHA
completion of right issue - (3,742) - - - (3,742)
Balance at 31 December 2023and ~ R=B-=f+-A=+-REK
1 January 2024 “ECME-A-RMEHR 34,388 1,733,587 (173,037) 165,913 1,094,910 2,855,761
Loss for the year ENEE - - - - (573,947) (573,947)
Other comprehensive income: A2 ENE:
Exchange differences on translation BN SHAE AR EEH
from functional currency to EiER
presentation currency = = = 1,678 = 1,678
Total comprehensive EREEFEER
loss for the year - - - 1,678 (573,947) (572,269)
Convertible bond-equity MakES-ERDH (W:E32)
components (Note 32) - 17917 - (17,917) - -
Share issued upon completion of TREENRAEEIORG
placing of new shares 4,541 94,464 - - - 99,005
Transaction costs attributable to RENRAEENRSRA
placing of new shares - (2,793) - - - (2,793)
Convertible bond - equity MakEF-ERDH (WiE32)
component (Note 32) - - - 256 - 256
Convertible bond-equity akEF-EESH (WE32)
component (Note 32) - 256 - (256) - -
Balance at 31 December 2024 RZBZOE+ZB=t-BH
&8 38,929 1,843,431 (173,037) 149,674 520,963 2,379,960
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in LR G R ¥ B R e BARE T BT o — OFBOGE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

mROKEFERAT | £82024 89



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= =1
MERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-ME+-A=+—-HIERE

Notes 2024 2023
P —E-NME bl St 2
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETFT
Cash flow from operating activities RETHAESR
Loss before income tax BR TS TLATE 1B (572,462) (346,913)
Adjustments for: A
Impairment loss on investments accounted PRAEREARNRER
for using the equity method B E 18 462,729 261,145
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 11 1,892 2,088
Depreciation of PP&E Y WENMIBITE 11 31,039 53,739
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHE 11 3,196 3,211
Amortisation of deferred income I PN 5! 8 (2,374) (2,374)
Finance income BRI A 9 (31,270) (37,486)
Finance cost B8 H 9 43,671 39,604
Share of result of investments FEL i a5 ABRAY
accounted for using the equity method REXE 19 8,312 263
Gain on disposal of PP&E HENE - BE RZERR 8 (236) (127)
Allowance for expected credit loss CREAERHEEREER 11
on financial assets 47,726 36,942
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHNEB QR 8 (16,524) -
Write-down of inventories 7 EHOR 8 1,011 436
Operating cash flows before movement in ZEE B EHANELER SR
working capital (23,290) 10,528
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,/(3Em) 45,323 (12,628)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables EUWE ST,/ (8 m) 4,306 (15,084)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TBRRIE - e RIABERBRK AR
deposits and other financial assets FTENHEMEREE
at amortised cost w,/ () 77,348 (71,179)
Decrease/(increase) in loan receivables ERETRL /(1) 74,253 (71,873)
Decrease in trade and notes payable ERESRNEMNZERD (23,264) (92,978)
Increase/(decrease) in accruals and EREAREMENK
other payables #0 Gl 47,668 (28,260)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities cRaEEN,/ Crd) 106,796 (17,723)
Cash generated from/(used in) RETHELE (A MWES
from operations 309,140 (299,197)
Interest received B UFE 30,945 26,291
Interest paid B FLE (22,235) (9,221)
Income taxes paid B ETEH (1,364) (10,223)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in)  REFEHEE (FFH) K
from operating activities HEeERTHE 316,486 (292,350)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

Notes 2024 2023
P & —BomE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHRER
Purchases of PP&E BEME BERRK (6,963) (14,094)
Proceeds from disposal of PP&E HEWME - BERREMERT 236 137
Addition of investment in an associate BN —fEEE R ARRE - (33,000)
Loans granted to third parties BFHE=FHE (192,496) (82,704)
Repayments received from loans to BURE=ZFETER
third parties 112,540 73,318
Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary ~HE—FEHBARMNERE S AL FE 36 (909) -
Acquisition of investment held to maturity WEREEIHRE (100,000) -
Dividend income received B iR BB A 2,940 -
Net cash flows used in investing activities REZEBMARSHFE (184,652) (56,343)
Cash flows from financing activities MEZTHRER
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings R1IT M EMIE S RIE 39 409,000 444,500
Repayments of bank and other borrowings BERITREAMER 39 (453,099) (470,000)
Loans from third parties BEE=FEX 39 44,093 16,620
Repayment of loans to third parties BEFE=ZFEXR 39 (22,158) (12,832)
Payments of lease liabilities HEBBENZK 39 (1,237) (1,449)
Repayment of convertible bonds BERABRES 32 (105,714) -
Proceeds from issue of shares RIFHREITRG
pursuant to right issues T8 RA = 339,108
Proceeds from issue of new shares RBERHESETHRNG
pursuant to share placing FT{8 3R 99,005 -
Transaction cost attributable to BITRMDEEHR HK A
issue of shares (2,793) (3,742)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from  BWEEE (FrA) FHEBNERER
financing activities BEE (32,903) 312,205
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BeRBELZEEYD
cash equivalents 2,/ GRd) BE 98,931 (36,488)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FOReRBELEED
of year 21,758 58,147
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [EXZ & T 255 1,078 99
Cash and cash equivalents ERAECRBRLSEEY
at end of year 26 121,767 21,758
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction  LEALERG I & & R FEELREMTHY o — GBI o

with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-A=+-HILFE

92

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law as an exempted company with limited liability on
8 November 2010. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is engaged
in production and sales of water products and beer products in PRC and
provision of lending services to third parties in Hong Kong with relevant
license.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange since
30 June 2011.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
different from the Company’s functional currency HKD. The Directors
adopted RMB as presentation currency as the operational entities are
located in the PRC.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendment to IFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current
Amendments to |AS1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
Amendments to
IAS 7 and IFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in
the current year has had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in issued but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to IFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Amendments to IFRS9  Amendments to the Classification and

and IFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments?
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture'
Amendments to Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting

IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 113

Standards

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

The Directors anticipate that the application of the all other new and
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRENE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHEZ

2A.

94

ZMETZA=T—RILEFE

CHANGES OF ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Change in estimated useful lives of Property, plant and equipment

In previous years, useful lives of machinery was estimated at 5-15 years.
With effect from 1 January 2024, certain machinery has been depreciated
at 5-25 years. The change is due to the management'’s reassessment of
the actual machinery conditions and usage and production patterns.

This change in useful lives of machinery has decreased the depreciation
charge for the year by approximately RMB19,529,000.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards (which include all International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“l1ASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by IASB. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if
such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the

historical cost basis, except for the financial assets at FVTPL and the
financial assets at FVTOCI, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share based payment transactions that are within
the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described
as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

GERBBRNGEREERERS
ATBORER (2)

FENBBROEHEE (X
LAREBERMH2EENFERRE
BURFRZFHEEERNNLEZR
BERIN 2 ER MAwmZERE
CAEERBRAEBEMEET A
HfEE - REFFEERABZARE
BN AEEQERREMH2EE
Rt ERHEESREEERME
REEFRBZHH ERFHEAY
BRERDHER /ARENDAEE
B bR E T AT - R R
REERFE 2R BERNKE
BANKRDSERNRR S - BRHT
BRELENE16FEERENNTE
EXG REQAAEBEABEETHEMU
LD RBENGE (WEES
ATRAE 2R F MR # R FENE
RE ERIF 365 EERMENER
B{E) BRI

peoN BN BEREZBEN DB
EFfERBEASLEEFENBAER
BENEEMBABHRAREENE
ERNEEN #ORF R F-
MAFE= - HAWT :

. FRBAEREERE
AR ESHNEREELR
BEEEZRMS EMRE (K

RHE)

. F_RBAEERFE AN
HImES JTERIEEE
REWMBELRBENEAE:
&

. F-RBAEREERERE
MAABEMNBAL

BERAEREMAT | 82024 95



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and
its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has the power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies used into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash

flows relating to transactions between the members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group's and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are derecognised.
A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable IFRS). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM").
The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the
steering committee that makes strategic decisions.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue producing
outputs, including an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes or they
significantly contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs and
are considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without significant
cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquire and the equity interest
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual Framework
except for transactions and events within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or IFRIC-Int 21 Levies, in
which the Group applies IAS 37 or IFRIC-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except
that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance
with IFRS 2 Share-based payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discounted Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value
of the remaining lease payments (as defined in IFRS 16 Leases) as if
the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-
of-use assets are recognised and measured at the same amount
as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with market
terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after reassessment,
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration that
qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively,
with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the 'measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed
at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the
contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and
its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to
fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value
at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control),
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income and measured under
IFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during
the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of
the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of cash generating units)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating segment.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill (continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating
units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-
generating unit within the group of cash-generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of
the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of
an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-generating
unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the
operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of
the cash generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained,
unless the Group can demonstrate the same other method reflects the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate
and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence
and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continuea)

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are
incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of
accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale,
in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Noncurrent
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Any retained portion
of an investment in an associate or a joint venture that has not been
classified as held for sale continues to be accounted for using the equity
method. The financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate
or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint
venture other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group's share of losses of an
associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group's net investment in the associate or joint venture),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate
or joint venture.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continuea)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
investment in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continuea)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate
or joint control over or joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial instrument, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest
in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on
the same basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain
or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon
disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture
that are not related to the Group.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group's interests in associates and joint ventures

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in
an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an investment
in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities.

Acquisition of additional interest in associates or joint ventures

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an associate or a joint
venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, goodwill
is recognised at acquisition date if there is excess of the consideration
paid over the share of carrying amount of net assets attributable to the
additional interests in associates or joint ventures acquired. Any excess
of share of carrying amount of net assets attributable to the additional
interests in associates or joint ventures acquired over the consideration
paid are recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the
additional interest are acquired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when "control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs;

ii. the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

ii. the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.
A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or

services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued)

(a) Sales of goods — wholesale

The Group manufactures and sells a range of water products and beer
products in the wholesale market. The Group also sells raw materials
and consumables to associates and third parties. Sales are recognised
at a point in time when control of the products has transferred, being
when the products are delivered to the customers, the customers have
full discretion over the channel and price to sell the products, and there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers' acceptance
of the products. Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped
to the specified location; the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customers.

(b)  Sales of goods — water cards

Sales of water products to certain distributors or end customers are made
in form of water cards. Under the Water Cards Sales Arrangement with
the distributors, the distributors sell the water cards to the end customers
and use the logistics network, which is designed by the Group with
the Group's long-term cooperative logistics suppliers, to deliver water
products to the designated locations at the request of the end customers
when the water cards are redeemed before the expiry dates; and relevant
logistics expenses are charged to the Group. Sales of goods under the
Water Cards Sales Arrangement are deferred as the Group has ultimate
obligations towards the card holders. Sales of goods under the Water
Cards Sales Arrangement are recognised at a point in time when the
water cards are redeemed by the end customers and the water products
are delivered, or when the water cards are expired, whichever is earlier.

(¢) Interest income

The Group provides money lending services to third parties in Hong
Kong with relevant license and earns interest as revenue. Related interest
income is recognised in a time proportion basis using effective interest
method.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued)

(d)  Rental income

Rental income from leasing of production lines is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed. As a practical expedient, leases
with similar characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when the
Group reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from individual leases within the
portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of premises and office equipment that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-
of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;
o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value

guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

J the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review/expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

. a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease (see below for the accounting
policy for “lease modification”).

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope
and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications (continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease
incentives from lessor by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative standalone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to
the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under IFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the
original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease modifications,
including lease incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

For rent concession under which the Group legally releases the lessee
from its obligation to make specifically identified lease payment, of which
some of these lease payments are contractually due but not paid and
some of them are not yet contractually due, the Group accounts for the
portions which have been recognised as operating lease receivables (i.e.
the lease payments which are contractually due but not paid) by applying
the ECL and derecognition requirements under IFRS 9 and applies lease
modification requirements for the forgiven lease payments that the
Group has not recognised (i.e. the lease payments which are not yet
contractually due) as at the effective date of modification.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entities,
transactions in currencies other than functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences on
monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for
which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to
profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s interests in
associates.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Income and expense items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
a currency translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in a currency
translation reserve in respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss. Settlements of monetary items which formed part of net investment
in foreign operations without changes in Group’s ownership interests is
not considered as partial disposals.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Group's net
assets in HKD to the Group's presentation currency (i.e. RMB) are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
currency translation reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated
in the currency translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset
is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general borrowing
pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and
that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis
over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets (including
property, plant and equipment) are recognised as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants relate to income that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
Such grants are presented under “Other gains, net” line item.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Termination benefit costs

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when
the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination
benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages
and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits
are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities" carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
another IFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)

The employee benefit expenses mainly include salary, bonus, allowances
and other expenditures incurred in exchange for the employee services.
All employee benefit obligations are recognised during the period when
the services are provided, and charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss or included in the cost of the related assets.

(@)  Pension obligations — defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does
not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.

For Long services payment obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offset as a deemed employee
contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of IAS 19.93(a) and
it is measure on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit is
determined after deducting the negative service cost arising from the
accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have
been vested with employees, which are deemed to be contributions from
the relevant employees.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)
(b)  Housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in various
government-supervised housing funds, medical insurance and other
employee social insurance plan. The Group contributes on a monthly
basis to these funds based on certain percentages of the salaries of the
employees, subject to certain ceilings. The Group’s liability in respect of
these funds is limited to the contributions payable in each period.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and other providing
similar services are measured at fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at
the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
to profit or loss on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share held for share award scheme).
At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of
all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the shares held for share
award scheme.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in the shares held for share award scheme will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in the shares held for share award scheme will be transferred
to retained earnings.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)
When shares granted are vested, the amount previously recognised in
share-based payments reserve will be transferred to other reserve.

Taxation
The income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expense.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from net profit as reported in profit or loss because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting
date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in
which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12 requirements to the
lease liabilities, and the related assets separately. The Group recognises
a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Current tax and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
cost less accumulated impairment losses of each asset to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 12-40 years

Machinery 5 to 25 years (FY2023: 5 to 15 years)
Vehicles 3 to 8 years

Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years

Others 10 to 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds
with the carrying amount and are recognised within “Other gains, net”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

CIP represents buildings, plant and machinery under construction or
pending installation and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of construction and acquisition and
capitalised borrowing costs. No provision for depreciation is made on
CIP until such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready for
intended use. When the assets concerned are available for use, the costs
are transferred to property, plant and equipment and depreciated in
accordance with the policy as stated above.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses, if any. Depreciation is
recognised so as to write off the cost of investment properties over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated
residual values using the straight-line method.

Investment property is transferred to owner-occupied property when
there is a change in use as evidenced by the commencement of owner
occupation. Owner-occupied property is transferred to investment
property when there is a change in use as evidenced by end of owner-
occupation.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are recognise initially at their fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Trade name

Trade name acquired in a business combination is recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. Trade name has a finite useful life and is carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trade name over their
estimated useful lives of 18.2 years.

Distribution network

Distribution network acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The distribution network has a finite
useful life of 8 years and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the
expected life of the distribution network.

Information system

Information system acquired in a business combination is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. The information system has a finite
useful life of 5 years and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the
expected life of the information system.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination (continuead)
Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses
arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not
generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets excluding goodwill (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of
financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions
that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with
original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

GERBBRNGEREERERS
ATBORER (2)

ME - BERERE ERAREERER
EE (BERMNREE)

WGt BE (IR ELEN) 2R
MeBEIREREE BE (KB
ELEM) 2FREETHAEZENKE
LR REBRBERNERER -

R EBENERER  AZREE
(ZREELEM) CRAESENE
HERHBZ AT ARE 5 - HEm
EMEAEISBLRRAEFEYL
ERZREE (IR ELEM) BR
BEBREREET < KEE - ME
BRBEEERERED -

RERREEEY
REGHBRAKRZINRE MRS
EENRE:

@ Re HeRFERIIH
BFROATERXEERMME
REBERTBNAHAETESR
HRITAEH « &

b) ReFEY EHEEEHCER
REMARS=@EAXERE) - 7]
BRERAACHAERSEE
EEPRERIANTRIY LR
E-ReSENKEREEH
ReafE MEABRKRELE
fb B A

RERRERERME REkRe

FENERLXEENRERAES

BERAERERAT | £H2024 129



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HECZ

130

METZA=T-ALFR

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made by the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events
and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from
past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation
cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability is not recognised
but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is
probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

GERBBRNGEREERERS
ATBORER (2)

e
FERKARAZRFEFAREE
DR - FERAE A IEFDEET
ARRFERFENGTEERTK
KB TR AR B HERA
ETHEMRNKABRHEERE
HRERARAREBETHERES
HOFESB S AAS -

BE
EAKERBEFRBAERBAML
CEEHEE)  MARBERAIELFE

TZEEREAEGFTETYRFHA
E? B BTERRE -

BRAARBNCEASNBEHARMLE
BREEEMBABHRERT &
hEREINEZ B ERENERER &R
FTHEE - fMBHEN G EFREET
WREREFE AEREERZF
RenEmiE(HEeRHEETE
BEX) -

FREE
FRBBRIERBENFZHENT
RFEERTNELT HEFEREH—
R EARRER TR 2R H AR
XT%EE%E% VRERETE - K

BEGAEEANBEFAMEL
Wﬁﬁ B EERZEETKARE
SIEEBEERNAEAZEESEN
RS E Rt EERKER
REBE-IREEITHRR  EELS
AMBHRROMETRE - BBERE
BUBAEELESRL T EER
B



BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the
financial assets; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application/initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are
required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)
(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured
at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised on other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit
or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred to
retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of
the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “Other gains,
net” line item in profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
“Other gains, net” line item.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
financial assets which are subject to impairment assessment under IFRS
9 (including trade receivables, loan receivables, other financial asset at
amortised cost, restricted bank deposits and cash at bank). The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables without
significant financing component. The ECL on trade receivables with
significant balances or credit impaired are assessed individually and the
remaining trade receivables are assessed collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate age groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument'’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes
that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a
party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in
the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee contracts,
the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

(i) Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default
for internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience
indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following criteria
are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

J information developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral held
by the Group).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Definition of default (continued)

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers a financial asset
in default when contractual payments are 180 days past due. The Group
has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of default based on
reasonable and supportable information, including the Group’s credit risk
control practices and the historical recovery rate of financial assets over
90 days past due. However, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

(i)~ Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii)
above);

. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider;

. it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation;

e the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties; or

e the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discounts
that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made
are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance with
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected
losses is the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective interest
rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount rate that
reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent
that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the discount rate
instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the below basis:

. Nature of financial instruments;

. Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in which case

interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial
asset.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised at
the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with IFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds

received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group
has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest

in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and
deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and notes payables, accruals and other
payables, bank borrowings and lease liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

GERBBRNGEREERERS
ATBORER (2)

EWMIE(E)

cHEERER

SR EBA Em

REEEERT 2 EERESTAR
BREIUEHNTHELARTURERA
BELRERTIAZEZNEAEREE
g £

o

N

fm

#ExnITA
Ban TEEREARERRNTIKRME
B BERHRARSER 2ER
BH  ARNBEIT R TATIRE
WER AT 1S R IB N B TR AR o

m

BROARRAG 2GS TAGERER

%\%ﬂ&mﬁ HMERBE  HE -
TREHARRAGF 2 ESETAM

BATE SRR R EE o

THBEE
AETREBEARRAERNEER
R AT E »

BESKATENEHE E
BRENESFRENRE ARE
%&E@%Hr RITEFREER
EMERAEERERBERNELER
BEERAAGE -




BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continuead)

Financial quarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to

make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair
values and measured subsequently at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with
IFRS 9; and

o the amount recognised initially less, where appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Convertible loan notes

The component parts of the convertible loan notes are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option that will
be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an
equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component (including
any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is estimated by measuring
the fair value of similar liability that does not have an associated equity
component.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Convertible loan notes (continued)

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting the

amount of the liability component from the fair value of the compound
instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net
of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition,
the conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity until the
conversion option is exercised, in which case, the balance recognised in
equity will be transferred to share premium. Where the conversion option
remains unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible note, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share premium. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan notes
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to the
allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to
the liability component are included in the carrying amount of the liability
portion and amortised over the period of the convertible loan notes using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continuead)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities (continued)

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument

into another one with the substantially different terms, such exchange is
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and
the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Group accounts
for substantial modification of terms of an existing liability or part of it
as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition
of a new liability. It is assumed that the terms are substantially different
if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms,
including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the
original effective rate is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. If the modification is not substantial, the difference between: (1)
the carrying amount of the liability before the modification; and (2) the
present value of the cash flows after modification is recognised in profit
or loss as the modification gain or loss within other gains and losses.

Share capital and shares held for share award scheme
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where the Company’s shares are acquired from the market by the Bank
of Communications Trust Limited for share option scheme, the total
consideration of shares acquired from the market (including directly
attributable incremental costs) is presented as shares held for share
award scheme.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the
Group if that person:
() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group or
the Company’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

() The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HEZZ-WET_A=T-HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. GEUBBRNGREEREES

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION SHRERER (&)

(CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued) BEAL(E)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions (b) fWfFFETIEMGEHE  BZE
applies: (continued) BEAEELHEE: (&)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) ZEBXQ@BZATH
identified in (a). 12 | o F R R )

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the (i) @N)EAZ ALTHZER
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of BEARENIRATA
the entity (or of a parent of the entity). ZEE (FZEEBNEN

ANEEEEEKE -

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, (vii) ZERSEMBEBE T
provides key management personnel services to the Group or MKEMASERAEE
to the parent of the Group. ZEARRMTIEZERE

ANBRH -

Close members of the family of a person are those family members ZERATZREARATERE

who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person SREHERIFHIAEBAL

in their dealings with the entity. HXEFEIRIEKE °

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when MM 2 MERERELET

there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related ROGERRAMAIRS

parties.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting
estimates, which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

(@) Depreciation

The Group's management determines the residual value, useful lives
and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual residual
value and useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. It could change significantly as a result of technical
innovations and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles.
Management will increase the depreciation charge where residual
value or useful lives are less than previous estimates, or it will write-off
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold. The current estimated useful lives are stated in Note 3.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@) Depreciation (continued)

During the year 31 December 2024, the Group has reviewed the useful
lives of machinery, following a review of the actual utilization and
production situation of the Group’s machineries related to the beer
production, the Group has revised the estimated useful lives of certain of
its property, plant and equipment with effect from 1 January 2024.

2024 2023

Machinery 5-25 years 5-15 years

(b)  Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant
judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact on the recognition of deferred tax assets and
taxation in the periods in which such estimates are changed.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Income taxes (continued)

Dividends derived from the Company's subsidiaries in the PRC earned
after 1 January 2008 are subject to withholding tax at the rate of 5%-
10%. The Group reassessed its needs to make distributions out of its
subsidiaries in the PRC. As a result, withholding income tax has been
provided for the undistributed profits to the extent they are expected to
be distributed in future.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences are
recognised as management considers it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

()  Impairment review
()  Gooawill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary - Tiandi Green
(Note 18)

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated,
which is the higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal.
The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit (or a group
of cash-generating units) and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision of discount
rate, a material impairment loss or further impairment loss may arise.

The goodwill of approximately RMB721,139,000 was generated from
acquisition of a controlling stake in Tiandi Green in 2014. Tiandi Green
was viewed as one CGUs within the beer segment. The recoverable
amount of the CGUs is determined based on value-in-use calculations,
which is based on discounted cash flow sourced from the financial
budgets approved by the management covering a 5-year period, and
the pre-tax discount rate of approximately 15.60% (2023: 15.90%) that
reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the CGUs. Cash flows beyond 5-year period have been
extrapolated using 2.0% (2023: 2.2%) growth rate per annum. Other
assumptions included budgeted income estimated based on the past
performance and management'’s expectations of market developments,
etc.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@  Impairment review (continued)
()  Gooawill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary — Tiandi Green
(Note 18) (continued)

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amount of
goodwill. Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not result in impairment. As such,
no impairment loss had been recognised for the goodwill arising from
acquisition of Tiandi Green for the year ended 31 December 2024.

(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water

As at 31 December 2024, in view of the operating performance of
the associate — High Natural Water, the Group performed impairment
assessment on the associate — High Natural Water. Determining whether
impairment loss should be recognised requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the relevant associate which is the higher of
value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial estimates
covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of approximately
13.89% (2023: approximately 14.08%). The cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 2.0% (2023: 2.2%)
growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows are less or more than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which result in revision
of future cash flows estimation or discount, a material reversal or further
recognition of impairment may arise, which would be recognised in profit
or loss for the period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes
place.

The recoverable amount is below the carrying amount of investment
in Highland Natural Water. Management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would result in impairment.
As such, impairment loss of RMB168,132,000 had been recognised
for the investment in Highland Natural Water for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@  Impairment review (continued)
(iii)  Investment in an associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu

As at 31 December 2024, in view of the operating performance of the
associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu, the Group performed impairment
assessment on the associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu. Determining
whether impairment loss should be recognised requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of the relevant associate which is the higher of
value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial estimates
covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of approximately
13.75% (2023: 14.00%). The cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a steady 2.0% (2023: 2.2%) growth rate. In cases
where the actual cash flows are less or more than expected, or change
in facts and circumstances which result in revision of future cash flows
estimation or discount rate, a material reversal or further recognition of
impairment may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.

The recoverable amount is below the carrying amount of investment
in Shannan Yalaxiangbu. Management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would result in impairment.
As such, impairment loss of RMB294,597,000 had been recognised for
the investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu for the year ended 31 December
2024.

(iv) Trade receivables, loan receivables, other financial assets at
amortised cost

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables, loan receivables, other financial
assets at amortised cost are based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group's past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d)  Provision for financial guarantee contracts

The Group makes estimate on costs required to fulfil the relevant
obligation of guarantee contracts when the guaranteed amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Such estimation is based
on the available information as at reporting date and is determined by
the Group's practical experience, the default history, the collateral held
and financial position of relevant customers assessed on an individual
basis in the industry and taking into consideration of industry information
and market data. Where the actual obligation the Group requires to
fulfill is more than expected, a material provision may arise. Amount of
corporate guarantee provided by the Group is disclosed in Note 5.1(c)(ii).

(e) Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible asset

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets

stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any.

In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise

judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:

(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the
asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued
use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use assets),
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
assets belong. Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are approximately
RMB313,496,000, RMB25,838,000 and RMB21,483,000 respectively.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise and monitor potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance in a timely and effective manner.

5.1  Financial risk factors

(@) Market risk

(1)) Currency risk

The functional currency of a majority of the entities within the Group
is RMB and most of the transactions are settled in RMB. However, the
Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from its transactions,
which are primarily denominated in HKD.

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group monitors foreign exchange
exposure and may consider hedging significant foreign exchange
exposure should the need arises.

As at 31 December 2024, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5%
against HKD with all other variables held constant, the total net assets
of the Group would have been approximately RMB12,819,000 (2023:
RMB12,902,000) higher/lower respectively, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange translation of the consolidated financial statements for the
Company and its Hong Kong subsidiary whose functional currency
is HK; the post-tax loss for the year would have been approximately
RMB2,797,000 (2023: RMB2,270,000) lower/higher.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1  Financial risk factors (continued)

(@)  Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group currently does not have interest rate hedging policy. However,
management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to bank and cash balances and
borrowings which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates. During
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's borrowings at
variable rates were mainly denominated in RMB. At 31 December 2024, if
interest rates on floating-rate borrowings had been 5% higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, post tax profit for the year would have
been approximately RMB 1,368,000 (2023: RMB Nil) lower/higher, mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating-rate borrowings.

At 31 December 2024, the Group has bank and other borrowings
amounting to approximately RMB574,057,000 (2023: RMB426,500,000)
and borrowings from third parties amounting to approximately
RMB45,177,000 (2023: RMB8,796,000) at fixed interest rates and these
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. As at 31 December
2024, the carrying amounts of bank and other borrowings, borrowings
from third parties with fixed interest rates approximated their fair value
due to their short tenures and the influence of fair value interest rate risk
is marginal.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1  Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)  Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash at
bank, restricted bank deposits, trade receivables, loan receivables and
other financial assets at amortised cost. The carrying amounts represent
the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to those
financial assets. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

(1) Cash at bank and restricted bank deposits

Substantially all of the Group’s cash at bank and restricted bank deposits
are held in major financial institutions located in the PRC and Hong
Kong, which management believes are of high credit quality. There was
no recent history of default of cash at bank and restricted bank deposits
from such financial institutions/authorities. The management considers
the credit risk is insignificant and no loss allowance was recognised.

(i) Trade receivables

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit
scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and
defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to
customers are reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In this regard, the management considers that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 20.6% (2023: 17.2%) and
68.9% (2023: 64.6%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest customer and the five largest customers, respectively.
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and credit
approvals.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1  Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)  Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade receivables (continued)

The Group has trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer
products. For the trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer
products, the Group perform impairment assessment under ECL model
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance. And the Group uses two
categories which reflect their credit risk, and how the receivables loss
allowance is determined for each of those categories. For customers
suffered financial difficulties, the Group recognised as Category 1, and
for the other customers, the Group recognised as Category 2.

For trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer products, the
expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over the
past years and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has identified
the China Gross Domestics Products to be the most relevant factor, and
accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in
these factors.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. BMERKBEREE)

5.1  Financial risk factors (continuea) 51 BBEMEERE)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) b) EERREE)
(i) Trade receivables (continued) (i) ENEZ#(E)
On that basis, the loss allowance for trade receivables as at 31 December EHEBRE R_T_MER=-F
2024 and 2023 was determined as follows: “T=ZF+ZRA=+—H EKREFR

WEEREETDT

Category 2
ot
More than

Within 1year  1-2years 2 years
31 December 2024 “BIMETZAZT-HB  Category | Current  pastdue  pastdue pastdue Total
-8 P8 BE-Fh AH-EZWE QMBBME @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTR AR%Tn ARMTR ARBTR ARET:x

Expected loss rate JELIEEP R 100% 8.74% 25.62% 37.40% 100%
Gross carrying amount FEEE - 76,642 50,968 42317 51,892 221,819
Loss allowance BERR - 6,697 13,056 15,830 51,892 87,475
Category 2
5B
More than

Within 1 year 1-2 years 2 years
31 December 2023 ZEZZETZRET-B Category ! Current past due past due past due Total
5B P8 BE-5h RB-ZMF ARBAEME @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Expected loss rate BHEAX 100% 9.82% 21.96% 4163% 68.54%
Gross carrying amount REEE - 117,682 27,933 60,605 59,100 265,320
Loss allowance BRAER - 11,551 6,133 25229 40,509 83,422
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1  Financial risk factors (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)
(i) Trade receivables (continued)

The movement of loss allowances for trade receivables is as follows:
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(i) [EREZH (&)

YRS FNEBEREREEHNT

RMB’000

AR¥T R

Balance at 1 January 2023 RZT_=F—A—BH&R 94,099

Provision of impairment loss during the year FAREBERE 23,685

Written-off s (34,362)
Balance at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZ-ZE-=F+-F=+—HR

—E-MFE-A—HNEH 83,422

Provision of impairment loss during the year FAREBERE 43,248

Written-off Hh g5 (39,195)

Balance at 31 December 2024 R-ZB-MNE+-A=Z+—-HNEH 87,475

Trade receivables are written off where there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group, where information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1  Financial risk factors (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)
(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition
of an asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with
the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition by considering
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information and the
following indicators:

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
change to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

- actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of
the borrower; and

- significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the group and changes in the operating results of the
borrower.

Other financial assets at amortised cost are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a borrower failing to engage
in a repayment plan with the Group where information indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. The Group categorises an other financial asset at amortised
cost for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual payments and
long past due, and the aforementioned information indication of the
debtor in severe financial difficulty. Where an other financial asset at
amortised cost have been written off, the Group continues to engage
in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where
recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRENE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HEZZ-WET_A=T-HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEREREE)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 51 BERBERE)

(b)  Credit risk (continued) b) EEREE)

(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) (i) NEBSEEAGTENE M HE
E ()

The Group uses three categories for those receivables which reflect their AEERZEZRKFKIEER=EE

credit risk and how the loss allowance is determined for each of those [ B E A= B R B DA K% 40 ] B 5 35 = R

*E/”ulJE’JTEﬁE%’éﬁ XFAEERBE
EFREANKRRBADT :

categories. A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group’s ECL
model is as follows:

Category Company definition of category Basis for recognition of loss allowance

5l ERAREHNERNER BRBEABREBNEE

Performing Receivables whose credit risk is in line with 12 month expected losses. Where the expected

original expectations lifetime of an asset is less than 12 months,

expected losses are measured at its lifetime ECL
(stage 1)

E® 1= B b 82 R 98 58 — B0 R AR 12EAAERER - HRBEHEFERE12EAR
MEE BHRBRLXREZHRBEEER(F1

Underperforming

2D

Non-performing
(credit impaired)

TR (EERE)

Write-off

Receivables for which a significant increase
has occurred compared to original
expectations; a significant increase in credit
risk is presumed if interest and/or principal
repayments are 30 days past due

B[R 8 48 £ 15 5 o B 2 42 ) B WK
WHER/ A EFGHIH - ﬁlﬁﬁm

=B R EE M

Interest and/or principal repayments are 180
days past due or it becomes probable a
customer will enter bankruptcy

MER/SAEEHBHIBOBXEFEA
REARERF

Interest and/or principal repayments are
long past due and there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, and where
information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery
SR/ ECERBHACA - BABEH

EEWE - ARBEEHBREBATER
EEM%I%EH,@%EW&@TW

PRER):T 2
Lifetime ECL (stage 2)

EHBRHMEERR(F 2B

Lifetime ECL (stage 3)

EHBRHMEERR (F3RER)

Amount is written off
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1  Financial risk factors (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)
(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

Over the term of the other financial assets at amortised cost and loan
receivables, the Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately
providing for ECL on a timely basis. In calculating the ECL rates, the
Group considers historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information for each category of customers. No
significant changes to estimation techniques or assumptions were made
during the period.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all the other financial assets at
amortised cost (excluding investment held to maturity) were within their
contractual credit period. The loss allowance for other financial assets
at amortised cost as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was determined as
follows:

5.

BREBEEE)

51 MEEBEZE)

b) FEmEEE)

(ii) LEBHFKATEREM T HE

E (&)

ENBHRRAGENAMEREER
FEUWEFRNBHRA - NEBEBNE
REHMEEEREHEZBREREE
ERRAR EFERHEEBER
B AREEZRSENEPNESL
BHRELE BEESRURAENTE
MELER LA RIENATREEES -
MAGERMSELMRRLEEX

=5 °

RZE_WNFERZFTZ=F+2A
=+—H FAENRESRKAGENH
fhemEE R THAZIHREN)
HRERESHEESRN RN
FR-_Z-_ZF+-_A=+—H8 U
ERNATENEMeREENEE
BREETOT :

31 December 2024 —E-_mME+=-A=+-—H Performing Total
EE mst
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ T AR TR

Expected loss rate BHIBAX 4.24%
Gross carrying amount FHEAE 1,111,284 1,111,284
Loss allowance BB B 47,086 47,086
31 December 2023 —E=F+-A=+—H Performing Total
% it
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT

Expected loss rate TEHIE A X 3.94%
Gross carrying amount REmaE 1,048,257 1,048,257
Loss allowance BB 41,292 41,292
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEREREE)

5.1  Financial risk factors (continued) 51 BERBERE)

(b)  Credit risk (continued) b) EEREE)

(ifi)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) (i) UEBSREAFENEMTHBE

E ()

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, no other financial assets at amortised RZEBE-_NFR-_ZT-_=ZF+=-A
cost with a contractual amount written off during the period. The gross =t+—B HAERMEESHSENN
carrying amount of other financial assets at amortised cost, and thus the BRNATENEMEREE - N#
maximum exposure to loss, is as follows: BRERAENHMEREENKRE R

ERERBRRNKARRAENT :

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARETTT

Performing s 1,111,284 1,048,257
Total gross other financial NERKAGTENEMEREELRE
assets at amortised cost (excluding (BRTHEZREZEIN)
investment held to maturity) 1,111,284 1,048,257
Less: Loss allowance o BEEE (47,086) (41,292)
1,064,198 1,006,965
The movement of loss allowance for other financial assets at amortised NERRAENEMSREENE
cost is as follows: BREEZEHET
RMB'000
AR¥ TR
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZZ-=F—-A—-H&EH 29,392
Impairment loss recognised during the year FRERE R EEE 11,900
Balance at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-Z-_=F+-_A=+—HBxE
—T_ME-A-BWER 41,292
Impairment loss recognised during the year FABABRREBRE 5,794
Balance at 31 December 2024 R-ZB-NEF+-A=Z+—-HBNEHR 47,086
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1  Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)  Credit risk (continued)

(iv)  Loan receivables

The Group's money lending activities mainly provides loan financing to
corporate customers. The Group has developed a credit policy and control
in place, which includes loan application, credit approval and on-going
monitoring. The Group will consider the background, financial strength,
purpose of the loan and sources of the payment of the borrowers prior to
granting of the loan.

For ongoing monitoring of the loan, the Directors of the Group will
closely monitor the loan repayment and interest payment in accordance
with the loan agreement.

The Group considers that both quantitative and qualitative information
are essential for the determination of credit risk, and the determination
factors may include historical and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. By considering all these factors, it
is the view of the management that the credit risk of the money lending
activities of the Group can be significantly reduced.

For internal credit risk assessment and ECL assessment, the Group
considers the assessment to be in line with the same principle stated in
5(b)(iii) in Other financial assets at amortised cost.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)  Credit risk (continued)

(iv)  Loan receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all loan receivables were within their
contractual credit period. The loss allowance for loan receivables as at 31
December 2024 was determined as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RARBRRMET

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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5. HMBEBRER®E)

510 HBEBREE)

(b) EEEREE)

(v) EREF (&)
RZE-_WNFR-_T-_=F+=A
=t+t—H FERKEFHIERES
HNEEHR -R_TE-_NFE+=-A
“t+t—H EREFRWEBEREET

LN

31 December 2024 —E-_mME+=-A=t+—H Performing Total
% st
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AR¥ TR

Expected loss rate BHIB A X 2.18%
Gross carrying amount FHEeE 1,879 1,879
Loss allowance BEEE 41 41
31 December 2023 T =F+=ZA=+—H Performing Total
E® st
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT

Expected loss rate TEEE A X 1.77%
Gross carrying amount REaE 76,726 76,726
Loss allowance EEEE 1,357 1,357

As at 31 December 2024, no other loan receivable with a contractual
amount written off during the period. The gross carrying amount of loan
receivables and thus the maximum exposure to loss, is as follows:

R-F-_ME+-A=1t—0 Y&
Hi EREROBNSBRBARME -
BRERNBETERERBANER

AEBEEDT
2024 2023
—E-QmE —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETTT

Performing s 1,879 76,726
Total loan receivables FEUE B 58 1,879 76,726
Less: Loss allowance B R (41) (1,357)

1,838 75,369
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HEZZ-WET-A=t—HILEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5.

5.1  Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)  Credit risk (continued)

(iv)  Loan receivables (continued)

The movement of loss allowance for loan receivables is as follows:

BREBEEE)

51 MEEBEZE)

b) FEmEEE)

(iv) EWE(E)
FEREFNBREBEZSHNT

RMB'000
AR®T R

Balance at 1 January 2023 RN_ZE_=F—-A—-HWEH -
Impairment loss recognised during the year FABARREBRE 1,357

Balance at 31 December 2023 and RZBE-_=F+-A=+—HEK

1 January 2024 —ER-MF— A —BREH 1,357

Reversal of Impairment loss during the year FRBERFERBE (1,316)
Balance at 31 December 2024 R-ZB-MNE+-A=Z+-HNEH 41

(v)  Investment held to maturity

For investment held to maturity amounts to RMB 100,000,000, the
management makes periodic individual assessment on the recoverability
of investment held to maturity based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. The
management believes that there are no significant increase in credit
risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group assessed the ECL for the investment held to maturity is
insignificant and thus no loss allowance is recognised. Subsequently after
the year ended, the proceeds of the short-term investments and related
interest income have been received.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1  Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)  Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash,
the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to
the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Group's treasury
function allows flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate cash and
cash equivalents.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity position
based on the expected cash flows.

(i) Financing arrangements
The Group has the following undrawn bank borrowing facilities:
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BREBEEE)

51 MEEBEZE)

© THEEEE
EENRBUEERREEBRERTR
WEELEATHNERERERE N
A HIREE  RRTHIEN
e - MmN ASEEEEENEENL
AEBNEBDEBBESTROE
SRR FEMARHEESNEEN -

EEEREBESRREREEEAEE
MEE S MRERB TN

(i) BEZH
ASEHEAR AT HARRRAORITER
BE:

As at 31 December

R+=HA=+—8
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Fixed rate: B 7 =
— expiring within one year —R—FRNER

117,230 70,000
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1  Finandial risk factors (continued)

(c)  Liquidity risk (continued)

(i) Maturities of financial liabilities

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities in relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of the
reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

At 31 December 2024

5. HMBEBRER®E)

MRERER(E)
HEEER (&)
THREIHA
TEROMEBRERRES
SHRERES D RAABI M BEAR M ARE
EMERAE RPARBENBREY

5.1
©
(i)

RAENNENRTIAR

PANN =N

FTLE °

EIEGIEE

R-EBE-mE+=-A=+-H

Undiscounted cash flows

ARRRER

Weighted More than ~ More than Total

average Tyearbut  2yearsbut contractual
effective Within less than less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5years  cash flow amount

GEl

il B3] -ERE MENE  RFRRE
BRAZE  -FMm WEMR EFMR REAR K
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
% ARETn AR%Trn ARETR AR%¥Tr ARETR

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ {74 ¢ RMAME

Bank borrowings RITEF 3.02 372,943 32,967 - 405,910 394,000
Other borrowing Hip a3 932 24482 - - 4822 216057
Trade and notes payables EREZTREMEE = 130,676 = = 130,676 130,676
Lease Liabilities HERE 5.20 917 60 - 977 950
Other financial liabilities EbeRak - 112,192 - - 112,192 112,192
861,550 33,027 - 894,577 853,875
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. BMERKBEREE)

5.1  Financial risk factors (continued) 51 BXEREZZE)

()  Liquidity risk (continued) © FEHEREE)

(i) Maturities of financial liabilities (continued) (i) ZHBEEFHAHE)
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+=ZRA=+—H

Undiscounted cash flows

AFRALR
Weighted More than ~ More than Total
average Tyearbut ~ 2yearsbut  contractual
effective Within less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
afl
miE¥H —E)E WENLE  AFRRE

ERNE  -FHR RENA RENA REEE REE
%  RMBOOO  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
% ARBTL ARETL ARETT ARETRT ARETR

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ F{T£¢REE

Bank borrowings RITEH 23 381,179 55,258 - 436,437 426,500
Trade and notes payables ERESHRERTE - 153,940 - - 153,940 153,940
Convertible Bonds R ES 7.69 346,066 - - 346,066 321,354
Lease Liabilities HERE 51 1,191 805 305 2,301 2,182
Other financial liabilities A @AE - 153,491 - - 153,491 153,491
1,035,867 56,063 305 1,092,235 1,057,467
The Group provided a financial guarantee amounting to approximately RZZE-_MFE+ZA=+—08 K&
RMB230,000,000 (2023: RMB245,000,000) to one of its associate for B3t — B2 2 R EVS IR 1T 8 AR
obtaining bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024. Given the financial B2 R 49 A R 230,000,000 7T (=
position and earning ability of the associate company, management T-=%: AR#245,000,0007T) °
believe that the risk of default for the associate for the loan repayment is ENHE RN RN R BREES -
very low and thus management believes that there is no material liquidity ERERABMENREEERNEY
risk arising from the financial guarantee provided by the Group. Rt Bt BEEERA AR
ERUNMBERIBRELERNRD
1 @ B o
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1  Financial risk factors (continued) (Continued)

(c)  Liquidity risk (continued) (Continued)

(i) Maturities of financial liabilities (continued) (Continued)

The guarantee was provided for bank borrowings obtained by the
associate in the amount of RMB230,000,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB245,000,000), in which a loan of RMB10,000,000 was
secured by a pledge of 10% equity interest in an associate, held by a
subsidiary of the Group. The period of the guarantee for net amount
RMB150,000,000 is from 26 September 2024 to 25 September
2025 (2023: RMB160,000,000 is from 27 September 2023 to 27
September 2024). The period of the remaining guarantee amounting
to RMB70,000,000 is from 26 August 2024 to 26 August 2027 (2023:
remaining guarantee amounting to RMB85,000,000 is from 15 July 2021
to 15 July 2024).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the amount of dividends to be paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group's capital is mainly from equity funding and borrowings for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the
basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as borrowings divided
by total capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position plus borrowings.

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:
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BREBEEE)

52 BAERER
AEEEBEANEBEEAREREE

TELEME S M AKRREHRE
W REMMEARE RENE AR

REREEARBAREE KA -

RERIHBEEARE  A&EAH
BRNTRROKE  MBRRER
B BOIHBRSHEEENRE -

BE_T_HNER-_ZT-_=F1+_A
=T BLEEE AEENERTER
REBREES REK -

BEAEMAR -3 AEENEE
BELREEEREN - ZBEL TR
fERERIAB NEREEE - BARRIR
A MBAORRAR [ ] ISR

9

\u

RIB-_NER-_FT_=F+_H
—t-HWEERGBHEMT

As at 31 December

R+=—BA=+—-H
2024 2023
“ECMEF —E-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Bank and other borrowings (Note 31) RITREM AR (H5E31) 610,057 426,500
Borrowings from third parties (Note 30) 5 = J5 {& 5k (Pff 3£ 30) 45,177 8,796
Convertible Bonds (Note 32) —Hﬁ“ﬂxf # (Mi3E32) = 321,354
Total borrowings fEm e 655,234 756,650
Total equity MR EE 2,379,960 2,855,761
Total capital BB 3,035,194 3,612,411
Gearing ratio EERBHX 21.59% 20.94%
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports regularly reviewed by the executive Directors, being the CODM,
that are used to make strategic decisions.

(@) Description of segments and principal activities

(i)  Water business segment

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and selling a
range of water products through wholesales in the PRC, selling raw
materials and consumables to associates and third parties, and leasing
production lines to associates.

(i)  Beer business segment
The Group manufactures and sells a range of beer products mainly in the
PRC through wholesales.

(b)  Segment information disclosures

Sales between segments are based on the agreed terms between both
segments. The revenue from external parties reported to the CODM is
measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

The amounts provided to the CODM with respect of total assets and

total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of the
consolidated financial statements.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b)  Segment information disclosures (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable

segments for the year ended 31 December 2024 is as follows:

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

6. DHRER#E

(b) PBERWEE)
HE-_Z-_MFE+-_A=+—HItHF
T OREFEIBELARENITER

DEHIDEHERMAT
Water Beer
business business Corporate
segment segment  and others Total
KEEIS BEXEIDB LERHM @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®BTR AR%®Trn AR%T:R
Total segment revenue DEHBRABE 87,522 137,331 958 225,811
Cost of sales HERA (72,295) (92,335) - (164,630)
Gross profit E 15,227 44,996 958 61,181
Share of result on investments L A AR
accounted for using the REXE
equity method (8,312) - - (8,312)
(Allowance for)/reversal of CREEREEERE
ECL on financial assets (BfE) /&E (45,313) (3,213) 800 (47,726)
Adjusted EBITDA* BEERERTER
BEANE (78,231) 44,950 (27,924) (61,205)
Impairment loss on investments FREmEARY
accounted for using the equity REREBRE
method (462,729) - - (462,729)
Finance income BBRA 19,767 10,746 757 31,270
Finance costs HBER (7,659) (3,770) (32,242) (43,671)
Depreciation and amortisation MEREE (19,047) (15,830) (1,250) (36,127)
(Loss)/profit before tax BEA(E51R) /FE (547,899) 36,096 (60,659) (572,462)
Income tax (expenses)/credit s (BR) /% (546) (1,312) 373 (1,485)
(Loss)/profit for the year EE(BR) /B (548,445) 34,784 (60,286) (573,947)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-R=+-HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. oWBERE
(b)  Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) DEHERFEEE)
Water Beer
business business
segment segment Total
KEBIH BEEXI B #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AR®Tx AR%ETxn
Segment total assets PEHBEE 3,611,975 2,517,300 6,129,275
— Investments accounted for using —ERREREARNRE
the equity method 741,527 - 741,527
Unallocated KAE
Deferred tax assets BIEHIEE E 2,080
Assets of corporate and others TCENEMEE 101,432
Inter-segment elimination 2 BB 8 (2,725,289)
Total assets MmEE 3,507,498
Segment total liabilities PHBEEE 1,575,823 381,333 1,957,156
Unallocated KA
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHEERE 5,176
Liabilities of corporate and others rEREMEE 363,016
Inter-segment elimination 7> &P e i 3 (1,197,810)
Total liabilities HeE 1,127,538
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. oWBERE
(b)  Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) DHERHREE)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable BE_T_=F+_A=1T—HILF
segments for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows: B RETFELERFENTZR
DB D LERLT -
Water Beer
business business Corporate
segment segment and others Total
KEBLE BEEEST CEREM @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT AREFTT AR%Tx
Total segment revenue 2 ERUR A 458 87,066 223,169 4,193 314,428
Cost of sales SHER AR (78,109) (158,705) - (236,814)
Gross profit EF 8,957 64,464 4,193 77,614
Share of result on investments EhEREREEARD
accounted for using the equity RERE
method (263) - - (263)
Allowance for ECL on CRHEERBEESSE
financial assets B (30,902) (4,285) (1,755) (36,942)
Adjusted EBITDA* FAREREBITER
BeEATRE (56,278) 58,523 (26,857) (24,612)
Impairment loss on investments A& ZARNIEE
accounted for using the equity HEEE
method (261,145) - - (261,145)
Finance income R AON 24,335 12,083 1,068 37,486
Finance costs MBER (6,045) (2,751) (30,808) (39,604)
Depreciation and amortisation FEREH (22,741) (35,286) (1,011) (59,038)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (B518) /FIE (321,874) 32,569 (57,608)  (346,913)
Income tax (expense)/credit 8% (BA) e (2,427) (4,868) 1,341 (5,954)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(FR) /FH (324,301) 27,701 (56,267) (352,867)

* Adjusted EBITDA is a key financial measure regularly monitored by CODM in
managing the Group's performance. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by excluding
the following effects from the profit/(loss) for the year: (i) impairment losses on
investments accounted for using the equity; (ii) finance (cost)/income, net; (iii)

depreciation and amortization and (iv) income tax (expense)/credit.

Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure under IFRS and should not be
considered as an alternative to the profit/(loss) for the year as a measure of
operational performance. Adjusted EBITDA does not have a standard calculation
method and the Group’s definition of adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable

to that of other companies.

*
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-R=+-HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. oWBERE
(b)  Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) DEHERFEEE)
Water Beer
business business
segment segment Total
KEBHEH BBERDE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETR
Segment total assets PEHBEE 3,988,940 2,545,158 6,534,098
— Investments accounted for using —EREREARNRE
the equity method 1,215,508 - 1,215,508
Unallocated KAE
Deferred tax assets BIEHIEE E 2,143
Assets of corporate and others TCENEMEE 93,049
Inter-segment elimination 2 BB 8 (2,643,734)
Total assets MmEE 3,985,556
Segment total liabilities PHBEEE 1,406,148 437,311 1,843,459
Unallocated KA
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHEERE 4,977
Liabilities of corporate and others rEREMEE 396,029
Inter-segment elimination 7> &P e i 3 (1,114,670)
Total liabilities HeE 1,129,795
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6.

(b)  Segment information disclosures (continued)
Entity-Wide information
Breakdown of total revenue by category is shown in Note 7.

Information about Group's revenue from external customers is prepared
based on the location of the customers. Information about the Group’s
non-current assets is presented based on the geographical location of the
assets.

Revenue from external customers of the Group were all derived in the

PRC and Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Non-current assets are all located in the PRC and Hong Kong as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

TEER (E

b) ZHEREKEE)
ERaEEY
REREI D B AR RHIELT -

BRASERBINBEFHBAER
BREPHEMZS - BEEAKEIER
PEEMERREEREILEZS]

HE_E-_MFR-_ZT-_=F+"A4
Z+—BUEFE  KEBINBEFEH
WA REREREFSE

HE-_Z-_NMFER-_ZT-_=F+-A4
=t+—B ERBEEAUAFER
&5

Geographical information HEEH
Revenue from external
customers Non-current assets
RENEBEF LA ERBEE
Year ended
BEUTHHLEEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—ECMmE “E=F —EopmEF —B-=H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET R ARETT

ARE T ARETTT

PRC H 224,781 294,169 1,822,467 2,326,040
Hong Kong 578 1,030 20,259 1,016 715
225,811 314,428 1,823,483 2,326,755

Note: Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets.

M FRBEETBRETREEE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HEZZ-WET-A=t—HILEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

()  Information about major customers
Revenue from customers over 10% of the Group's total revenue is as

TEER (E

© EREFHNEH
REGASREARAEBI0%NEP

follows: B AIT

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1T—-HLEE
2024 2023
“E-F —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT
Customer A* BEA* 34,137 125,736
Customer B* REB* —# 46,461
Customer C* HEC* 31,182 -
Customer D* EFD* 25,981 .

* Revenue from beer business segment
# Revenue from this customer amounts to less than 10% of the
Group's total revenue in 2024

Revenue from this customer amounts to less than 10% of the
Group's total revenue in 2023

During the year ended 31 December 2024, sales of approximately
RMB22,766,000 (2023: RMB18,086,000) and RMB223,000 (2023:
RMB292,000) are derived from associates in the water business segment
and beer business segment respectively.
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REVENUE

Revenue from external customers is mainly derived from the sales of

water products and beer products and interest income from lending
services provided. The Group also sells raw materials and consumables
to associates and third parties, leases production lines and equipment to
associates. Breakdown of the revenue is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

7. WA

SNBEFPHMATERARHEKE
m B Em R REETRREELD
FIBWA  REB TR H & R F R e
MTBERARE=T  HHEEER
RETHEDE - WARALT

Year ended 31 December

BEt-RA=+t—-HLEE

2024 2023
“E-MEF “T=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET R AREFT
Revenue from contracts with EERRKA :
customers:
Recognised at a point in time REAGR 5 % R
Sales of water products KEmIBE 81,561 79,935
Sales of beer products BRERHE 136,999 222,682
Sales of raw materials and consumables R & FEH 4 & 346 874
218,906 303,491
Revenue from other source: HAaRFEHWA
Rental income HE WA 5,947 6,744
Interest income from lending services R4 & FARISE £ B F B YA
provided 958 4,193
Total st 225,811 314,428
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-ME+-A=+-BIEE

8.

180

OTHER GAINS, NET 8. Hfitthz » B
Year ended 31 December
BZ+-BA=1t—-HLFE
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC-=fF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR ARBT T
Other (losses)/gains Hit (1B
Government grants BT 6 B

- Amortisation of deferred income — I AN 2,374 2,374

— Other government grant (note (a)) —E M BT B) (f7 5 (a) 16,056 10,187
Write-down of inventories TFE MR (1,011) (436)
Gain on disposal of PP&E BENE  BERZENKE 236 127
Additional deduction of input VAT TR R AT 0BR (A5 (b))

(note (b)) 687 1,132
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note (c)) & — B2 R & (A4 () 16,524 -
Loss on derecognition of convertible RIRAARRES REMERNER

bonds & other borrowing (2,803) -
Others HA, 5,268 1,783

37,331 15,167
Notes: i
(@)  Other government grant represents various forms of subsidies granted to the (@ HtbBF#HEIEFELABFE R
Group by the local government authorities in the PRC for compensation of AEERENSERARY AR
expenses incurred by the Group. These grants are generally made for business EBREERY ZE@HPH—MKAEIE
support and awarded to enterprises on a discretionary basis. There are no X% UBBERTEE ZSEHL
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants. BAMRTRAOGERELRER -
(b)  According to Announcement 2023 No. 43 of the Ministry of Finance and the (b) BETEFEPMERGEER-Z
State Taxation Administration of PRC, with effect from 1 January 2023 to 31 CEFBMBRAE BT =F—
December 2027, advanced manufacturing enterprises are allowed to deduct A—HEZZ-+%+-RA=+—H"
additional 5% of the current deductible input VAT from the VAT payable. One SERENE AR S BN R NETEE
subsidiary of the Group is qualified for such additional input VAT deduction. BB 5% B RIS ER MK HE -
AEBEP-—HHBARRTEERE
BB T AR MEHEA
(0 The Group disposed of its 100% equity interests in a subsidiary on 1 April 2024. (0 AEEBR-_ZE-_NENA—HHEE

The disposal was made due to a strategic consideration for the development
of the Group. The above-mentioned subsidiary is engaged in the sales of
water and beer products. Gain on disposal of a subsidiary was approximately
RMB16,524,000.
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9. FINANCE COST, NET

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

9. MBER FHE

Year ended 31 December

BEt-RA=+t—-HLEE

2024 2023
=t SLEE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBETT

Foreign exchange loss, net P& X B 18 F (8,589) (6,001)
Interest costs on bank borrowings RITERFEER (10,214) (8,415)
Interest costs on convertible bonds RBREAFNEER

(Note 32) (B&x32) (9,484) (24,165)
Interest costs on other borrowings H i fa A8 & A (15,304) (920)
Interest costs on lease liabilities HEABEFNEEHR (80) (103)
Finance cost MEER (43,671) (39,604)
Finance income — interest income B RS I — F B U A 31,270 37,486
Finance cost, net MEER  BE (12,401) (2,118)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

10.

182

E_MF+—A=+-AILFE

HZ-%

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated

statement of profit or loss represents:

10.

FriEHiE A

AT REGAEBSERIAANAERE

mew:

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2024 2023
ZECNF —To=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥TR ARETT

PRC Enterprise Income Tax: FECEMENR:
Current tax BN AR %18 1,223 5,491
Deferred tax expenses EETIEE A 262 463
Income tax expense FiSHEHR 1,485 5,954

The taxation on the Group's loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate as
follows:

AR B BR AT 1S T AT B T B IR
BRIRFEREERRFEFHIIER

BE RN

Year ended 31 December

BEt-RA=t—-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-WmE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Loss before income tax BRETISHRIE1E (572,462) (346,913)
Tax calculated at statutory tax rate of ~ HATFER T 15% st E R IE
15% (85,869) (52,037)
Preferential tax rates on income of ETEEBRNKAMERN
certain group entities (note) BERE (FIa) (2,458) (2,513)
Loss not subject to tax WBEZRHER 7,090 7,132
Tax effect of unused tax losses not REAARERREEBRNRIEY
recognised 37,515 8,581
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1~ 7] #0552 61,746 53,681
Incomes not taxable for tax purposes BAERBKA (16,539) (8,890)
Income tax expense S EHR 1,485 5,954
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

Note: The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under current laws of

the Cayman Islands, there is no income, estate, corporation, capital gains or
other taxes payable by the Company. The group entities established under the
International Business Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands are exempted
from British Virgin Islands income taxes.

The group entities incorporated in the PRC are subject to PRC enterprise income
tax. Major operational entities of the Group are located in Tibet and were
entitled to preferential income tax rate. Based on the tax ruling announced by
the PRC central tax authorities, the corporate income tax rate of Lhasa is 9%
for the years from 2015 to 2025. From 2026 onwards, the corporate income
tax rate in Tibet will resume to 15% if no further announcement from the
PRC central tax authorities is made. The remaining entities incorporated in the
PRC were taxed based on the income tax rate of 25% for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: 25%) as determined in accordance with the relevant
PRC income tax rules and regulations.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first
HKD2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HKD2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to
be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HKD2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits
above HKD2 million.

The relevant deferred tax balances had been measured based on the expected
tax rates applicable in the future.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

10. FSBER )
Wi ARARFAE RS MK - RIER

SHERTER  ARAHEERAE
BpEH BER ARK AAXE
SRR EMHE RERABLEZEHS
HEREBARENINEEERE
BREBNRBRABEOMEN -

EHRBEAMRINEEEEARNT
BEEMGEH AEENTELEE
BUNARITZSMERERHE
1R R B AR e TS A R B R
O NEOCEMSHBTER=T
—hFE-_ZE-_RFA% -B_Z
ZRER B RS E
- AEENCEMEHN
REIREE15% « £ BB+
RYHEBREE T -NFE+ A
=t+t-HEFERBREENTEREG
BB B R AR BIR25% TSR & (=
T 25%) BiE o

REFBMNEHOFNEHMES - 4
BiREE 8 E 2,000,000 T8 %
FF R £8.25% @ M fBi82,000,000
BRI ERA16.5% « THFE&
FIS B M ARSI 8 & BB B AR F 5 &
BIZ16.5% M —FHEMF - A -
AEREB TR E 20000008 TH
TR S MR8 25% M R+ &
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BB S BT RIEFEMA B &
BROBET R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GEMBRRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-R=+-HIFE

11.

184

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

11.

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

FEER
FEBRENEGIA) THSE

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-HLEE

2024 2023
—g-mE  —P-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Auditor's remuneration ZHAM M2
— Audit services —FET R 2,099 2,066
— Non-audit services — kB RT 183 180
Raw materials and consumables used FT R R MR K R 121,987 177,915
Amortisation of intangible assets BREEHE 3,196 3,211
Depreciation of PP&E ME BENMRETE 31,039 53,739
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREERE 1,892 2,088
Short-term lease expenses NEBHEER 1,139 1,068
Employee benefit expenses EERNER 72,643 77,484
Advertising and marketing expenditure  E& RIS HEE A 29,873 15,574
City construction tax and education WHERBERHENME
surcharge 1,670 1,956
Electricity and other utility expenses BENREMEIRER 7,360 8,993
Legal and other consulting services fee &% N E o 55 AR5 & 9,101 14,925
Transportation costs BEHPK AR 21,582 21,439
Allowance for ECL on financial assets: & @ EEEHEEBHREEE
— Trade receivables —EWE FH 43,248 23,685
— Loan receivables —EWER (1,316) 1,357
— Other financial assets at —REBRKATENEMEREE
amortised cost 5,794 11,900
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12.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

12. BERNER

Year ended 31 December

BEt-RA=+t—-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-NE —T-=%F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBTFT
Wages and salaries TERE® 60,095 63,930
Provision for medical and BEKHMESRANES
other employee benefits 3,730 3,740
Contributions to defined contribution 57 #FUR K& 5 B4 5% (I 5E ()
pension scheme (note (a)) 5,782 6,414
Contributions to the housing (X 5= 5 3145 (BT 3E (b))
scheme (note (b)) 3,036 3,400
72,643 77,484

Notes:

Pension scheme

The Group pays contributions to publicly administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual basis. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

The Group also operates a defined contribution MPF Scheme in Hong Kong
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

AEEZES  SHOEERNREER
RS RREEELER - HEZES
TEEHEELNAARERALMHE
FipEHRARIRERREAGHREMN -
AKENEE - SHTEERHEE
B - AR PRI RESEN
B BENHFETRGEDRS R
RENFRIMERTERREE -

AEBENERBERIERE S
AED EERERREABRSER
BertdlcEERY —BEERME
Beitd fFREREAFEZX
—BALFE  TRBEBRERE
RARS MR EEGERNR - BES
TEEERBUERESRE B
SEEENRARKE AEEHRES
SRR BERFEBERENES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-ME+-A=+-BIEE

12.

186

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in PRC are required
to participate in the Central Pension Scheme. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the Central Pension
Scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the Central Pension Scheme. The employer
contributions vest fully once made.

As the Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed to the Defined Contributions Scheme, there were no forfeited
contributions under the Defined Contributions Scheme which may be used to
reduce the existing level of contributions.

Housing scheme

In accordance with the PRC housing reform regulations, the Group is required
to make contributions to the Chinese state-sponsored housing fund at 5-12%
of the salaries of the PRC employees. At the same time, the employees are also
required to make a contribution at 5-12% of their salaries out of their payroll.
The employees are entitled to claim the entire sum of the fund under certain
specified withdrawal circumstances.

Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for

the year include 5 (2023: five) Directors and chief executive, details of whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 41(a).
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13.

14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LOSS PER SHARE 13.

(@) Basic loss per share
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, basic loss per share is based on the
following data:

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HEZZ-WET_A=T-HILFE

BRER

@ BEREXER
R-Z-_NER-_FT_=%+_A
=t—8 BREXABERLERNAT
Bt E

Year ended 31 December

BEt-R=t—-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

Loss attributable to owners of the RKRAREB AELEE
Company

(573,947) (352,867)

Year ended 31 December

BEt-RA=+t—-HLEE

2024 2023
—BomE —T=F

Weighted average number of ordinary B #1TE @R MNETF9E (FH)
shares in issue (thousands) 4,443,890 3,935,510

(b) Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share for years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were
the same as basic loss per share as the outstanding convertible bonds had
anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share.

DIVIDENDS 14.

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024, nor has any dividend
been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2023: nil).

(b)) BREBEESE

ARABENITRRESFEHEFRER
BREARBEER BE-T-_NF
RZEZ=F+ZA=+—HLFE
HEREEHEREREXEERER -

KE
HEZT-_MF+-_A=1+—HLHF
B ARARUEAAR R EBRABRE
ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁEﬂW Eﬁiﬁ

ERENEZZRNEFNRKE (=
_:¢~ﬁ>
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-T-ME+=AS-ALEE
15.  RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES 15. FEREEE HEAE
Land Rental
use right premises Total
LT fERARE HiEEF Met
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARET T ARETT
(note (a)) (note (b))
(M3 (a)) (B3 (b))
Cost A
As at 1 January 2023 RNZE-_=%—H—H 33,435 1,611 35,046
Additions NE - 2,733 2,733
Exchange alignment 0 5, S - 21 21
As at 31 December 2023 and RZE-_=ZF+=-F=+—H
1 January 2024 NZ_Z_WNFE—F—H 33,435 4,365 37,800
Additions NE - 1,374 1,374
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHE AR - (2,042) (2,042)
Exchange alignment ME i S - 40 40
As at 31 December 2024 R-BE-_NE+=-A=+—H 33,435 3,737 37,172
Accumulated depreciation R E
As at 1 January 2023 R-ZT-=%—H—H 7,080 840 7,920
Depreciation for the year FAE 722 1,366 2,088
Exchange alignment BE AR - 13 13
As at 31 December 2023 and RZE-_=F+=-R=+—H
1 January 2024 N=—Z-WFE—HA—H 7,802 2,219 10,021
Depreciation for the year FRITE 722 1,170 1,892
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEAR - (624) (624)
Exchange alignment b 5 S - 45 45
As at 31 December 2024 R-B-NE+=-A=+—H 8,524 2,810 11,334
Carrying value REE
As at 31 December 2024 RZB-NE+=ZB=+—H 24,911 927 25,838
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H 25,633 2,146 27,779
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15.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 15.

Notes:

(a) All of the Group's land use rights are located in the PRC and each has a lease
period of 50 years.

As at 31 December 2024, land use rights with carrying value of approximately
RMB24,911,000 (2023: RMB25,633,000) were secured for bank borrowings with
carrying amounts of approximately RMB73,000,000 (2023: RMB102,000,000)
(Note 31())).

(b)  Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from new leases entered.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had lease liabilities as
follows:

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

EREEE HESE®)

GBS

(@)

AKERE LB EGN S
MEHRIG/50F -

RZE-_ME+=ZA=+—H8 K
EEABHARE24,911,0007T (ZF
— =% : AR¥25633,000T) 8t
WwEARDEERETREEANAR
#73,000,000 L (ZTE-=F: AR
#102,000,0007T) KR 17 f8 7% ( 5F
31()) ©

SHEBRERFAIHEME LM ER
BEE-

R-FB-_NER-_F_=%F+-A
=t—H AEENEEAGBNTHR

R

Present value of
the minimum lease

payments Total minimum lease
REEENRNRE BREEREMREHE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEomF —T-=F —BWEF —B-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARETT

ARBTR ARETTT

Within 1 year 1R 890 1,110 917 1,191
More than 1 year but 1§ A E2F AR
within 2 years 60 771 60 805
More than 2 years but 2F A E5F AR
within 5 years - 301 - 305
950 2,182 977 2,301
Less: total future B REFEERERE
interest expenses (27) (119)
Present value of lease T EBEMIRE
liabilities 950 2,182
Analysed by: BETHEBETHN :
Rental premises MEME 950 2,182
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GEMBRRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-R=+-HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. ¥ BERRE

Construction
Buildings ~ Machinery Vehicles Others in progress Total
Lk G E 1] Hip kEIR it
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AT ARETRT ARMTn AR¥TR ARETn  ARETR
Cost S
Asat 1 January 2023 R-E-=%#-8-H 200,592 787,608 6,015 26,223 48,414 1,068,852
Additions RE 119 4352 740 81 8,802 14,094
Disposal HE - - (339) - - (339)
Transfer upon completion THEER 39,358 10,811 - - (50,169) -
Exchange alignment R - - 18 47 - 65
As at 31 December 2023 and RZF-ZET2A=1-BR
1 January 2024 “S5C-RE-A-H 240,009 802,71 6,434 26,351 7,047 1,082,672
Additions RE 1,531 1,767 - 4,706 3,654 11,658
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-AHBAR - - - (27) - 27)
Disposal e - - (701) - - (701)
Transfer upon completion THREER - 3,654 - - (3,654) -
Exchange alignment Ei@Z - - 28 n - 100
As at 31 December 2024 R-B-ME+-B=1-H 241,600 808,192 5,761 31,102 7,047 1,093,702
Accumulated depreciation ZHERAE
and impairment
Asat 1 January 2023 R-E-=%-8-H 82,999 589,043 4,046 19,621 - 696,309
Depreciation for the year Emirg 6,706 46,156 604 3 - 53,739
Disposal e - - (329 - - (329)
Exchange alignment EifE - - 13 46 - 59
As at 31 December 2023 and W_EZZETZAZT-BR
1 January 2024 “E-mE-F-H 89,705 635,799 4,334 19,940 - 749,778
Depreciation for the year EmfE 7,654 22,599 665 121 - 31,039
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-AHBAR - - - B) - B)
Disposal k3 - - (701) - - (701)
Exchange alignment EHEE - - 21 n - 93
As at 31 December 2024 RZB-RE+ZA=1-A 97,359 658,398 4319 20,130 - 780,206
Carrying value REE
As at 31 December 2024 RZB-RETZA=1-H 144,241 149,794 1,442 10,972 7,047 313,49
As at 31 December 2023 RZE-ZE+ZAZ+-H 150,364 166,972 2,100 6,411 7,047 332,8%
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16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Note:

Following a review of the actual utilisation of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment, the Group revised the estimated useful lives of certain of its property, and
equipment with effect from 1 January 2024 (see note 4a).

As a result, the current year's depreciation has been decreased accordingly.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

16. ¥% - BERRE @)
GEE
EHARMNNE  BERREOERER
BRETENE  AEEHLETNERR
Rt 3 A G F R 54T BB
F—A—AREH(RHEE4a) -
Bt AE R DA -
NE BEARBAECNELSBA
KAk FROT

Year ended 31 December

BEt-RA=+t-HLEE

2024 2023
=t SLEE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBETTT

Cost of sales HEERA 25,153 51,275
Selling and distribution costs HERDHER 203 197
Administrative expenses THEAR 5,683 2,267

31,039 53,739

BROKEFERAT | £82024 191



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-ME+-A=+-BIEE

16.

192

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group was in the process of applying
for registration of the ownership certificates for certain of its building
with an aggregate carrying value of approximately RMB206,000 (2023:
RMB226,000). The executive Directors are of the opinion that the Group
is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy or use the property.

As at 31 December 2024, factory plants with carrying value of
approximately RMB48,260,000 were secured for bank borrowings with
carrying amounts of approximately RMB73,000,000 (Notes 31(j)) (As at
31 December 2023, factory plants with carrying value of approximately
RMB52,372,000 were secured for bank borrowings with carrying
amounts of approximately RMB102,000,000 (Notes 31(j)).

As at 31 December 2024, certain production lines of approximately
RMB35,200,000 were secured for bank borrowings with carrying
amounts of approximately RMB36,000,000 during the year (Note 31(k)).

The category of machinery includes production lines leased by the Group
to two related parties (2023: two) under operating leases with the
following net carrying amounts:

16. ¥ BERRE @)

RZBE-mME+-_A=+—0 K&
B IF 38 REEL AR 206,000 T
(ZEZ=%F: AR¥%226,0007T) B
ETEFHENEMAREEL -
TEZRRAEEREESZEMGA
kA ZME

RZZE-_m&E+=-_A=+—8"
FEEBEANARMA8,260,0007T
MEEERERTEEEANAR
# 73,000,000 7T & 88 17 & 5% (M &%
3N (R—B-=%+-F=+—
B EREEAHNARKS2,372,000T
MEEERERTEEEARNAR
# 102,000,000 7 &9 88 17 18 3 (P 5%
31())) -

RZFE_MNFF+_A=+—RH &
TEESRH ARK35,200,0007T
FRAEHRERTEERBEANAR
% 36,000,000 7T # iR 17 f& 3% (4 &
31(k) ©

BRENDBERARERELEHEE
MMmEEELT (ZE=F  ME)H
MOEES  REFEDT

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+t—-HLEE

2024 2023

“E-MEF —T=F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET R AREFIT

Cost XA 97,559 97,559
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January R —HA—HBZR:HTE (85,851) (79,548)
Depreciation for the year FRTE (5,589) (6,303)
Carrying value FEE 6,119 11,708
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17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

17. BREEE

Trade Distribution Information
Name Network System Total
(1= PEBE ERRAR Eo
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR AR¥ET AR¥ETR
Cost K&
As at 1 January 2023, RZE-=F—-A-8"
31 December 2023, “Z-ZE+-R=+-R-
1 January 2024 and “Z-ME-A-BRK
31 December 2024 “E-ME+-A=1-H 58,200 151,100 173 209,473
Accumulated EHE
amortisation
As at 1 January 2023 RZE-=F5-F—H 30,323 151,100 160 181,583
Charge for the year ERYH 3,198 - 13 3211
Asat31December 2023 ~HZZE==F+-A=1-A
and 1January 2024 RZZE-mE—A—H 33,521 151,100 173 184,794
Charge for the year ERZH 3,196 - - 3,196
Asat 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+-A=+-H 36,717 151,100 173 187,990
Carrying amount REE
Asat 31 December 2024 R-Z-ME+=-A=+-H 21,483 - - 21,483
Asat31December2023 RZE-=F+-A=1—H 24,679 - - 24,679

Amortisation of approximately RMB3,196,000 (2023: RMB3,211,000) is
included in the “Administrative expenses” and “Selling and Distribution
costs” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

MARM3,196,000 TH#HE (- F
—=F: AR¥3,211,0007T) 5t A&
ERERNTTRERIRIHEERS
HER] -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HECZ

18.

194

“ME+-A=+-ALEE
GOODWILL 18. HE
As at 31 December
R+=ZBA=+—H
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Tiandi Green o ) 721,139 721,139

The goodwill of approximately RMB721,139,000 was generated from
acquisition of a controlling stake in Tiandi Green in 2014. Tiandi Green
was viewed as one CGUs within the beer segment. The recoverable
amount of the CGUs is determined based on value-in-use calculations,
which is based on discounted cash flow sourced from the financial
budgets approved by the management covering a 5-year period, and
the discount rate of approximately 15.60% (2023: 15.90%) that
reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the CGUs. Cash flows beyond 5-year period have been
extrapolated using 2.0% (2023: 2.2%) growth rate per annum. Other
assumptions included budgeted income estimated based on the past
performance and management’s expectations of market developments,
etc.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any these
assumptions would not cause the carrying amounts of the CGUs to
exceed their recoverable amounts.

As the recoverable amounts of the CGUs is higher than the carrying

amounts, the Directors are of the view that there was no impairment of
goodwill as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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2o RMWHEERAERES A
—BEREELEEMN -REEEEMN
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RETFHR MBREENRRES
W AR RBIBE TS Y € B EE
FEBREELEEMBEERR 2FE
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19. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

19. EREHREARNRE

2024 2023
—E-mE T
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBETTT

Balance at 1 January R—HA—B&&# 1,215,508 1,443,916

Additions (note (a)) NE (KT7E(a)) = 33,000

Share of results L ¥4E (8,312) (263)
Declaration of dividend TR & (2,940) -

Impairment loss recognised (note (b)) ERREREL (5 (D) (462,729) (261,145)
Balance at 31 December Nt-A=+—B&& 741,527 1,215,508

Notes: BT

(@) In December 2023, the Group's acquired 11% equity interests in Tibet Life @ MN-E-=F+-f AEEKER

Water Marketing a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited
liability, at a consideration of RMB33,000,000. Taking into consideration of the
acquisition, a goodwill of approximately RMB27,339,000 has been identified in
the investment in Tibet Life Water Marketing.

Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu and Highland Natural Water. The recoverable amount of the
investment is determined based on value-in-use calculations. Management
assessed the recoverable amount and recognised an impairment loss of
approximately RMB294,597,000 and RMB168,132,000, respectively (2023:
RMB261,145,000 and nil).

HAEDZKEHEN11%E  mE
ke A —MEPBEEMRRT
WEMEREEAT  REBAARE
33,000,0007C ° A& T R ZBYKEE - B
RABEBZKEHBRERREEN
AR 27,339,000 7T

EEBHRLUBRNEMRERAR
KB EEITRED T - HEMHA UK
BeBENERNERBENTEET -
EEEFFILRESE  THRS
B4 A R 294,597,000 L & A R#
168,132,000 (ZE-=F: AR¥
261,145,000 C T ) B R EEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GEMBRRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HEZZ-WET-A=t—HILEE

19. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

19. EREHZEARNERE (@)

(CONTINUED)
Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December 2024 TXHIR -_ZT-_NFR-T_=F
and 2023. TZR=+—BAKEZBERNF -
% of
ownership
Place of business/ interest and voting
country rights held by Principal
Name of entity of incorporation the Group activities
EEMY rREFRERAERR
BEREEB ot B B 32 B =R RERAEBEDH TEXK
2024 2023
“BImE —T-=F
Tibet Highland Natural Water ~ The PRC 43.981 43.981  Manufacturing and distribution of
Limited water products
EEERAAKERATF i SE R $#HKE m
Tibet Fudi Natural Beverage The PRC 23.87 23.87  Manufacturing and distribution of
Packaging Ltd. bottle preforms, caps and other
raw materials and consumables
ARBMRARmBE FE BUER D MR R E S H A R R
EREAERAT RFEM
Tibet Shannan Yalaxiangbu The PRC 40 40 Manufacturing and
Industrial Ltd. distribution of water products
ERILEELENE X FE BUE R HKE R
BRRA
Green Tiandi Food Marketing ~ The PRC 49 49  Distribution of beverage products
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
meXibRmE ORI ) D HRKE m
BRAT
Tibet Life Water Marketing The PRC 49 49  Distribution of beverage products
Co., Ltd.
AEERZKEHERAR TE 7 SH R E m

196
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19.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland

Natural Water

The tables below provide the summarised financial information of the

Highland Natural Water shown in its financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards.

Summarised statement of financial position

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19.

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

EREREARNKRE (&)

EABEARANEENME-EEXA
7k
TREIBERAKZHHEREE -
THIR AR 2% B ik BR B B B 15 3R 5 ZE )
S ERREN M BERERIR ©

HBRRZHE

As at 31 December

R+=-HA=+-—8H
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETTT

Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company

MEEE

FRBEE

yEA= Y

FRBEE

ZNNGIE XNy

363,557 317,790
381,982 430,799
(276,981) (246,507)
(127,464) (146,095)
341,094 355,987
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

19.

198

S _ETZ A=t —HILEE

HZ-%

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland
Natural Water (continued)
Summarised statement of profit or loss

19.

EREREARNKRE (&)

BEABEARMBERBE-SRAA
X&)
B kHE

Year ended 31 December

BEt-R=t—-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARETTT

Revenue U A 336,461 327,448
Gross profit EH 54,901 69,003
Adjusted EBITDA* FRESBTE REHEAFE~ 14,590 24,723
Loss before income tax BRETISHAIE A (16,854) (8,702)
Income tax credit FTiSHEE 1,961 1,003
Loss for the year FREE (14,893) (7,699)
Total comprehensive loss for year FRNEHEELSR (14,893) (7,699)

* Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by excluding the following effects from the loss
for the year: (i) finance (cost)/income, net; (ii) depreciation and amortisation;
and income tax credit.

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial
statements of Highland Natural Water adjusted for differences in
accounting policies between the Group and Highland Natural Water.
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19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 19.

(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland
Natural Water (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to
the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Highland Natural Water
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

EREREARNKRE (&)

BABENTANBEENBE-BREXA
X(#E)

HHEENBENEHE
KEVTBEMBZRGEVBERER
NERNAEBRNSRRAAKERZD
AREER R

As at 31 December

Rt+t=ZA=+-8H
2024 2023
—E-ME —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBETT

Opening net assets as at 1 January R—A—BMFNEERE 355,987 363,686
Loss for the year FAER (14,893) (7,699)
Closing net assets FREEFE 341,094 355,987
Interest in the associate RE & DR 2 138,388 144,938
Goodwill BES 112,124 280,256
Carrying value REE 250,512 425,194

Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in
Highland Natural Water. The recoverable amount of the investment is
determined based on value-in-use calculations, which is higher than fair
value less disposal costs. Management assessed the recoverable amount
and recognised an impairment loss of RMB168,132,000 (2023: nil). The
main factors that led to the impairment is the continuous weakness of
market performance.

BEEBURBRRAKNREETH
EDH - REMAKRE S EHERE
BEENFE (RRALEBERRE
RA)ETE - EEEFEAIEREHE
b e 72 Rl 18 85 B A R % 168,132,000
T(ZFZ=F:E) BHRENT
ERE/MERAFEKS °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

19.

200

S _ETZ A=t —HILEE

HEZZ

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland
Natural Water (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continuea)

These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering the five-year period when
optimum market share is expected to be reached. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial estimates
covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of approximately
13.89% (2023: approximately 14.08%). The cash flows beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using a steady 2.0% (2023: 2.2%) growth
rate. In cases where the actual cash flows are less or more than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances which result in revision of future
cash flows estimation or discount rate, a material reversal or further
recognition of impairment may arise, which would be recognised in profit
or loss for the period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes
place.
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19.

EREREARNKRE (&)

BABENTANBEENBE-BREXA
X(#E)

MHENBENEHEE)
REFEFEATENATEEMAER
ETERARRENREMSENEN
TFEPRNTEEEZHAIRERE
BH - BBRAFHEAMNRERENE
A EREESE -

ZEERBERBRERFHE Y
Biba B H MRS KB A R H A
BRI R #13.89% (T - =4F : 4
14.08%) 58 - BBRFHB A S
RERE20% (ZTEZ=F:22%)
MEBTHRREEE MREERRER
BRI ARTES  KEARZEMN
BERHE L ERRRAEREM K
BRI REMER]  AIFJRE g B A E AR
Blekit — P HERNE  BEZEEZE
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19.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan
Yalaxiangbu

The tables below provide the summarised financial information of the
Shannan Yalaxiangbu shown in its financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards.

Summarised statement of financial position

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19.

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

EREREARNKRE (&)

EERENAMBERME - LR

&

TEREAH LR ER 2 M EERH
2 IREBEZARNEBRERYEERE
RIS EARROIBERRIE -

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=F

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR TR AREFT

Current assets TEEE 32,852 33,279

Non-current assets FRBDEE 431,401 448,600

Current liabilities mEEE (328,650) (40,954)

Non-current liabilities FRBBEE (5,956) (299,072)
Equity attributable to owners of AARHEA ANEGER

the Company 129,647 141,853
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

19.

202

E_MF+—A=+-AILFE

HZ-%

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan

19.

EREREARNRE (&)

EEREVNAMBERME - LR

Yalaxiangbu (continued) Bh (&)
Summarised statement of profit or loss Bk HE
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

Bz HE
—E-ME —E-=F
+=ZB=+—-8B +=-A=+—H
EEE FE
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARE T ARETT

Revenue WA 67,591 86,767
Gross profit EH 33,859 37,224
Adjusted EBITDA* FRESTITE REH AR 9,789 10,515
Loss before income tax RETE R AIE R (11,742) (3,029)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frisft (X)) He (464) 151
Loss for the year FREE (12,206) (2,878)
Total comprehensive loss for year FRE2HEBELE (12,206) (2,878)

* Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by excluding the following effects from the loss
for the year: (i) finance (cost)/income, net; (i) depreciation and amortisation;
and income tax (expense)/credit.

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial
statements of Shannan Yalaxiangbu adjusted for differences in
accounting policies between the Group and Shannan Yalaxiangbu.
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19.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan

Yalaxiangbu (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to

the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Shannan Yalaxiangbu

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

19. EREHZEARNERE (@)

EERENAMBERME - LR

B (%)

HEBHBEN R

RE2FIBHERR BB REK
AERNARERILEREAEHES

F B TED {1 RO 40 O

As at 31 December

R+=-—B=+—-H

2024 2023

“E-F —E-=F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T R AREFT

Opening net assets as at 1 January R—A—BMFNEERE 141,853 144,731
Loss for the year FAER (12,206) (2,878)
Closing net assets FREEFE 129,647 141,853
Interest in the associate RE L AR R 51,859 56,741
Goodwill EES 40,078 334,675
Carrying value REE 91,937 391,416
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

19.

204

S _ETZ A=t —HILEE

HEZZ

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan
Yalaxiangbu (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continuea)

These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering the five-year period when
optimum market share is expected to be reached. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial estimates
covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of approximately
13.75% (2023: approximately 14.00%). The cash flows beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using a steady 2.0% (2023: 2.2%) growth
rate. In cases where the actual cash flows are less or more than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances which result in revision of future
cash flows estimation or discount rate, a material reversal or further
recognition of impairment may arise, which would be recognised in profit
or loss for the period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes
place.

Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in
Shannan Yalaxiangbu. The recoverable amount of the investment is
determined based on value-in-use calculations, which is higher than
fair value less disposal costs. Management assessed the recoverable
amount and recognised an impairment loss of RMB294,597,000 (2023:
RMB261,145,000). The main factors that led to the impairment is the
continuous weakness of market performance.
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19.

EREREARNKRE (&)

EERENAMBERME - LR
B (%)

HBEERBEN AR (F)
ZETERRTERNHEEEMREE
ETHRRABREIRENTSNEN
IFEHENPEREZEARERE
BH - BAAFHENRSRENE
bR RREE -

ZEERBERBRERFHE Y
Biba B H MRS KB A R H A
BEB RMI13.75% (T - =F : 4
14.00%) 58 - BBRFHB A S
RERE20% (ZTEZ=F:22%)
MEBTHRREEE MREERRER
BRI ARTES  KEARZEMN
BERHE L ERRRAEREM K
BRI REMER]  AIFJRE g B A E AR
Blekit — P HERNE  BEZEEZE
B — SRR BB PR -

EEEHRLUERNEMHRER
TREIT - KENTRESED
ERFREENGE (RRANE
BEREENAN)ET EEEFMG
ARKEBETERREBRARE
294,597,000 (ZE =5 : ARK
261,145,0007T) - BEURENFER
ERATMSRERERSS -



19.

20.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan

Yalaxiangbu (continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

19. EREHZEARNERE (@)

EERENAMBERME - LR

B (%)

5 TEABE R AN GEER

As at 31 December

The Group's share of profit

AEEEE R

The Group's share of total
comprehensive income

AEBERGEEERELR

Dividend received for the year

FRE WS

Aggregate carrying amount of the
Group's interests in these associates

AEERZSHE D RER

REAE

R+=ZA=+-H
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETT
3,120 4,275
3,120 4,275
2,940 -
399,078 398,898

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

20. ELBEEE B1E

ELEMBEERETEHARBODIT

0

As at 31 December

R+=—HB=+—8H
2024 2023
—E-mF —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET AREET T
Deferred tax assets EEHIEE 2,080 2,143
Deferred tax liabilities BEFRIEAE (5,176) (4,977)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-R=+-HIFE

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The balances of deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2024
were not offset because the deferred tax assets and liabilities related to
income taxes were levied by different taxation authorities. The movement
of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year is as follows:

20.

BERREE B #E)

WZE-_WMFE+-_A=+—8" EL
MEBEEERBELEHRIT KK THH
REZSELCHBEERBEEBRN
FrEM B TRBEEBARER - FRE
EHBEERBENEBNT

Net Other
impairment  Deferred Convertible  temporary
losses income bonds differences Total
HE Httr
BAFE ELhs TERRESZ THHEER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETn AR®Tn ARETR AR¥Tn AR%Tx
Deferred tax assets EEREEE
As at 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=F£-A—-H 2,757 1,541 - 272 4,570
Charged to profit or loss (Note 10) BEZME (ME10) (2,412) (63) - 48 (2,427)
As at 31 December 2023 and RZE-=F+-A=1+-8k
1 January 2024 —ZoME-A—H 345 1,478 - 320 2,143
Charged to profit or loss (Note 10) BEZMG (M10) - (63) - - (63)
As at 31 December 2024 RZE-NE+-A=1+-H 345 1,415 = 320 2,080
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE
As at 1 January 2023 RZE-=%-F—H - - (1,700) (5,229) (6,929)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10) A (MEH10) - - 1,341 623 1,964
Exchange alignment T - - (12) - (12)
As at 31 December 2023 and RZE-=F+-A=1+-8k
1 January 2024 ZE-NE-A-H - - (371) (4,606) (4,977)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss (Note 10) & A/ (B &) 82 (FizE10) - - 371 (570) (199
As at 31 December 2024 R-B-ME+=A=1+-8H - - - (5,176) (5,176)
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20.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024, certain subsidiaries’ future taxable income
would not be available against which their temporary losses could be
utilised and also the losses of those subsidiaries would not be offset
by the taxable income of other subsidiaries within the Group, as there
is no legally enforceable right to do so. As such, the Group did not
recognise deferred tax assets of approximately RMB88,509,000 (2023:
RMB39,007,000) in respect of losses amounting to approximately
RMB404,613,000 (2023: RMB160,655,000) that can be carried forward
against future taxable income. As at 31 December 2024, tax losses of
approximately RMB404,613,000 (2023: RMB160,655,000) will expire
after five year of assessment on the following dates to offset the future
taxable income:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20.

FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

EEBBEEE BE#)

RZB-_mME+—_A=+—-R &F
BT 88 2 ) A R 2R AR A R A i B A o
BEREEE MZEMNBRARNE
BT HRASEEMHBARMNER

BMBAEE AL TEBERMN
BIER RBIAITREN - HAKE Y E

FATHBERRERTBRANEBRLA
R 404,613,000 (ZE=Z=F: A
R #160,655,00070) RELEHBE
E#H AR88,509,0000 (Z T ==
F: AR#39,007,0000T) c R - &
ZHFE+ZRA=+—8 EERKE
AU L AR 404,613,0007T (=

E-=%F: AR¥160,655,0007T) K
BEEESNAETHFEFEREOT
B ER -

As at 31 December

R+=B=+—H

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFTT

Expiring in KA F & i
-2024 _7_@¢ = 6,142
-2025 “E-RF 45,576 45,576
-2026 ——E-RF 11,540 11,540
-2027 e 40,188 40,188
-2028 —-—E-NF 57,209 57,209
-2029 —-—E-NF 250,100 -
404,613 160,655

Deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB43,658,000 (2023:
RMB97,867,000) had not been recognised for the withholding tax that
would be payable on the distributable retained profits amounting to
approximately RMB1,166,043,000 (2023: RMB1,685,143,000) of the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries. The Group has no intention to distribute
these retained earnings out from the PRC subsidiaries in the foreseeable
future.

/NS e kel = NET T
RE B AREN,166,043,000 7T
(ZZZ=%: AR 1,685,143,000
T ENENHERECHEREDN
AR ¥ 43,658,000 (T - =4 :
AR ®97,867,0007C) ° A% B I~
TEEAR KR BB F R
DIKZERERBF o

BERAERERAT | 82024 207



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-R=+-HIFE

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES

21.

FE K & 5 R

As at 31 December

Rt=ZRA=+-H
2024 2023
=t SLEE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBETT

Trade receivables JEUE 53 221,819 265,320
Less: allowance for ECL B BEEEEE RS (87,475) (83,422)
134,344 181,898

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s trade receivables due
from third parties were all denominated in RMB and HKD. The credit
period is generally 90 to 180 days. The aging analysis of trade receivables
based on invoice dates is as follows:

RZE_WNFEFRZFTZ=F+ZA
=t+—H FAEERKE=FTNESH
FTHUARERB LA E - FEH—
MABIVEIBOKR - ERNEFHENE
SEBFHREITOT

As at 31 December

R+t=ZA=+-8H
2024 2023
—E-E T
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETT

Within 6 months 618 AR 76,642 95,281
Over 6 months but within 1 year BiB6EABETNEEF 14,928 22,400
Over 1 year but within 2 years BB1FETBB2F 53,352 41,765
Over 2 years BiE2F 76,897 105,874

221,819 265,320
Less: allowance for ECL B BEEEEE RS (87,475) (83,422)

134,344 181,898

Information about the impairment assessment of trade receivables and
the Group's exposure to credit risk can be found in Note 5.1(b).
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LOAN RECEIVABLES

The carrying amount of loan receivables from money lending business of
the Group was as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22.

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HEZZ-WET_A=T-HILFE

FEWE R

AEBEMEXRB 2B FERER
T

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-H
2024 2023
a2 —EB-=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBFT
Loan receivable arising from money MEEBES 2 ERER
lending business 1,879 76,726
Less: allowance for ECL B EREEEBRRE (41) (1,357)
1,838 75,369

As at 31 December 2024, loan receivables are unsecured, interest-bearing
at fixed rate 8% per annum (2023:7%—-8% per annum).

The maturity profile of the loan receivables, net of allowance for ECL, if
any, at the end of the reporting period, analysed by the remaining period
to its contracted maturity, is as follows:

RZE-_WNFF+_A=+—H " EK
L,ﬁﬂﬁﬁ RETEHNEZFS%
(ZB==F FFENTF7%-8%) T8 °

FUER (BHNGKESREEBRER
(B REERR BB RRE
ANEHMBZRAHRBRITOT -

As at 31 December

W+=—A=+-H
2024 2023
“E-_F —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETTT
Within 1 year —FR 1,838 75,369

During the year ended 31 December 2024, reversal of allowance for ECL
of RMB1,316,000 was recognised in respect of loan receivables (2023:
allowance for ECL of RMB1,357,000).

Included in the carrying amount of loan receivables as at 31 December
2024 is the accumulated allowance for ECL. Details of the impairment
assessment are set out in note 5.1(b).

Subsequently up to the report date, all the loan receivables have been
subsequently settled upon due date.

REZE-_TZ-_NF+-_A=+—HL
FE REKEFERCEHREES
BREEER A ARE1,316,0007T (=
E-=F EHEEBBRREARE
1,357,0007T) ©

RZZ-ZME+-A=+—HHEK
EXRAERREHNEEEEN R
B - ARREGOFBERM T
5.1(b) °

RNE & E%‘ﬁﬁ%%gﬁﬁﬁﬁm
BIEHES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-R=+-HIFE

23.

210

PREPAYMENTS 23.

BANRE

As at 31 December

R+=ZA=t+—H
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%®T R ARETFT
Prepayments for purchase of raw BERME  REURME -
materials, services and properties, T 5 B 3% £ H) FE AN SRIE
plant and equipment 187,646 256,694
Less: Non-current portion — prepayment i : JERB D —BEWE
for purchase of properties, plant 7 K& @R TN I
and equipment (note) GES; - (4,756)
Current portion REH S 187,646 251,938

The carrying amounts of current and non-current prepayments are
denominated in the following currencies:

MEBRIFRB AN FKENRTEAT

DB EHE

As at 31 December

Rt+t=ZA=+-8H
2024 2023
—E-WEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET T
- RMB - AR 187,052 256,051
- HKD —BTT 501 551
- USD —E7T 93 92
187,646 256,694
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24. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24.

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

DBSREATTENEMEREE

As at 31 December

Rt+t=ZA=+-8H
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTIT
Amounts due from third parties (note (a)) f& U5 = 77 58 (3 (a) 1,005,945 959,979
Deposits e 312 534
Investment held to maturity (note (b)) ~ # & ZEHEKE (b)) 100,000 -
Others (note (c)) H At (FTE () 105,027 87,744
1,211,284 1,048,257
Less: allowance for ECL B BEEEEE RS (47,086) (41,292)
1,164,198 1,006,965

Notes:

As at 31 December 2024, the loans to third party companies with
outstanding principal amounting to approximately RMB1,005,945,000 (2023:
RMB959,979,000), which bore an annual interest rate of 2.8 to 6% (2023:
2.8 to 6%). Based on the contractual terms, the loans will be repaid before 31
December 2025. The Group does not hold any collateral over the loans.

During the year 31 December 2024, the Group has invested in some factoring
receivables for view of holding to earn interests. The investment has interest
yield of 6.28% per annum and the amount of the investments proceeds is
subsequently received after the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the balance mainly included the dividend receivables
and other receivables from Highland Natural Water of approximately
RMB38,372,000 (2023: RMB42,587,000); other tax recoverable of approximately
RMB1,663,000 (2023: RMB1,308,000) and advance to staff of approximately
RMB463,800 (2023: RMB27,400).

Information about the impairment assessment of other financial assets at

amortised cost and the Group's exposure to credit risk can be found in
Note 5.1(b).

R-EBE-_WNF+-_A=+—H " &2t
FEZFRBARBERASESBENAA
R #1,005,945,000 T (-2 - =4 :
AR #959,979,0007T) 2 B+ FF
RE286% (T -=F:286%)-°
BEANKR ZEXSR-_Z=A
F+-_A=Z+—HHEE - KREBAL
ARZEERFETMIKAR -

HE-Z-_ME+-A=+—HLF
E - AEEREREEKFIE X
BHURRF S - ZIENF 8k
EEEF628% BEROEREEZE-Z
“NFE+-A=+—HLFERERE
WEIREFMBHRIE -

R-ZTE-_NFE+-_A=1+—H &%
TERRERERARKRERE M
JE U FRIE 49 A R #638,372,000 T (=
T =F: AR%¥42,587,0007T) :
H b m] B 715 49 A R 61,663,000
T(ZZEZ=F: AR®1,308,0007T)
REMEIZFTHARKAL63,8007T
(ZF=Z=%F: AR¥27,4007T) °

BRANBRKAGENEMEREE
KR ER & R A REEERRAER
BRERNMES.1()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-R=+-HIFE

24. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of other financial assets at amortised cost are
denominated in the following currencies:

24. DBSRATTENEMESRMEE (&)

NEHBAAGTENE LS REENR
EEN T E%EHE :

As at 31 December

R+=ZBA=+—H
2024 2023
“E-_E —E-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFT
- RMB - AR¥ 1,137,767 991,832
- HKD — BT 26,431 15,133
1,164,198 1,006,965

25. INVENTORIES 25. FE
As at 31 December

R+ZBA=+—H
2024 2023
—E-NE B =F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFTT
Raw materials MR 42,878 99,770
Finished goods — at cost B — 1R AR 20,075 14,222
Work in progress ER 9,189 4,738
72,142 118,730

The cost of inventories which was recognised as an expense and was
included in “cost of sales” amounted to approximately RMB121,987,000
(2023: RMB177,915,000) for the year ended 31 December 2024,
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26.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

26. BERBEZEEY

As at 31 December

R+=—BA=+-—H
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETE
Cash on hand FHEES 129 142
Cash at bank RITFER 111,361 10,506
Restricted bank deposits X R HIEITFER 10,277 11,110
121,767 21,758
As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+—8
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREFR  ARETR
Denominated in: TEE
- RMB - AR¥ 47,517 19,267
- USD £ 33 988
- HKD -8B 74,210 1,494
— Others —HAftp 7 9
121,767 21,758
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HECZ

26.

27.

214

METZA=T-ALFR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounting to approximately RMB47,355,000 (2023: RMB20,186,000)
were held in the financial institutions located in the mainland of PRC.
The remaining balances of approximately RMB74,283,000 (2023:
RMB1,572,000) were held in major financial institutions located in the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies
and the remittance of the foreign currencies out of the mainland of PRC
are subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.

The Group earns interests on cash at bank at floating bank deposit rates,
which range from 0.1% to 0.3% per annum for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: range from 0.2% to 2.20% per annum).

As at 31 December 2024, bank deposits of approximately RMB10,277,000
(2023: RMB11,110,000) are restricted mainly as guarantee for payments
of bank acceptances.

TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES

26.

27.

REeRBLEEBWE)
RZE-_NFEF+-A=+—H K
SENRERBELEBYHARE

47,355,000 (ZZE==F : AR
#20,186,0007T) A 7F H B K FE A9
CRUBREE HBEBOARE
74,283,000t (ZE-—=F : ARK
1,572,0007T) B3 & 78 Fr Al 1T & BY K
HERBEERE -

UARBTHENGHR LB AINEAR

BONER P BEIRRERE L - AE T E
B R A AR RASNE B IR B S AR -

REBIRF B RITE A KL RT

BeREME BE_Z-_MF+=
AZ+—HIEE BHEENENT
01%F03% (ZE-_=F : FF X

NF02%%E2.20%) °

RZBEZWNFEF+ZA=+—H XR
HIR 1T A AR % 10,277,000 7T
(Z2==%: AE%H1momn)
FEEABRTEALEZNMTER

EREZRKRENRE

As at 31 December

W+=A=+-8
2024 2023
—E-NME —TC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBFT
Trade payables e 8 55 27,906 42,840
Notes payables ENEE S 102,770 111,100
130,676 153,940

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2024



27. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis of trade payables
based on invoice dates is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27.

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

BNEZRRENRE#E)
R_B-_NER-_F_=%5+-A
=T-R ERERAUNENES
TEERE DT

As at 31 December

R+=-—HB=+-—H
2024 2023
—E-_F “T=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET R AREFT
Within 3 months 3fEA A 7,467 18,834
Over 3 months but within 6 months BiB3MEA BT HEE6EA 2,154 6,588
Over 6 months but within 1 year BiB6EAETBEF 4,133 3,400
Over 1 year but within 2 years BB FETHRB2F 7,791 5,071
Over 2 years Bi@2F 6,361 8,947
27,906 42,840

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s trade payables were all
denominated in RMB and were not interest bearing.

The credit period on trade payables is generally within 90 days.

As at 31 December 2024, the bank acceptance notes amounting
to approximately RMB102,770,000 (2023: RMB111,100,000) were
guaranteed by bank deposits of approximately RMB10,277,000 (2023:
RMB11,110,000).

According to the agreement of bank acceptance notes, maturity date
of notes payables is based on the following schedule: RMB102,770,000
on 20 January 2025 (2023: RMB111,110,000 on 8 February 2024).
The amount of RMB102,770,000 (2023: RMB111,110,000) was repaid
subsequently to the end of the reporting period.

RZZE-_NER=ZZ=-_=F+=H
=t+—H FXEENELE ST
ARBEE WEFFE -
ERNESFNEEHR-—MRNIOKRZA -
RZZE-_WFE+ZA=+—H &%
B AR¥102,770,000 L (T ==
F: AR 111,100,0007T) W R 1T
AEAEZERHA/AR®10,277,0007T
(ZZ==%: AK®11,110,0007T)
HRITERER -

BESTALEZRE BENEE
Mgl BAsRmT - R_2F
THE-A-THISBHNREAA
R #102,770,000T (Z T - =& :

RZZE-_NF=-ANBEBEFRE

AAR®111,110,0007T) - AR
102,770,000 L (ZE =% : AR®
111,110,000 7T) M & R M EHA R
BEERE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-R=+-HIFE

28. DEFERRED REVENUE 28. EELEWA

As at 31 December

Rt=ZRA=+-H
2024 2023
=t SLEE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBETT

Non-current FRE

Government grant I 46 B 7,752 9,019

Current B

Government grant U 46 B 1,267 2,374

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's deferred revenue was all RZEBE-_NFR-_ZE-_=F+=-A

denominated in RMB. =t—H  AEERETRAZ I
ARBGHE -

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water and Tiandi Green, the indirectly wholly ARRIEEZEWE A R AR KB

subsidiaries of the Company were granted and received subsidies from FOK R R 4% € 39 1 N U B B 3

the local government to compensate its efforts to increase its production B ERBEBFRNBERER

capacity in the past years. BT EFEBY

During the year ended 31 December 2024, amount of approximately BE_Z_MF+_A=+—RBL#F

RMB2,374,000 was credited to consolidated statement of profit or loss B HARKE?2374000C (ZF ==

(2023: RMB2,374,000) (Note 8). F: AR#2,374,0007T) Bt AR A

Bk (M8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. AEAE

As at 31 December

R+=R=+—8H
2024 2023
i 2 —T-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR¥ETFTT
Prepaid cards BAFR _ _
Advance from customers SELESE ] 123,002 17,061
123,002 17,061
As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to approximately N-E-=F—F—H AF&EY
RMB34,784,000. A AR 34,784,0007T °
Contract liabilities arise from the prepaid cards and advance payments ARBERAENRERMAEHRE
made by customers while the goods are yet to be provided. mEREELNEMNRE -
The prepaid cards and advance from customers of the Group are non- ENREAERFEREEZES A
refundable. RIE o
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised relates to TERITAREBERMARELERES
carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates to performance FAEEEENERE  UWERBEHRE
obligations that were satisfied in prior periods. ERTHEBNESETEBNESE -
Advance
Prepaid from
cards customers
AN+ FHAREFNE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T AR®T R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ—ZE_-_NFE+-A=+—HILLEE

Revenue recognised that was included — F#15H A& R B EHE#RH 2 BRKA

in the contract liability balance at the

beginning of the year - 17,061
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ—ZE_=F+-A=+—HLEFE
Revenue recognised that was included — F#15F A& R B EHA#RH 2 BRKA

in the contract liability balance at the

beginning of the year 179 34,605
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s contract liabilities were R-E-_NER S -—=F+_"A
all denominated in RMB. =t+—B FAEENESRABHENUA

RAHHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

30.

218

E_MF+—A=+-AILFE

HZ-%

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

30.

AREARAEMENR

As at 31 December

W+=BA=+-H
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBF T
Salary and welfare payables FET Bl & K 48 7 25,940 21,563
Payables for value added tax and JERIZER R EMBHIE
other taxes 6,139 7,371
Accrued operating expenses HRRKEER 895 3,751
Payables for purchase of equipment BERBRMNXKE 3,238 5,979
Professional service fee payable ENEERBKE 7,062 7,678
Amounts received from a third party ME=FWENRFIE 23,690 37,070
Deposits from customers RPE® 228 328
Borrowings from third parties (note a) = FE K (Hsa) 45,177 8,796
Advance receipts from convertible bonds 78 Ut 7] #2 % (& % 2 B A ZUR
subscribers (note b) (Mi3ED) 85,609 -
Others HA, 19,462 68,326
217,440 160,862
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30.

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

note a: The balances include the following items:

- The borrowings from a third party company with outstanding principal
amounting to approximately RMB 9,062,000 and accrued in interest of RMB
48,000. The loan bore an annual interest at 8% and was fully settled in February
2024.

- The borrowings from third party companies with outstanding principals
amounting to approximately RMB6,343,000 and RMB24,539,000 respectively
(2023: RMB1,787,000) and accrued interest of RMB135,000 and RMB815,000
respectively (2023: RMB518,000). The loans bore an annual interest at 6% and
were fully settled in January 2025.

- The loans from Mr. Wang Peter Jian, with outstanding principal amounting to
approximately RMB357,000 and accrued interest of approximately RMB6,000.
The loans bore an annual interest at 6% and were fully settled in January 2025.

note b:
- Partial balances of RMB 85,330,900 have been received in advance from bonds

subscribers related to the proposed issue of 8% HK$165,000,000 Convertible
Bonds (Due 2025) before the completion.

The carrying amounts of the accruals and other payables are denominated
in the following currencies:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HEZZ-WET_A=T-HILFE

30 BREARHMESRE)
Miita: BHEEUTER

- RE-HEZFRAERZKREBR
4 M ARK9,062,0007T & JE it
B ARE48,0007T © ZERE =
B8 MER T _ME- 24

B e

- XKAFZHRRAEFZAEELLS
BRI ARKG6,343,000T kAR
#24,539,000L (T2 -=F: AR
#1,787,000 ) REFFI BN BIAR
Mwmmﬁ&AEMmmme_
T-=fF: AR¥518,0007T) - %5
“hiﬁﬁﬁe%&aﬁf?fﬁi
H Bru/ﬁ°

- XAEIBAENBRZREELRSS
B AR357,0007T M ERTFIBA
ARM6,000 - ZEERFHNEA
6%&55/\77735& Hiﬂﬁrlﬁl/ﬁo

fiEth

— B %E17165,000,000 TR - F
TRHFEHH 8% AR ESFRNTK
HBEBREFREARBZIDEHBA
R #85,330,900 7T °

BREALEMEMNZOETENT
F|EHEEHE -

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—8H
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARETT

- RMB - AR 70,431 86,094
- HKD — BT 146,959 74,675
) -E7 50 93

217,440 160,862
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HEZZ-WET-A=t—HILEE

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

31.

RITRHEAER

As at 31 December

BW+=A=+-8
2024 2023
—E-E e 2
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR TR AR®FT
Non-current FRE
Long-term borrowing from a bank RHHRTER-BRSE
— Guaranteed and pledged (note j) HR (P &) = 54,000
Long-term borrowing from a bank REAFITER-FRE RER
- Guaranteed and pledged (note k) (k) 32,000 -
Current B
Short-term borrowing from a bank RERITER—ARERER
- Guaranteed and pledged (note a) GET) - 94,500
Short-term borrowing from a bank REHEISRITIE R —
— Guaranteed and pledged (note b) BRERER (FIED) - 90,000
Short-term borrowing from a bank RERITER—ARERER
- Guaranteed and pledged (note ¢) (Mo - 60,000
Short-term borrowing from a bank REHEISRITIE R —
- Guaranteed and pledged (note d) BRERER (FIE) - 80,000
Short-term borrowing from a bank RERITER—ARERER
- Guaranteed and pledged (note e) (H¥3xe) 52,000 -
Short-term borrowing from a bank RERITER—ARE RER
— Guaranteed and pledged (note f) (BEES) 50,000 -
Short-term borrowing from a bank RERITER - ARERER
- Guaranteed and pledged (note g) (fzEg) 48,000 -
Short-term borrowing from a bank RERITER - ARE RER
- Guaranteed and pledged (note h) (BER) 95,000 -
Short-term borrowing from a bank RERITER—ARE (D)
- Guaranteed (note i) 40,000 -
Current portion of a long-term borrowing K HISRITE KA RB D —
from a bank-Guaranteed and secured BIRE LB ()
(note j) 73,000 48,000
Current portion of a long-term borrowing K HIER/TE FHHREN LD —
from a bank — Guaranteed and pledged ~ ARE MK (M k)
(note k) 4,000 -
Other borrowings (note ) H A fa K (D) 216,057 -
578,057 372,500
Total borrowings B AR 610,057 426,500

220
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31.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

All bank borrowings were denominated in RMB and HKD as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Notes:

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB94,500,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2023, and guaranteed
by a subsidiary of the Group and was secured by the pledge of 20%
Shannan Yalaxiangbu's equity interests. The loan is at fixed interest rate of
1.45% per annum. According to the loan agreement, borrowing amount of
RMB94,500,000 was fully settled in 2024.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB90,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2023, and guaranteed
by the Company and a third party and was secured by the pledge of 35% of
a subsidiary’s equity interest, 7% of an associate’s equity interests and the
Group's land use right. The interest rate was based on the directive interest
rate announced by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central Subbranch, which
was at fixed interest rate 3.45%. According to the loan agreement, borrowing
amount of RMB90,000,000 was fully settled in 2024.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB60,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2023, and guaranteed
by the Company and a third party and was secured by the pledge of 35% of
a subsidiary’s equity interests, 7% of an associate's equity interests and the
Group's land use right. The interest rate was based on the directive interest
rate announced by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central Subbranch, which
was at fixed interest rate 3.45%. According to the loan agreement, borrowing
amount of RMB60,000,000 was fully settled in 2024.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB80,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2023, was secured by
the land use right of a third party. The interest rate was based on the directive
interest rate announced by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central Subbranch
minus 2%, which was at fixed interest rate 1.65%. According to the loan
agreement, borrowing amount of RMB80,000,000 was fully settled in 2024.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_ZS-WE+-A=+-ALFE
BITREMMER E
RZE-_WFR-_E-_ZF+=A
=t—HB FARTEFHEUNARE
K AETTETE
B &E
(@) FEE2BHARE,500,0007T

WEZRARBE-_S-_=+=-A
Zt+—BLFEFES mAEE—
MK B A RRERE WAL
BME20% BIEEDHE - ZER E@l
TEMNERAB145% - BEETHZ
%ﬁé%AE%%ﬁmpmnam:

Pﬂﬁzéug /H"

by KREZELTHAR90,000,0007T
MEFRARBEZE-_Z=-=F+=1
=+ Hti&%ﬂé CARARE K
—HE-FRBRE VAW
B A)35% Ry Bk AE —FW%"
7% G R R AR B ) £ i (55 A
G MEENFEARBITRESR
DEITAMMIERFE - BEEF X
3.45% - BEBEERHZE EREHEA
F#90,000,000LER T -MF2
Bn/ﬁ"

(0 KEELBHAREE60,000,0005T
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NERARBE-T_=F1+_A#

=+ Htirg%ﬁ%%'m$ﬂaﬂ&
—HE-FRERE VAW
B2 A)35% Y Bk AE —FW%"

7% 8 BAE R AN B R0 L3 R 1E
ER - MEERPEARBITHNES
O XAT AR RAE - R E E &
345% REBERBHE  BEREEA
R 60,000,000 LER T -_MF %

uB n/ﬁ °

KEZSEHARES0,000,00075T
MiERARBEE-_SE-_=6+_-A
Zt-HLFEFES N—RE=
FR L AEEER - FIKERH
BARBANERLIITAMKER
FEF2%ET  BETEHE1.65% °
RESEFRGZE ERSBEARE
80,000,000 CE R ZTEZMF 24

s
/B °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-ME+-A=+-BIEE

31.

222

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(e)

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB52,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2024, and guaranteed
by the Company and a third party and was secured by the pledge of 35% of
a subsidiary’s equity interest, 7% of an associate’s equity interests and the
Group's land use right. The interest rate was based on the directive interest
rate announced by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central Subbranch, which
was at fixed interest rate 3.35%. According to the loan agreement, borrowing
amount of RMB52,000,000 is required to be repaid on 24 September 2025.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB50,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2024, and guaranteed
by the Company and a third party and was secured by the pledge of 35% of
a subsidiary’s equity interest, 7% of an associate’s equity interests and the
Group's land use right. The interest rate was based on the directive interest
rate announced by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central Subbranch, which
was at fixed interest rate 3.35%. According to the loan agreement, borrowing
amount of RMB50,000,000 is required to be repaid on 25 September 2025.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB48,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2024, and guaranteed
by the Company and a third party and was secured by the pledge of 35% of
a subsidiary’s equity interest, 7% of an associate’s equity interests and the
Group's land use right. The interest rate was based on the directive interest
rate announced by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central Subbranch, which
was at fixed interest rate 3.35%. According to the loan agreement, borrowing
amount of RMB48,000,000 is required to be repaid on 25 September 2025.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB95,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2024, and guaranteed by a
subsidiary of the Group and was secured by the pledge of 25% of an associate’s
equity interests. The loan is at fixed interest rate of 1.35% per annum.
According to the loan agreement, borrowing amount of RMB95,000,000 is
required to be repaid on 9 October 2025.
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KEESBHARYS2,000,0007T
MEZXARNEE-_Z_ME+_A
“+-BULEFEHES BEAAR
—ZREZHRERE WA —FIN
BARI%HEE . —HEEQF
7% B R AE T AR 2 B R o {5 AR A
B MEENFEARBITRESR
DEITAMMIERFE - BEE R X
335% c RIEEXRME BREBEA
R¥52,000,000 AR =_ZE-HFN
A-t+mBAEE-

KEESBHARS0,000,0007T
MEZARNEE-_Z_ME+_A
“+-BULEFEHES BEAAR
—ZREZHRERE WA —FIH
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7% B R AE T A2 B R o AR A
G MEERNFEARBITRESR
DEITAMMIERFE - BEE R X
335% c RIEEXRME BREBEA
R¥50,000,000 LZAR=ZE-RHFN
A-+HBEE-

KEESBHAR48,000,0007T
MEZARNEE-_Z_ME+_A
“+-BULEFEHES BEAAR
—BREZHRERE WA —FI
BARIC%HEE . —HEEQF
7% B R AE T AR 2 B Y o AR A
G M EERNFEARBITRESR
DEITAMMIERFE - BEE R X
335% c RIEEXME BREBEA
R ¥ 48,000,000 AR -_ZE-RF N
A-+HBEE-

KEESBHAR95,000,0007T
MEZARNEE-_Z_ME+_A
“+-—BULFEHES mEEE—
B A RRMIRE W —
NEIM25% RIEEE T - B AEE
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31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(U]

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB40,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2024, was guaranteed by a
third party. The interest rate was based on the directive interest rate announced
by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central Subbranch minus 2%, which was
at fixed interest rate 1.45%. According to the loan agreement, borrowing
amount of RMB40,000,000 is required to be repaid on 8 July 2025.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB102,000,000 was
obtained during the year ended 31 December 2023, and guaranteed by a
subsidiary of the Group and secured by the Group's factory plant and land use
rights. The interest rate was based on LPR announced by the People’'s Bank
of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch by adding 0.4%, of which 2.0% interest
is charged in advance, which will be refunded when the relevant authority
in the Chinese Central government refund the interest allowances to the
lender. According to the loan agreement, borrowing amount of approximately
RMB73,000,000 are required to be repaid on 22 May 2025.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB36,000,000 was
obtained during the year ended 31 December 2024, secured by the Group's
production lines and guaranteed by a third party. The interest rate was based
on LPR announced by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch
by adding 0.4%, of which 2.0% interest is charged in advance, which will
be refunded when the relevant authority in the Chinese Central government
refund the interest allowances to the lender. According to the loan agreement,
borrowing amount of approximately RMB2,000,000, RMB2,000,000 and
RMB32,000,000 are required to be repaid on 21 June 2025, 21 December
2025 and 19 March 2026 respectively. Accordingly, borrowing amount of
RMB4,000,000 was recorded as current liability and amount of approximately
RMB32,000,000 was recorded as non-current liability as at 31 December 2024.

Other borrowings comprise of loan principals of approximately HKD 154,024,000
(RMB approximately at 142,627,000) and HKD79,298,000 (RMB approximately
at 73,430,000) from third party companies as at 31 December 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HECZ

31.

32.

224

METZA=T-ALFR

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 31, SRITRHEMERE
As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group's bank RZE-_WNFEFRZT=Z=F+=A
borrowings were repayable as follows: —T—B AEERTERNERS
NN
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+-H
2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=fF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ETR AREFT
Within 1 year 1FR 578,057 372,500
Between 1 year and 2 years 1229 32,000 54,000
610,057 426,500
CONVERTIBLE BOND - LIABILITY COMPONENT 32. TRERESF-BEDS

The Company issued 5% convertible bonds with principal amount of
HKD379,620,000 (equivalent to RMB317,702,000) (“2021 Convertible
Bonds”) at a total consideration of HKD379,620,000 (equivalent
to RMB317,702,000) in March 2021. The Convertible Bonds are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, unsecured and with interest
calculated semi-annually. The bonds entitle the holders to convert them
into ordinary shares of the Company at any time between the date of
issue of the bonds and the maturity date in March 2024 at a conversion
price of HKD0.74 per share (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments). The
bonds can be early redeemed upon certain events at the option of
the bondholders or the issuer. If the bonds have not been converted
or redeemed, they will be redeemed in March 2024 at par value plus
accrued interest.

At initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component was
estimated at the issuance date using an equivalent market interest rate
for a similar bond without a conversion option. The residual amount is
assigned as the equity component and is presented in equity heading
“other reserve”. The early redemption option is considered as closely
related to the host debt. The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 7.69%.
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32.

CONVERTIBLE BOND — LIABILITY COMPONENT (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Convertible Bonds with
the principal amount of HKD22,644,000 (equivalent to RMB19,026,000)
was converted into 30,600,000 new shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HKDO0.74 per share.

In March 2024, a total aggregate of the principal and interest of
approximately HKD167,928,000 (equivalent to RMB152,411,000) have
been repaid and the remaining principal has been transferred into short-
term loan arrangements.

The Company issued new 10% convertible bonds with principal
amount of HKD90,000,000 (equivalent to RMB82,060,000) (the “New
Convertible Bonds”) in June 2024. The New Convertible Bonds are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, unsecured and with interest payable
in one lump sum upon maturity. The bonds entitle the holders to convert
them into ordinary shares of the Company at any time between the
date of issue of the bonds and the maturity date in September 2024
at a conversion price of HKD0.30 per share (subject to anti-dilutive
adjustments). The bonds can be early redeemed upon certain events at
the option of the bondholder or the issuer. If the bonds have not been
converted or redeemed, they will be redeemed in September 2024 at par
value plus accrued interest.

Upon maturity, the New Convertible Bonds have been converted into one
single loan at 10% per annum, repayable on or before 1 December 2025.

No New Convertible Bonds were converted during the year ended 31
December 2024.

The fair value of the liability component of 2021 Convertible Bonds at
31 December 2024 was nil, as at 31 December 2023, the amount was
RMB326,137,000, which is calculated using cash flows discounted at the
rate of 9.74% and was within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HECZ

32.

226

METZA=T-ALFR

CONVERTIBLE BOND — LIABILITY COMPONENT (CONTINUED)

On 5 March 2024, a 2021 Convertible Bonds holder has entered into
an agreement to convert the 2021 Convertible Bonds (Due 2024) into
short-term loan arrangement at an interest rate of 8% per annum, which
matured on 15 September 2024. Subsequently after the maturity date,
the loan has been extended, which will mature on 15 May 2025.

On 22 May 2024, another 2021 Convertible Bonds holder has entered
into an agreement to convert and split the 2021 Convertible Bonds (Due
2024) to short-term loan arrangements at an interest rate of 10% per
annum (Due 30 September 2024) and New Convertible Bonds with a
principal of HKD90,000,000 (Due 30 September 2024).

Subsequently after the maturity date, the loan and the outstanding
New Convertible Bonds were combined and converted into a single new
loan with a principal amount of approximately HKD151,700,000 (RMB
approximately 140,474,000), which will be due on December 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-%

“WETZA=TALEE

32.  CONVERTIBLE BOND - LIABILITY COMPONENT (CONTINUED) 32. BMREZ-8EHS @)
The 2021 Convertible Bonds and New Convertible Bonds have been split ZE-FARRESFRITTRRE
into the liability and equity components as follows: FEROKBBERERSS 0T
RMB'000
AR¥T R
Liability component at 1 January 2023 RZZE-_=F—A—HAWBEH? 308,696
Interest expenses MEEH 24,165
Interest paid/payable Bt/ ERFIE (16,035)
Exchange alignment BE R A 4,528
Liability component at 31 December 2023 and RZZEZ=F+-A=T—HK
1 January 2024 ZEME-A—HMHAEHD 321,354
Interest expenses FEEHMA 6,607
Interest paid/payable B/ ERFE (4,466)
Repayment of 2021 Convertible Bond's principal & == _*E—Hﬁﬂﬂ A RN (105,714)
Transfer to other borrowings BERHEMER (218,278)
Exchange alignment BEE 5, o8 B 497
Liability component as at 5 March 2024 R-ZB-NF=AREH(ZE=—-FAHRKRES
(2021 Convertible Bonds Maturity date) IMA)HNEEDS -
As at 19 June 2024 (Issuance date of New R-B-NEXA+IB (HUTRKRESETH)
Convertible Bonds)
Liability component at 19 June 2024 RZZEZMERATLANARNS 81,523
Interest expenses Al E%)ﬂ 2,877
Transfer to other borrowings BRHEMER (84,400)

Liability component as at 31 December 2024

R-E-_MNE+-_A=1+—HANEERD

ERKEFERAT | F8 2024
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33.

228

E_MF+—A=+-AILFE

HZ-%

SHARE CAPITAL 33. K&
Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number of value value of
ordinary  of ordinary ordinary
shares shares shares
ZREBER
EERYE ETEREE HE
(thousands) HKD’'000 RMB’000
(FR) TET AR%®TR
Ordinary shares of HKD0.01 BRO.0TBTHNERER
each, issued and fully paid CRITRAR
Balance as at 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=F—-H—-BA0&EH 3,059,391 30,594 25,580
Share issued upon completion of — FEAk % 18 % 17 #9 % 1
rights issue (Note (a)) (P 5 (a)) 1,019,797 10,198 8,808
Balance as at 31 December 2023 HRZZE-=%+-H=+—H
B4R 4,079,188 40,792 34,388
Share issued upon placing of foE iRt e B rTe R (M5 (b))
new shares (Note (b)) 500,000 5,000 4,541
Balance as at 31 December 2024 HRZ-ZT-_WF+-A=+—H
4 R 4,579,188 45,792 38,929
Notes: B3

(@) On 30 January 2023, a total of 1,019,797,000 new shares were successfully
allotted and issued at the subscription price of HKD0.385 per rights share.
Further details were set out in the Company’'s announcement dated 27 January

2023.

(b)  On 21 February 2024, the Company completed the placing of new shares under
general mandate. A total of 500,000,000 placing shares have been successfully
placed to not less than six placees at the placing price of HKD0.218 per placing
share. The use of net proceeds for this placing is for partial redemption of the
2021 Convertible Bonds and for general working capital of the Group. Further
details were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 21 February

2024.
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34.

SHARES HELD FOR SHARE AWARD SCHEME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRENE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HEZZ-WET_A=T-HILFE

4. RRGEEESENRG

Number of
Ordinary shares

(thousands)
LAaREA RMB'000
(FA) AREFT
Balance as at 1 January 2023, R=-Z2=-=%—-/F—-8"
31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 —E-=ft+=ZA=+-8"
and 31 December 2024 _g mE—-A—-BR
“REIMETZAZT-HNER 65,626 173,037

On 18 August 2017, the Group adopted a share award scheme for
purposes of (i) encouraging or facilitating the holding of Shares by the
Selected Participants; (ii) encouraging and retaining certain individuals
to work with the Group; and (iii) providing incentive for the Selected
Participants to achieve performance goals. Based on the rules of the
scheme, the Group may grant shares of the Company to eligible
participants in the future.

On 8 September 2017, the Group entered an agreement with the Trustee
to establish the Share Award Trust, where the Trustee may purchase
or subscribe ordinary shares of the Company on behalf of the Group
from the open market, based on the instructions of the Group. The
Share Award Trust is consolidated in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements as a special purpose entity.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, no share has been granted by the
Group to any parties under the above mentioned share award scheme.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-R=+-HIFE

35. OTHER RESERVES 35. Hftf#fE
Convertible
Statutory Currency bond
Capital surplus  translation equity
reserve reserve reserve  component Total
HE TRRES
X BROEE NBRERE Bada ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARBTR AR®TRT AR®TR AR®T:R
(note (i) (note (ii)) (note (i) (note (iv))
(K& () (REEG)  (W&EG) (&)
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-Z-=F-F-ANk4 32,847 185,498 (84,151) 17,917 152,111
Exchange differences on K ERBRAZIEH
translation from functional MELES
currency to presentation currency - - 13,802 - 13,802
Balance at 31 December 2023 WZE-=F+-A=+—-HK
and 1 January 2024 ZEIRE-A-BMER 32,847 185,498 (70,349) 17,917 165,913
Convertible bonds-equity HRES-ERHIER
component Transferred to bt
share premium - - - (17,917) (17,917)
Convertible bonds-equity MRRES-EaHs
component - - - 256 256
Convertible bonds-equity MRRES-ERHH
component - - - (256) (256)
Exchange differences on KN EERERZIEH
translation from functional MELES
currency to presentation currency - - 1,678 - 1,678
Balance at 31 December 2024 ~ M-Z-ME+=-A=+-H
B 32,847 185,498 (68,671) - 149,674
Notes: Bt 5%
iy  Capital reserve () EBXEE

Excess amounts contributed by shareholders on top of the share capital are
recorded as capital reserve. In addition, the reserve is used to record the
differences arisen as a result of transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in a loss of control, if any.
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35. OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Statutory surplus reserve

According to the provisions of the articles of association of the PRC subsidiaries,
the PRC subsidiaries shall first set aside 10% of its profit attributable to
owners after tax as indicated in their statutory financial statements for the
statutory surplus reserve (except where the reserve has reached 50% of the
entity’s registered share capital) each year. PRC subsidiaries may also make
appropriations from its profit attributable to shareholders to a discretionary
surplus reserve, provided it is approved by a resolution passed in a shareholders’
general meeting. These reserves cannot be used for purposes other than those
for which they are created and are not distributable as cash dividends without
the prior approval obtained from the shareholders in a shareholders’ general
meeting under specific circumstances.

When the statutory surplus reserve is not sufficient to make good for any losses
of the PRC subsidiaries from previous years, the current year profit attributable
to the owners shall be used to make good the losses before any allocations are
set aside for the statutory surplus reserve.

The statutory surplus reserve, the discretionary surplus reserve and the capital
reserve of the PRC subsidiaries may be converted into share capital of the PRC
subsidiaries provided it is approved by a resolution passed in a shareholders’
general meeting and meets other regulatory requirements with the provision
that the ending balance of the statutory surplus reserve does not fall below 25%
of the registered share capital amount. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
reserve of the PRC subsidiaries has reached 50% of the entity’s registered share
capital.

Currency translation reserve
Exchange differences arising from the difference between functional and
presentation currency are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the reserve.

Convertible bond-equity component

This represents the equity portion of the Convertible Bonds. The entity shall
transfer the part initially included in other reserve to share premium upon expiry.
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36.

232

S _ETZ A=t —HILEE

HZ-%

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

As referred to in note 8, on 1 April 2024, the Group disposed a
subsidiary (A —ZEZ % BB B R A A, at the time of the disposal of
its subsidiary, the net liabilities of the subsidiary being disposed were as

follows:

Analysis of the assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

36. HE—REHBELR

mi S R=ZZE—MFWA —
B A&BEHE—RHKBAR (E—
ETRXERERAA)  HRHEH
MEBARR HHEWNBARNERE
FENT -

RERBRNEERBEDT

2024
“ENF
RMB’000
AR¥T R
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,418
Other long-term assets HhREEE 60
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 24
Inventories FE 254
Prepayment and other receivables FE FRIE K U R IE 3,189
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 909
Lease liabilities MEAR (1,446)
Contract liabilities ERAE (855)
Tax payables FETE T8 (166)
Other payables H A B A 5UR (19,911)
Net liabilities disposed of BEHERERE (16,524)
Consideration received 2 KR E =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE-—BHNBARMNKE : 16,524
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEELENESREFE
Cash consideration RerE -
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of BoBHERSRASEEY (909)
(909)
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BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

SUBSIDIARIES 37. WELRE
The following is a list of significant principal subsidiaries of the Group as R-_E-_WNER-_T-_=F+_A
at 31 December 2024 and 2023: =t—H AEEERTEZEMBAA
MEEMT -
Place of incorporation and
business/date
of incorporation/
Company name type of legal entities Issued/paid-in capital Effective interest held  Principal activities
ARRIREELY/
AIER HMRIAS/ EEEREY BRfT/BARA BB R I%E9
Indirectly held: 2024 2023 2024 2023
BESE: ZBIpE “BCZF ZBCpE TR
Tibet Glacier Mineral Industry PRC/1 January 2004/ UsD16,000,000 USD16,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Development Co., Ltd* Limited liability company
BRKIIBRKESER wE/-FEME-A-R/ 1600000057 16,000,000%7 REZR
BRAF ERAF
Tibet Glacier Mineral PRC/31 October 2005/ RMB118,000,000  RMB118,000,000 100% 100% Water products manufacturing
Water Co., Ltd. Limited liability company and sales and leasing
BRI BRKBRAT HE/ZF3RETA=T-R/ AEH ARH Rt HERERKER
ERAT 118,000,000 70 118,000,000 T
Beijing 5100 Management PRC/13 July 2007/ RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Water products market
Consulting Co., Ltd. Limited liability company operation and management
FRE-ETEREAARLA 4B/ ZERLELATZR/ AE®  AE#1,0000007 KERTAEERER
ERAH 1,000,000 70
Tibet Glacier Mineral Water PRC/21 April 2010/ RMB3,000,000 RMB3,000,000 100% 100% Water products marketing,
Marketing Co., Ltd. Limited liability company promotion, distribution and
retailing
BRABROKERERAR  TE/-F-TEMA-t-B/ AR®  AR%3,0000007 BH BE SHR
ERAH 3,000,000 SEKER
Tibet Tiandi Green Beverage PRC/28 April 2009/ RMB200,000,000  RMB200,000,000 100% 100%  Beer manufacturing and sales
Development Co., Ltd. Limited liability company
ERAMSERRERERDE  FE/-FEAFRAZTNB/ AEH ARE BELEREE
ERAF 200,000,000 7 200,000,007
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37. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

37.

i) NCIRE )

Place of incorporation and
business/date
of incorporation/

234

ZAt-B/BRA7

* The subsidiary has changed its name from Tibet Zhongji Jiahua Industry Co., Ltd
to Tibet Glacier Mineral Water Industry Development Co., Ltd. on 14 September

2023.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Company name type of legal entities Issued/paid-in capital Effective interest held  Principal activities
HMRIREELY/

AAER HMHLAS/ teBRER BRfT/BARE BB AR IEER

Indirectly held: 2024 2023 2024 2023

BERA: S R = e S

Wealth Keeper Limited Hong Kong/30 October 2012/ HKD1 HKD1 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited liability company

Wealth Keeper Limited Bk/-F-"5th=tR/ 187 18T REBR
ERAR

Tibet 5100 Water Resources Hong Kong/6 September 2013/ HKD100 HKD100 100% 100%  Investment holding

(HK) Limited Limited liability company

BESI0KER(BR)ERAA F8/-F-=HAARA/ 10087 10087 REER
ERAT

Hong Kong Fairly Well Hong Kong/23 May 2016/ HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Lending service

Capital Limited Limited liability company

BANEERERAA BE/_F-7FRAZTZR/ 1% 1AL HERB
ERAF

Center Faithful Limited Hong Kong/2 January 2019/ HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited liability company

hAEERERRA B%/-F-hE-R=R/ 187 1AL RELRK
ERAH

Tibet 5100 Water Resources Ltd.  British Virgin Islands/19 January 2006/ usD1,000 UsD1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited liability company

BRESI00KERERAR AERAEE/“FTNF 100047 1,000%7 REER
—ATNB/BRAHE

Carry Rich Investment Limited Hong Kong/11 February 2019/ HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Investment holding and food
Limited liability company importer and food distributor

FENRERRAT BE/ZT-0E 187 1AL REBR  RmEREH

R H#AE

* ZHBARMEBER_Z_=5NA
THEMAERFREFEXERER
RARAARKINESKEXERA
BRAE e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HEZZ-WET_A=T-HILFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 38. ZRERESHNEMIA
The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEBEFAETISRIA

As at 31 December

R+=—HA=+—8
2024 2023
—EC-MEF —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARETTT

Financial assets cREE
Financial assets at amortised cost NEHRNAGFENEREE
~ Trade receivables —ERE SR 134,344 181,898
~ Loan receivables -~ ER 1,838 75,369
— Other financial assets at amortised cost ~ —AB K AT ENE M S F
BE 1,164,198 1,006,965
- Cash and cash equivalents -RekBHeEED 121,767 21,758
1,422,147 1,285,990
Financial liabilities cHas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost NERK AT ENSREBE
- Trade and notes payables —-ERNE SR LENERE 130,676 153,940
— Accruals and other payables —TERERA R HEMEMNZ 211,301 153,491
- Bank and other borrowings — R REMBER 610,057 426,500
— Lease liabilities ~-HEaE 950 2,182
~ Convertible bonds -liability component RRES-aETEs = 321,354
952,984 1,057,467
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GEMBRRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HEZZ-WET-A=t—HILEE

39. NET DEBT RECONCILIATION

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net

debt for each of the periods presented.

39.

BRFEYHR

REHINEHFENDMRE 258
RIEHFEOEE -

Year ended 31 December

BEt-RA=t—-HLEE

2024 2023

—E-MmE —T_=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T R ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 26) RekBeEEY (HMiE26) 121,767 21,758
Borrowings — repayable ER—AR—FREE (ME31)

within one year (Note 31) (578,057) (372,500)
Borrowings — repayable after AR — AR —FRER (HFE31)

one year (Note 31) (32,000) (54,000)

Borrowings from third parties (Note 30) FEZHER(MFE30) (45,177) (8,796)

Convertible bonds - liability component Ak EH - B EH D = (321,354)

Lease liabilities (Note 15) HEaE(ME15) (950) (2,182)

Net debt X R (534,417) (737,074)

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from
financing activities. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those

for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from

financing activities.
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39. NET DEBT RECONCILIATION (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

39. ERFEEKRE)

Bank Borrowings
and other from Convertible Lease
borrowings third parties bonds liabilities Total
BITR
HitfeR F=FfER TRRES HEAE o H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR%TR AR%Trn AR%TR AR%Tx
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-Z-=%—A—H
& 5% (452,000) (4,857) (308,696) (788) (766,341)
New lease entered AR - - - (2,732) (2,732)
Cash flows Bers 25,500 (3,788) - 1,449 23,161
Foreign exchange adjustments [ % 3% - (104) (4,528) (8) (4,640)
Other non-cash movements & ~ HA3ER & HE
operating activities BEEHHERD
cash movements - (47) (8,130) (103) (8,280)
Balance at 31 December 2023 M=-F-=ZF+=-f
and 1 January 2024 s pd = B Gt i3
—A—BEmEH (426,500) (8,796) (321,354) (2,182) (758,832)
New lease entered HET AL - - - (1,374) (1,374)
Financing Cash flows REBERE 44,099 (21,935) 105,714 1,237 129,115
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHRBRA - - - 1,446 1,446
Foreign exchange adjustments & i 5% (3,056) (704) (632) (9) (4,401)
Other non-cash movements &  H3ERERE R
operating activities BEEHHRLRY
cash movements (224,600) (13,742) 216,272 (68) (22,138)
Balance at 31 December 2024 R=ZE-M%E+ =4
=t-BW&ER (610,057) (45,177) - (950)  (656,184)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-ME+-A=+-BIEE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY

(@) Statement of financial position

40. FARBRHBRRRE B

(@) MBMRE

As at 31 December

R+=-—HA=+-—H
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREFT
Non-current asset FRBEE
Interest in subsidiaries iNUlE=PNG Eok - 1,801,478 1,846,270
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMBREEEY 68,474 97
Prepayment and other receivables FE FRIE K H U R IB 5,488 642
Total current assets REBEEASE 73,962 739
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H {th fE 111 3K 108,063 63,202
Other borrowings H A3 216,057 -
Convertible bonds - liability component Al EH - B EHH - 321,354
Total current liabilities hREBEEAE 324,120 384,556
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (250,158) (383,817)
Total assets less current liabilities EE#ABERRBAR 1,551,320 1,462,453
Non-current liabilities *RBEE
Deferred tax liabilities REHIEEE = 371
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEAE = 371
Net assets BEEZE 1,551,320 1,462,082
Capital and reserves xR E
Share capital [N 38,929 34,388
Reserves B 1,512,391 1,427,694
Total equity ERAH 1,551,320 1,462,082
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HBE-Z-NWE+-A=+—-RALEE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE 40. ARTRFBRRKRKHEE)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(@) Statement of financial position (continued) (@) BBMREE)
Note: Movement in the Company’s reserves Bt : AARIGEEES
Shares held
for share
Share award Other  Accumulated
premium scheme reserves losses Total
RRGRE
RGEE FESEORG Hit RitER @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET TR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZZZ=F-A—BN&H 1,407,029 (173,037) 109,156 (234,938) 1,108,210
Loss for the year FREE - - - (39,598) (39,598)
Exchange differences on translation ~ FM&EEREE A2 §E
from functional currency to MERZSE
presentation currency . - 32,524 - 32,524
Total comprehensive loss 2EEREE - - 32,524 (39,598) (7,074)
Share issued upon completion of TR R B BT R R
rights issue 330,300 - - - 330,300
Transaction costs attributable TREREENZHHA
upon completion of right issues (3,742) - - - (3,742)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=§+ZRA=+-H
and 1 January 2024 RZZE-ME—-HA—-H
ME% 1,733,587 (173,037) 141,680 (274,536) 1,427,694
Loss for the year FNEE - = = (40,478) (40,478)
Exchange differences on translation ~ ML EBRE B2 EH
from functional currency to MERESR
presentation currency - - 33,248 - 33,248
Total comprehensive loss 2HEREE - - 33,248 (40,478) (7,230)
Convertible bond-equity components Al kB4~ EXHHEE
transfer to share premium (Note 32)  FR{7i&(E (Fif5£32) 17,917 - (17,917) - -
Share issued upon placing of EEMROEETNRG
new shares 94,464 - - - 94,464
Transaction costs attributable REHRRDEEHTHRA
to placing of new shares (2,793) - - - (2,793)
Convertible bond - equity components 7] ;&% — &5
(Note 32) (F3E32) = - 256 - 256
Convertible bond - equity components 7] # ;&% — % E 5
(Note 32) (MizE32) 256 - (256) - -
Balance at 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+=-A=+-H
ko33 1,843,431 (173,037) 157,011 (315,014) 1,512,391
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-R=+-HIFE

EEEARER

ESRIETHAEMS
BEESRIBTHABRBEC
T_MNET-_A=+—HILHF
EREHMEIIMT :

41. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 41.

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a)
The remuneration of each Director and the chief executive for the
year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

240
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Salary Employer's
allowances, contribution
and benefits Discretionary  to benefit
Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
54 EEHEK ExmER
Name #E kA BENER BisTA STEMH @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR®Tn AR%Trn AR%Trn AR%Tn
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yan Qingjiang (note i) Eh-pe A - - - - -
Mr. Chow Wai Kit (note iii) R A5 A (B atiin) - 1,506 121 16 1,643
Mr. Cheng Gwan Sing BHREE - 2,301 4 16 2,321
Mr. Yue Zhigiang (note i) SR () = 1,506 = = 1,506
Non-executive Directors FYTES
Ms. Jiang Xiaohong ZBEIZ L 909 - - - 909
Mr. Xie Kun ML - - = = =
Mr. Wei Zheming REREE - - - - -
Independent Non-executive =~ BUFHITEES
Directors
Mr. Lo Wai Hung ERELE 546 - - - 546
Ms. Lin Ting MERT 137 - - - 137
Dr. Zhang Chunlong REEEL 2,392 - - 16 2,408
Co-Chief Executive Officers ~ BETHAR
Mr. Wang Dong THRES = 1,582 - 16 1,598
Mr. Du Hui (note iv) HEBLE (M) - 411 - - 411
3,984 7,306 125 64 11,479




41.

(a

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 41. EBFEFRER (E)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued) (@) EBRTIETBAEMEE)
The remuneration of each Director and the chief executive for the EEERFETHABHEEC
year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below: E-=F+-_A=+—HIF
BRI EBEZ mT
Salary Employer's
allowances, contribution
and benefits  Discretionary to benefit
Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
e RER EXmEH
Name #% ik EMEF B &AL S B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTR ARBTRT AR%TR
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yan Qingjiang (note i) BB & (M) - 835 16 9 860
Mr. Chow Wai Kit (note iii) R A5 A (B atiin) - 1,482 119 16 1617
Mr. Cheng Gwan Sing BHREE - 2,255 45 16 2,316
Mr. Yue Zhigiang (note ii) EER LA () - 661 - - 661
Non-executive Directors FYTES
Ms. Jiang Xiaohong FBUZ L 895 - - - 895
Mr. Xie Kun HELE - - - - -
Mr. Wei Zheming REREE - - - - -
Independent Non-executive =~ BYFHITEES
Directors
Mr. Lo Wai Hung ERERE 537 - - - 537
Ms. Lin Ting MELT 135 - - - 135
Dr. Zhang Chunlong REEEL 2,354 - - 16 2,370
Chief Executive Officer THAR
Mr. Wang Dong THRES - 1,514 - 16 1,530
3,921 6,747 180 73 10,921
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
ZMETZA=T—HIEEE

HECZ

41.

242

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(a

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)
Notes:

(i) Mr. Yan Qingjiang resigned as executive Director on 21 July 2023.

(i) Mr. Yue Zhigiang was appointed as an executive Director with effect
from 21 July 2023.

(i)~ The emolument of Mr. Chow Wai Kit shown above was the aggregate
amount of RMB246,000 (2023: RMB242,000) for his services as a
Director and RMB1,397,000 (2023: RMB1,375,000) for his services as a
Company Secretary.

(iv)  Mr. Du Hui was appointed as a co-chief executive officer with effect from
13 September 2024.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Group or the five highest paid employees
or senior managements as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the non-
director, highest paid employees and senior management waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023. There was no arrangement under which
a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals, including Directors, as an inducement to join the Group
or as compensation for loss of office other than those disclosed
above. In addition, during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, no directors waived any emoluments.
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41. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(@

(d)

(e)

V)

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no retirement benefits
operated by the Group were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to
or receivable by a director in respect of his services as a director or
other services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiaries (2023: nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no payments or benefits
in respect of termination of director’s services were paid or made,
directly or indirectly, to or receivable by a director; nor are any
payable (2023: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no consideration was
provided to or receivable by third parties for making available
director’s services (2023: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
(2023: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group's business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2023: nil).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-R=+-HIFE

42. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

4. AEHENFREE

(@) Capital commitments (a) BEERMAH
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, capital expenditures contracted RZE-_MFERZTZ=F
for but not yet incurred were as follows: +=-A=+—8 EBiHEH
AEEZERRAZWT -
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=+-HLEE
2024 2023
—E-MmEF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 10,093 14,293
(b) Contingent liabilities (b) HAREE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.
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43.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 43.

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control the other
party or exercise significant influence in making financial and operating
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to
common control.

(@) Transactions with related parties

REMBHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-WE+-_A=+-HI5E

BELIXS

B 5 R E R IR S — S H B
ﬁ‘k&%«'%/;% REMEATEMAL -
REGIEB IR @S -

@) REBINRZ

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLFE

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-Z=F
RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARET R AREFTT
Revenue RETHEEHMA
— Rental income from associates —REHBE QA MNHES WA 5,947 6,744
— Sales of raw materials and consumables — — [ & A 7] 85 & /K E @
used of water products to associates BT R R R FEM - 387
— Sales of water products to associates —HEKEMTHZ DA 16,819 10,955
— Sales of beer products to an associate —HERBERT —HEEAF 223 292
Purchase of raw materials and consumables A5 4 A )8 B [R5 ¥ R FEM
from associates 100,418 186,018
Financial guarantee for an associate — L DRI RER
(Note 5(c)(ii)) (B & 5(c)(ii)) 230,000 245,000
Above were the transactions between the Group and associates NEARAEERBEAR (BERR

including Highland Natural Water, Shannan Yalaxiangbu, Fudi
Packaging, Life Water Marketing and Green Tiandi Food Marketing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.. The transactions were based on agreed terms
among the parties involved.

RBK ILEHLEM  BinaE -

w2 KEHERER LR M EH (R
JNERAR) 2ANRS - ZERXH
DERBRBERI KT 1 E O IRTHETT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GEMBRRMNE

For the year

BE-T

43. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

ended 31 December 2024

METZA=T-ALFE

(b) Balances with related parties:

(@

246

3. BMERE(#E)

(b)

The balances with related parties are as follows:

SRR TS VAR -

BT AR T

Year ended 31 December

BE+-HA=1+—-HLEE
2024 2023
—E-NEF —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREFT
Prepayment CENES
— to associates —TEfEE QA 110,062 115,683
Trade receivables FE W E 53
— from associates — JEUCESE = 1 ) 386 75
Other financial assets at amortised cost NEHRKATENEMEREE
Amounts due from associates: JRE Ui Bl 1N R FR0E 11,349 16,300
Dividend receivables from an associate JE Ui B 5 A Tﬂx,%'\
(Note 24): (B3E24) : 38,372 42,587
49,721 58,887
Trade payable & 55
— 10 associates — DT 992 -
Contract liabilities cREE
— from associates —FEUEsE 2 N ) 68,901 -
Key management compensation © FEEBAEHM
The compensation paid/payable to key management is shown Bt/ EBREEEEAEMNR
below: 25T

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLEE
2024 2023
—EBC-ME —E-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Salaries and other short-term FehEMEHEEREF
employee benefits 11,479 10,921
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45.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 21 January 2025, the Company completed the issue of 8% convertible
bonds in the aggregate principal amount of HKD 165,000,000 (the “2025
Convertible Bonds I”). The Bonds bear interest on their outstanding
principal amount from and including the issue date and payable in one
lump sum on the maturity date or upon conversion in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the bonds. The bonds will be convertible into
shares at the initial conversion price of HKD0.33 (subject to adjustments
in the manner provided in the bonds documents), and will mature on
9 December 2025. Further details were set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 12 December 2024, 20 December 2024 and 21
January 2025 respectively.

On 18 March 2025, the Company completed another issue of 8%
convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of HKD 138,000,000
(the "2025 Convertible Bonds I1"). Interest for the first 3 months from
the issue date is payable in advance on the issue date. The remaining
interest is payable in one lump sum on the maturity date. The bonds will
be convertible into shares at the initial conversion price of HKD0.345
(subject to adjustments in the manner provided in the bonds documents),
and will mature on 1 December 2025. Further details were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 13 February 2025 and 18 March
2025 respectively.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board and
authorised for issue on 28 March 2025.
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DEFINITIONS
5

Glossary

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following

expressions shall have the following meanings:

#2021 Convertible Bonds”

#2025 Convertible Bonds 1"

“2025 Convertible Bonds 11"

“Allowance for “ECL" on
financial assets”

“Audit Committee”

“Board”

4

“Central Pension Scheme”

"CG Code”

“CGUs"

“China” or “PRC"

248

5% convertible bonds with principal
amount of HK$379,620,000 (equivalent to
RMB317,702,000);

8% convertible bonds with principal amount of
HK$165,000,000;

8% convertible bonds with principal amount of
HK$138,000,000;

Allowance for expected credit loss on financial

assets;

the audit committee of the Company;

the board of Directors;

a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal governments;

the Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules;

the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units);

the People’s Republic of China which, for the
purpose of this annual report, excludes Hong
Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region
of the People’s Republic of China and Taiwan;
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“CIp”

"CODM”

"Company”

“"Company Secretary”

"Conceptual Framework”

“Defined Contribution
Schemes”

“Director(s)"”

“Financial assets at “FVTPL""

“Financial assets at
“FVTOCI""

“Fudi Packaging”

"Group”

Construction-in-progress;

the chief operating decision maker;

Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (Fa 7k & 5 & R
A A]), a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 8 November 2010 as an exempted

company and the issued Shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange;

the company secretary of the Company;
the Conceptual Framework for Financial

Reporting issued by International Accounting
Standards Board in March 2018;

the MPF Scheme and the Central Pension
Scheme;

the director(s) of the Company;

Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss;

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income;

Tibet Fudi Natural Beverage Packaging Ltd.;

the Company and its subsidiaries;

[T

[EEEEREKE]

VNG

[REWE]

(S ER]

[E%]

[TARREEER
HEFHt AR
MEmEE]

[TAAREEER
HEHFAL LS
i e RE
E]

[fait B %]

[ S

BEEKERERAT | £ 2024

DEFINITIONS
AR

ERTR

TERERKE

AEKERERRA
Al —EARZE—
ZE+-ANBR
HEHETMMKL
ME#HRERA  H
BT N R
PrER BT

v

ARBRAIME

REEAEER
ER_T-N\F=
ABMHOMBERE

BSER

BEEERPR
RREETE

ARARIZES:
MWAREEFER
NarEETER

HEBHALBE
AU ERAE

75 8 48 3 K A R
BRERAEERA:

ARBREMER
Al

249



DEFINITIONS
EZ 4

“GT Express”

"“Highland Natural Water”

“HKD"

"HKICPA"

"HKSAs"

“HLB"

"Hong Kong Stock Exchange”

or "Stock Exchange”

"Hong Kong” or “"HKSAR”

“IASB"

“IASs”

“IFRS"

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Rules”

250

GT Express (Beijing) Information Technology
Co., Ltd.;

Tibet Highland Natural Water Limited;

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong

Kong;

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants;

Hong Kong Standards on Auditing;

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, Certified

Public Accountants;

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of

the People’s Republic of China;

International Accounting Standards Boards;

International Accounting Standards;
International Financial Reporting Standards;
23 April 2025, being the latest practicable date

prior to the printing of this annual report for
ascertaining certain information therein;

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange;
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“|PR"

“MPF Scheme”

“New Convertible Bonds”

“Nomination Committee”

"PPRE"

“PRC subsidiaries”

"

“Remuneration Committee

“Reporting Period”

"Risk Management

Committee”

“RMB”

“SFO”

“Shannan Yalaxiangbu”

“Share Award Trust”

“Share(s)”

Loan Prime Rate;

Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme;

10% convertible bonds with principal amount of
HK$90,000,000 (equivalent to RMB82,060,000);

the nomination committee of the Company;

Property, plant and equipment;

the Group's subsidiaries located in the PRC;

the remuneration committee of the Company;

the year ended 31 December 2024;

the risk management committee of the
Company;

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC;

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter

571 of the Laws of Hong Kong;

Tibet Shannan Yalaxiangbu Industrial Ltd.;

share award scheme trust;

ordinary share(s) of HKD0.01 each in the capital
of the Company;
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DEFINITIONS
EZ 4

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of Share(s);

"Tibet Life Water Marketing” Tibet Life Water Marketing Co., Ltd.;

“Trustee” Bank of Communications Trustee Ltd.;

“ysp” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the
United States;

“VAT" value-added tax;

"Water Cards Sales arrangement under which sales of water

Arrangement” products to certain distributors or end customers
are made in the form of water cards;
“%" per cent; and
S for identification purpose only.

References to time and dates in this Annual Report are to Hong Kong time and
dates.

* The English names of the PRC entities, PRC laws or regulations, and the PRC
governmental authorities referred to in this annual report are translations from their
Chinese names and are for identification purposes. If there is any inconsistency, the
Chinese names shall prevail.
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